

### UvA-DARE (Digital Academic Repository)

### Innovative methods for the mass production of brooding coral via sexual propagation

Linden, B.

Publication date 2021 Document Version Final published version

#### Link to publication

#### Citation for published version (APA):

Linden, B. (2021). *Innovative methods for the mass production of brooding coral via sexual propagation*. [Thesis, fully internal, Universiteit van Amsterdam].

#### General rights

It is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), other than for strictly personal, individual use, unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

#### **Disclaimer/Complaints regulations**

If you believe that digital publication of certain material infringes any of your rights or (privacy) interests, please let the Library know, stating your reasons. In case of a legitimate complaint, the Library will make the material inaccessible and/or remove it from the website. Please Ask the Library: https://uba.uva.nl/en/contact, or a letter to: Library of the University of Amsterdam, Secretariat, Singel 425, 1012 WP Amsterdam, The Netherlands. You will be contacted as soon as possible.

## Innovative methods for the mass production of brooding coral via sexual propagation

Bart Linden





Linden B. (2021) Innovative methods for the mass production of brooding coral via sexual propagation. PhD Thesis, University of Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 100 pages.

כת הביבאוניבו " הרם באית

The thesis was prepared through the department of Freshwater and Marine Ecology (FAME), Institute for Biodiversity and Ecosystem Dynamics (IBED) at the University of Amsterdam (UvA) in the Netherlands. The field work was carried out at the Israel Oceanographic and Limnological Research (IOLR) and Interuniversity Institute for Marine Sciences (IUI) in Israel. Funding for the research leading to this thesis was received through INCO-DEV project, REEFRES (no 510657), CORALZOO, a European Commission (EC) Collective Research project (no 012547), AID-CDR program (no C23-004), AID-MERC programme (no M33-001), the North American Friends of IOLR (NAF/IOLR), a grant from the Israeli Ministry of Infrastructure, the Israeli-French High Council of Scientific & Technological Research Program (Maïmonide-Israel), and by the partnership of NAF-IOLR with JNF-USA.

ISBN 978-94-93260-03-0 Design by B. Linden Cover photos by B. Linden Printed by 20-12-2021

# Innovative methods for the mass production of brooding coral via sexual propagation

ACADEMISCH PROEFSCHRIFT

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Universiteit van Amsterdam op gezag van de Rector Magnificus prof. dr. ir. K.I.J. Maex ten overstaan van een door het College voor Promoties ingestelde commissie, in het openbaar te verdedigen in de Agnietenkapel op maandag 20 december 2021, te 14:00 uur

> door Bart Linden geboren te Nairobi

Promotiecommissie

Promotor:	prof. dr. J. Huisman prof. dr. B. Rinkevich	Universiteit van Amsterdam University of Haifa
Co-promotor:	prof. dr. M.J.A. Vermeij	Universiteit van Amsterdam
Overige leden	prof. dr. N. Shashar prof. dr. N.J. de Voogd prof. dr. J.Z. Shamoun-Baranes prof. dr. W. Renema dr. R. Osinga dr. P.M. Visser dr. V. Schoepf	Ben-Gurion University of the Negev Universiteit Leiden Universiteit van Amsterdam Universiteit van Amsterdam Wageningen University & Research Universiteit van Amsterdam Universiteit van Amsterdam

Faculteit der Natuurwetenschappen, Wiskunde en Informatica

### Table of contents

Chapter 1	
Introduction	5
Chapter 2	
Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species	19
Chapter 3	
Creating stocks of young colonies from brooding-coral larvae, amenable to active reef restoration	31
Chapter 4	
Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies	45
Chapter 5	
The coral settlement box: A simple device to produce coral stock from brooded coral larvae entirely <i>in situ</i>	59
Chapter 6	
Synthesis and future directions	69
Summary	79
Samenvatting	83
Author contributions	87
Acknowledgements	89
References	91

Introduction

#### Introduction

Coral reefs cover less than 0.09% of the world's oceans (284,803 km<sup>2</sup>) but house approximately 25% of the world's marine fish species and provide protection, nesting, feeding grounds, etc. for up to an estimated 35% of all marine species (Spalding *et al.* 2001, Knowlton *et al.* 2010). In addition to their importance as highly biodiverse ecosystems (Fisher *et al.* 2015), coral reefs are highly valued for the direct and indirect "ecosystem services" they provide (Costanza *et al.* 2014). Such services include land and coastal settlement protection from erosion and storms, but also provide food, climate regulation, recreation and potential medicine discovery (Martínez *et al.* 2007, Cinner *et al.* 2009, Costanza *et al.* 2014, Spalding *et al.* 2017). An estimated half a billion people have some form of dependency on coral reefs (Wilkinson 2008).

Over the past few decades, coral reefs have been impacted by climate change and other anthropogenic pressures. The average coral cover in nearly all biogeographic regions where reefs are found has declined by 50-75% (Aronson *et al.* 2003, Gardner *et al.* 2003, Bruno *et al.* 2007, 2009, De'ath *et al.* 2012, Jackson *et al.* 2014). The increase of CO<sub>2</sub> concentration in the atmosphere and the subsequent warming of the oceans has contributed to an increased frequency and duration of bleaching events and reduced the likelihood of recovery afterwards (Hoegh-Guldberg *et al.* 2018, Hughes *et al.* 2019). Bleaching is the process where coral animal host expels the algae that it normally lives in symbiosis with. This results in a loss of colouring of the coral, revealing the white skeletal structure, thus making the coral look like it has been "bleached". Bleaching is usually caused by locally extreme temperatures and light irradiation, which can result in the death of the coral if extreme conditions persist (Glynn 1983, Brown 1997, Jones *et al.* 1998, Saxby *et al.* 2003, Moustafa *et al.* 2014). The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC; Bindoff *et al.* 2019) and the UN Environment (Rice & Grellier 2019) both consider coral bleaching as the greatest threat to the existence of coral reefs world-wide.

Besides bleaching, many other factors have impacted coral reefs, such as ocean acidification, declining water quality, increases in storm frequency and intensity, increased sedimentation, ship groundings, destructive fishing practices, and coral diseases, to name a few



**Figure 1** (A) High coral cover reef. (B) A degraded reef (Photographs and permission of use granted by: Katharina Fabricius, AIMS; Source: Knowlton (2012))

(Fig. 1; Hughes *et al*. 2003, 2019, Ayre & Hughes 2004, Bak *et al*. 2005, Donner *et al*. 2005, Hoegh-Guldberg *et al*. 2007, Rinkevich 2008, Riegl *et al*. 2009, Shaish *et al*. 2010, Bridge *et al*. 2013, Grizzle *et al*. 2016, Anthony *et al*. 2017, Rice & Grellier 2019).

Some of the above-mentioned factors that are impacting coral reefs can be managed through integrated forms of coastal management (e.g., pollution management, fishing regulations, water quality control, run off and waste management, fertilizer management and marina management; Waterhouse *et al.* 2017, Brodie *et al.* 2019), while others also require a shift in awareness (e.g., overfishing and littering; Sampaio 2010, Cinner *et al.* 2013). Factors that have a negative impact on coral reefs often exacerbate each other, for example when disease outbreaks prevent recovery after bleaching events (Bruno *et al.* 2007, Vega Thurber *et al.* 2014, Cinner *et al.* 2016, Boström-

Einarsson *et al.* 2018). The loss of hard corals (hermatypic corals) and the three-dimensional reef structures they build, will have a marked effect on the large number of organisms, including humans, that depend on them (Fig. 1; Knowlton 2012, Marhaver *et al.* 2013, Pratchett *et al.* 2014, Bruno *et al.* 2019).

One of the approaches to diminish the damaging effects of anthropogenic pressures, including climate change, on coral reefs is active reef restoration. **The aim of this thesis** is to contribute to the field of coral reef restoration by presenting new methods specifically for the mass production of a brooding coral via sexual propagation. This introductory chapter will provide the necessary background and context. Here I will highlight some of the complexities of coral reef restoration, mass production and explain why sexually reproduced corals might be a better choice for restoration than clonal reproduction via fragmentation, which is currently the favoured option. I will provide background information on the different types of sexual reproduction for comparison (brooding and broadcast spawning), how these are currently limited by natural bottlenecks and how they have the potential to provide large quantities of genetically diverse corals for restoration purposes. I will focus on a model coral species from the Red Sea, *Stylophora pistillata*, and will explain why this brooding coral species would be a good candidate to aid in coral reef restoration. Finally, I will present an outline of the thesis, beginning with our observations of the reproduction of *S. pistillata* and how I developed different methods to settle and rear the offspring both *ex situ* and *in situ*.

#### **Reef restoration**

Coral reef restoration is the process of assisting the recovery of degraded, damaged or destroyed coral reef communities in places where natural recovery is absent or too low to offset losses in coral abundance. Restoration can take many forms: it may directly or indirectly address factors that contribute to reef decline (e.g., overfishing, land-based forms of pollution); it may involve the protection of reef systems to facilitate recovery; or it may engage in activities that actively seek to facilitate recovery (e.g., outplanting of corals, removal of invasive species).

#### Non-invasive restoration

There are many managerial options to reduce/limit the human impact on coral reefs without any physical interaction with the coral reef. Non-invasive methods are sometimes also referred to as passive restoration practices or the traditional reef management approaches (Rinkevich 2021). An important tool to limit physical interaction with a coral reef is the designation of areas that are deemed important and require protection. Initial efforts to protect coral reefs - and associated ecosystems such as mangroves and seagrass beds – often consisted of creating Nature Reserves (NRs) or Marine Protected Areas (MPAs), where human influences can be regulated and enforced by law or society. Approximately 27% of the world's coral reefs receive some form of protection through an estimated 2,679 MPAs around the world (Burke et al. 2011). Many NRs or MPAs, however, lack effective enforcement and have no discernible effect, therefore, on undesirable human influences (Mora et al. 2006). Besides effective enforcement, the successfulness of an MPA is also determined by its size, the number of years it has been in effect and its degree of isolation (Edgar et al. 2014). MPAs serve an essential role in mitigating certain local anthropogenic factors such as overfishing and destructive anchoring, but many factors negatively impacting coral reefs, such as land-based forms of pollution and climate change, remain unaddressed. Like any other non-invasive method, they do not address the actual loss of corals on a coral reef, but rely on the system's natural regeneration capacity to bounce back from events impacting the coral reef. These non-invasive approaches are essential, but evidently insufficient to conserving coral

reefs, therefore many new methods are being developed. Many of these new methods actively intervene in the rehabilitation process; "active restoration" (Rinkevich 2019).

#### Active reef restoration

Active or assisted restoration are terms used to describe actions undertaken to physically interact with or alter an area for restoration purposes, such as removing damaging items (e.g., lost fishing nets) or re-introducing ecologically important species (e.g., corals as the main builders of complex reef habitats) that have decreased in abundance in an area. By doing so, active restoration efforts aim to halt or reverse the loss of local reef communities. Methods developed to this end are many and should be regarded as tools in a "toolbox" available to reef managers (Rinkevich 2019, 2021).

An increasingly popular method to actively restore degrading reef communities is the outplanting of corals. To restore reefs that have seen a significant reduction in the abundance of corals, it is particularly important to use hermatypic corals (i.e. those capable of reef building) in local restoration efforts (Dudgeon *et al.* 2010, Precht *et al.* 2010). To facilitate a relatively fast recovery of degraded reef communities, restoration efforts often prefer using fast-growing, branching corals from the Acroporidae and Pocilloporidae families, such as *Acropora palmata, Acropora tenuis, Acropora cervicornis, Pocillopora damicornis* and *Stylophora pistillata* (Rinkevich 2000, Guest *et al.* 2011, Omori & Iwao 2014, Chamberland *et al.* 2015). Slow growth rates are generally typical for massive coral species such as *Orbicella faveolata* and *Montastraea cavernosa* which are, therefore, less popular for restoration efforts. Important for these slow growing species is the development of the microfragmenting method, a technique whereby a large number of new corals can be produced by cutting existing corals into small "juveniles", has shown potential to increase growth rates under laboratory conditions and could eventually be used to speed up the recovery of massive coral species under natural circumstances (Page *et al.* 2018).

Besides fast growth rates, mass production of corals is essential for restoration because the areas that are in need of restoration are usually very large and, therefore, require many corals to be outplanted. Creating coral colonies for outplanting currently relies heavily on the pruning, or fragmenting, of natal coral colonies (donor colonies). Traditional propagation via the fragmentation of coral relies on fragment sizes between 3-20 cm (45 or more polyps) in size in order to ensure decent survival rates after outplanting (Raymundo & Maypa 2004, Okubo *et al.* 2007). The number of fragments surviving outplanting can be drastically increased by using an "abridged phase" in which the fragments are kept in *in situ* nurseries. The abridged phase is usually in the form of a nursery such as a coral tree or mid-water nursery (Shafir *et al.* 2006a, Nedimyer *et al.* 2011). Shafir *et al.* (2001) were able to successfully grow nubbins (~5 polyps/colony) with 60% survival after 100 days in an *in situ* coral nursery.

Besides the mass production of corals via fragmentation, corals for outplanting have more recently been produced by rearing sexually produced larvae (Petersen *et al.* 2006, Baums 2008, Nakamura *et al.* 2011, Omori & Iwao 2014, van Oppen *et al.* 2017, Chamberland *et al.* 2017, Omori 2019, Pen *et al.* 2020). Using sexually produced larvae as source material for the mass production of coral signifies an important departure from the common fragmentation practice, while avoiding several potential pitfalls, such as monoculture and damaging native corals when harvesting fragments (Epstein *et al.* 2001, Baums 2008, Shearer *et al.* 2009, Baums *et al.* 2019). The sexual propagation of coral, however, is much more complex (Harrison 2011) and was proposed as a long-term approach to coral restoration by Rinkevich (1995). It was also suggested as a means to accelerate genetic restoration, especially valuable for species that are experiencing long-term failure of natural recruitment (Baums *et al.* 2019). Chamberland *et al.* (2015) and Guest

*et al* (2014) have successfully implemented sexual propagation techniques to produce new coral colonies for outplanting purposes, although with very different *in situ* nursery survival rates.

#### **Sexual Reproduction**

There are various sexual reproductive strategies in corals (Table 1; Harrison, 2011): corals can be hermaphroditic, with male and female gametes being produced by the same colony, or gonochoric, with male and female gametes being produced by separate colonies. Most coral species are hermaphroditic (70.9%), while 26.2% of all coral species are gonochoric (Table 1). Furthermore, fertilization of gametes can occur either outside a coral colony in the water column ("spawning species") or internal ("brooding species"). These two modes of development are not mutually exclusive, and at least twelve coral species have been reported to display both modes (Harrison 2011, Schmidt-Roach *et al.* 2012). In the Indo-Pacific, the overwhelming majority of known corals (79.7%) reproduces via broadcast spawning, whereas in the Caribbean the proportions of brooding and spawning species are nearly identical (Szmant 1986, Richmond & Hunter 1990, Baird *et al.* 2009, Ritson-Williams *et al.* 2009).

The above defines the two extremes in a gradient of reproductive strategies known in corals. There are also species, for example, that release sperm while eggs remain inside the adult colony until they become fertilized, followed by the release of embryos rather than larvae as seen in brooding species (Bishop & Pemberton 2006, Marhaver *et al.* 2015). Another example of coral species that deviate from the above-mentioned main strategies are corals that produce male or female gametes in different sections of a colony, that is, species that are gonochoric at the polyp rather than the colony level (Harrison & Wallace 1990).

Sexual pattern $\rightarrow$	Hermaphroditic	Mixed strategy	Gonochoric	Unknown reproductive strategy	Total number of species
Mode of development $\downarrow$	-				
Spawn gametes	258	6	78	12	354
Spawn gametes and brood larvae	8	1	4	-	13
Brood larvae	25	5	15	16	61
Unknown mode of development	4	-	12	-	16
Total number of species	295	12	109	28	444

**Table 1** Summary of reproductive strategies for 444 out of an estimated 1,500 scleractinian speciesworldwide (Source: Harrison (2011); https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0114-4\_6)

#### **Broadcast Spawning Corals**

In general, broadcast spawning coral species release buoyant bundles containing eggs and sperm into the water column once or a few times per year, depending on species and geographical location (Harrison *et al.* 1984, Babcock *et al.* 1986, Nozawa *et al.* 2006, Van Woesik *et al.* 2006). At the surface, these bundles break apart temporarily resulting in slicks of gametes (Fig. 2). Fertilization occurs among gametes from different colonies resulting in embryos that develop into larvae ("planulae") within a few days and remain in the water column for days to weeks before

they settle on solid substrate (Fig. 3). Due to the extensive time spent in the water column during development, broadcast spawning coral species generally have a larger dispersal range than brooding coral species (Harrison & Wallace 1990, Nishikawa *et al.* 2003).

#### **Brooding corals**

The sexual propagation of brooding coral species occurs via the release, dispersal and uptake of free spermatozoa. Brooding coral species brood their embryos following fertilization and releasing larvae at an advanced stage with an abbreviated pelagic phase (Jackson 1986, Pemberton *et al.* 2003, Bishop & Pemberton 2006). In some



**Figure 2** Coral slick. Accumulation at the sea surface of the positively buoyant gametes released by broadcast spawning coral species. Water movement and currents mix and disperse these gametes and resulting larvae. (Source and permission of use granted by: James Gilmour, AIMS)

species, eggs can also develop into planulae without being fertilized, an asexual form of "brooding" that can be seen, for example, in *P. damicornis* (Harrison & Wallace 1990). Brooding species can release planulae on a daily basis for months or sometimes all year round, and they release free-swimming planulae that can start settling within a few hours after release.



**Figure 3** Three sequential phases that define successful recruitment in corals illustrated for brooding and broadcasting species; Larval availability, settlement ecology, and post-settlement ecology (Drawn by Mark Vermeij). (Source: Ritson-Williams *et al.* 2009)

#### Recruitment

Recruitment is defined by the successful inclusion of an individual into a population. This can sometimes be further defined using certain pre-requisites, such as size or the capacity to reproduce, which are common benchmarks used for coral offspring. Although each coral colony, regardless of sexual reproductive strategies, can produce hundreds to thousands of offspring every year, recruitment success is often low (Harriott & Fisk 1988, Gosselin & Qian 1997, Fabricius & Metzner 2004, Vermeij & Sandin 2008).

Recruitment has declined in recent decades due to major habitat altering disturbances some of which have become more frequent such as storms and cyclones, preventing recruitment and recovery between events (Bruno & Selig 2007, van Woesik *et al.* 2014, Tanner 2017). Larval recruitment has also decreased due to lower reproductive output as a consequence of reef degradation (Hartmann *et al.* 2018) and bleaching events (Hughes *et al.* 2019). Successful recruitment, therefore, is generally regarded as a major bottleneck for coral population survival and coral reef restoration. Although recruitment *in situ* has always been quite low (Hunt & Scheibling 1997), sexual reproductive strategies correspond to differences in pioneering aptitude. Brooding coral species are more likely to pioneer "new" areas than broadcast spawning coral species, though, when established, broadcast spawning coral species are competitively stronger than brooding corals when competing for space (Loya 1972, Grigg & Maragos 1974, Jaap 2000, Vermeij *et al.* 2007).

Rearing corals to attain what are normally considered recruitment benchmarks, such as size, is often relatively high under *ex situ* conditions (>20%), which contrasts with *in situ* conditions, where less than 1% of all larvae successfully settle and metamorphose into a juvenile coral (Gosselin & Qian 1997, Hunt & Scheibling 1997, Fabricius & Metzner 2004, Vermeij & Sandin 2008, Toh *et al.* 2012). Bypassing this "natural bottleneck" by rearing coral larvae under controlled *ex situ* conditions, therefore, can potentially produce the large number of coral colonies needed for restoration purposes on degraded sites. Rearing larvae and recently settled corals *ex situ* still requires labour-intensive maintenance to prevent infections by bacteria, maintain water quality, ensure optimal water temperature and minimize mechanical disturbance (Negri *et al.* 2001, Guest *et al.* 2010, Heyward & Negri 2010).

#### **Rearing Broadcast Spawning Corals**

Most methods that propagate corals via sexual reproduction have been developed for coral species that broadcast spawn (Hagedorn *et al.* 2009, Guest *et al.* 2010, Chamberland *et al.* 2015). This is not surprising as broadcast spawning is the most common reproductive strategy in corals (Table 1). Initial predictions of spawn timing for new coral species are usually based on examination of the egg development in sampled branches taken from the field (Baird *et al.* 2000). If the coral species was observed spawning during previous years, this information is used instead to predict future spawning events (Harrison *et al.* 1984, Babcock & Heyward 1986). To collect gametes, adult colonies are sometimes removed from the reef and kept in containers on shore



**Figure 4** (a) Individual coral colonies are isolated in plastic bins right before spawning. Following gamete release, egg/sperm bundles are collected from the water surface and (b) mixed with those from other colonies in clean plastic bins to allow fertilization. (c) One hour after observation of the first embryo cleavage, embryos are processed through three consecutive washing steps to remove excess sperm and decrease polyspermy. (d) At the 2- to 4-cell stage of development, embryos are transferred to aerated flow-through larval culture tanks. Once fully developed, larvae begin exhibiting settlement competency behaviour (i.e. substratum searching), and (e) ground crustose coralline algae are added to induce larval settlement. Following settlement onto the settlement substrate (e.g., terracotta tile), (f) Symbiodinium are added to rearing tanks to initiate symbiosis. (Source: Pollock et. al. (2017); DOI: https://10.7717/peerj.3732/fig-1)

where spawned gametes can be easily collected (Fig. 4; Joseph Pollock *et al.*, 2017), after which colonies are returned to the reef (Goreau *et al.* 1981, Golbuu & Richmond 2007, Baria *et al.* 2010, Puill-Stephan *et al.* 2012, Omori & Iwao 2014).

Other methods to collect gametes for *ex situ* rearing efforts include the *in situ* use of coverings made of fine mesh equipped with a removable collection container at its top in which floating gamete bundles tend to concentrate (Omori *et al.* 2004b). Gametes are usually mixed and reared under carefully controlled laboratory conditions, though rearing fertilized embryos, or even fertilizing gametes, also occurs in *in situ* floating ponds (Fig. 5; Heyward *et al.*, 2002; Omori *et al.*, 2004; Omori and Iwao, 2014). The use of an *in situ* pond, subject to wave action, naturally mixes the gametes and allows the fertilized eggs to develop under more natural conditions and avoids stress resulting from handling in a laboratory.

The *ex situ* rearing process requires several steps such as the mixing of the gametes followed by several washing and rinsing steps to remove excess sperm and minimize polyspermy of yet unfertilized eggs. Embryo washing is very delicate, minimizing agitation to avoid fragmenting early stage embryos (Hagedorn *et al.* 2009, Pollock *et al.* 2017). Guest *et al.* (2014) reported 1.4% of provided motile larvae successfully settled and survived after 1 month *ex situ*. Tabalanza *et al.* (2020), using the same technique as Guest *et al.* (2014), had about 4.2% successful settlement and survival after 1 month *ex situ*.

#### **Rearing Brooding Corals**

Many of the collection methods mentioned above are also used, in somewhat modified forms, for the collection of planulae from brooders. For example, planulae can be collected by placing adult brooding coral in containers, where, due to the less predictable nature of larval release compared

to spawning, released planulae can be collected overnight in submerged nets placed in the overflow of each container (Richmond 1985). The same is true for *in situ* collection where fine mesh attached to a container has been used to collect the positively buoyant planulae (Zakai *et al*. 2006).

Rearing offspring of brooding coral species generally requires less work than rearing offspring from broadcast spawning coral species. Brooding coral species release fully developed planulae that can settle within a few hours after release, thus do not require fertilisation, mixing and washing steps normally undertaken to produce broadcast spawning coral larvae (Fig. 4). Though brooding species produce small quantities of offspring at once, these can be consistently harvested for prolonged



**Figure 5** A schematic representation of a floating larval culture pond and reseeding system (Source: Heyward *et al.* 2002, © Inter-Research 2002)

periods of time, unlike broadcast spawning corals, whose window of opportunity for harvesting is limited to only once or a few times per year. These planulae harvested also are reported to settle readily in high numbers given appropriate conditions (Lewis 1974, Nishikawa *et al.* 2003).

Very few methods have been developed so far to use the offspring of brooding corals to mass produce coral colonies for restoration purposes, e.g. Epstein *et al.* (2001) succeeded in settling *S. pistillata* (85%) but the settlers had low *in situ* survival rates (5% after 1 month). Amar *et al.* (2008) reported *ex situ* survival rates between 54-85% after 1 year, depending on colony formation. To date, very little has been achieved with growing brooding coral species to a size where they could be considered eligible for recruitment to the population (Petersen *et al.* 2006, Barton *et al.* 2017).

#### The use of brooding coral species in reef restoration

The development of rearing methods to generate coral colonies from larvae in brooding species such as *S. pistillata* has been very limited (Epstein *et al.* 2001). One could argue, however, that brooding coral species could be extremely useful particularly in efforts to restore degraded reef communities, given that brooding coral species often have a prolonged reproductive season, allow for flexibility in the *in situ* collection schedule, have pioneering traits, are generally fast-growing species and can settle within hours after collection. The quick and highly efficient settlement of brooding coral planulae can be used to limit both time spent *ex situ* and costs associated with facilities needed to create colonies on a large scale. In this thesis, I have developed several methods and tools to efficiently collect, settle and rear the planulae of brooding coral species *Stylophora pistillata* in the Red Sea, near Eilat, Israel.

#### Stylophora pistillata in the Red Sea

Stylophora pistillata (Fig. 6; Esper, 1797) is a protandrous hermaphroditic brooding coral species: both male and female gametes can be found in adult colonies, but female gametes are absent in smaller colonies and can sometimes disappear from older colonies. Male gametes generally start developing during the winter months, while female gametes start to develop during the spring/summer (Rinkevich & Loya 1979a). This species in the Red Sea is characterized by a long reproductive season, spending from December to July-October each year (Rinkevich Figure 6 Stylophora pistillata. Photo by B. Linden & Loya 1979b, 1987, Shefy et al. 2018) Like in



many other brooding species, zooxanthellae are inherited from the parental colony and are clearly visible in released planulae (Fig. 7). Some hermaphroditic species can fertilize themselves, this has not been observed in S. pistillata (Douek et al. 2011). S. pistillata does not require specific chemical cues, such as CCA's, to induce settlement (Loya 1976, Rinkevich & Loya 1979b, Baird & Morse 2004, Amar et al. 2008).



Figure 7 A Stylophora pistillata planula. The zooxanthellae (yellow-brown spots) are clearly visible. Photo by B. Linden

S. pistillata is one of the most studied scleractinian coral species in the Red Sea. It is one of thirteen coral species that together make up the majority (60-70%) of the total living coral cover in the Gulf of Eilat, Israel (Shlesinger & Loya 1985). S. pistillata is common and widespread, occurring from the northern part of the Red Sea to the middle of the Pacific Ocean (Fig. 8).

Interestingly, S. pistillata displays intraspecific variation in its tolerance to

elevated seawater temperatures. In Australia, S. pistillata appears to be sensitive to high temperatures, while S. pistillata in the Red Sea is not (Hoegh-Guldberg & Smith 1989,

Keshavmurthy et al. 2013, Krueger et al. 2017). Extreme temperature conditions occur in the Southern Red Sea, with temperatures reaching up to 34°C, which could potentially act as an evolutionary driving force to explain

biogeographical differences in temperature sensitivity in this species. This is further supported by the observation



Figure 8 Global distribution of Stylophora pistillata. (Source: IUCN (2021) https://www.iucnredlist.org/)

that coral reefs in the Red Sea have so far not experienced large-scale bleaching events that have occurred in the Great Barrier Reef and the Caribbean (Furby *et al.* 2013, Monroe *et al.* 2018). In the Northern Red Sea, the area where the research presented in this thesis was conducted, seawater temperatures are more similar to conditions found elsewhere in the tropics where corals are found (21-27°C; winter-summer; Sawall and Al-Sofyani, 2015).

#### Aims and outline

The aim of this thesis is to contribute to the field of coral reef restoration by presenting new methods for the mass production of brooding corals via sexual propagation. Specifically, this thesis describes the methods I developed to generate coral colonies from larvae produced by the brooding coral species *Stylophora pistillata*. I first investigated the natural release, settlement behaviour and early development of planulae in a series of experiments and observational studies. Building on the already existing literature, our results and observations were combined to develop practical tools for creating coral stock using the larvae of brooding coral species. To achieve this, the primary focus was to efficiently reduce mortality during the phases that are identified as the bottlenecks during the earliest life stages of *S. pistillata*. These bottlenecks are identical in many marine organisms and mostly occur between the moment of planulae release to a few months after settlement (Gosselin & Qian 1997, Vermeij & Sandin 2008).

**Chapter 2** discusses the planulation of *S. pistillata* from the Gulf of Eilat, Red Sea. *Stylophora pistillata* is a hermaphroditic brooding species with a long reproductive season (December/January to July/September; Rinkevich & Loya 1979b, 1987, Amar *et al.* 2007, Shefy *et al.* 2018). While long-term shifts in sexual reproduction patterns, such as reproductive seasonality and reproductive efforts, were documented for *S. pistillata* populations from Eilat over the last four decades (Amar *et al.* 2007, Shefy *et al.* 2018), the possible association of larval release with lunar periodicity has remained a subject of debate. Several authors (Rinkevich & Loya 1979b, 1987, Tanner 1996, Shefy *et al.* 2018) could not find conclusive evidence for lunar periodicity in planulation, timing and quantity of released larvae from gravid *S. pistillata* colonies, whereas other studies (Atoda 1947, Fan *et al.* 2002, Zakai *et al.* 2006) reveal a correlation between larval release and lunar periodicity. Chapter 2 aims to build on these seemingly contradictive observations on circalunar periodicity in *S. pistillata* reproduction by studying planulae release in shallow water individual colonies from the Gulf of Eilat.

**Chapter 3** introduces a new method for settling and rearing coral spat of *S. pistillata*, which allows the efficient production of numerous sexually produced coral colonies. The use of sexually produced corals precludes the decrease of genetic variation and the potential harm inflicted on donor colonies to generate fragments. Previous efforts devoted to sexual propagation methods for corals have focussed on broadcast spawning coral species, so the novel *ex situ* techniques described in this thesis for the brooding species *S. pistillata* larvae, adds new "tools" that allows the inclusion of brooding species in the "toolbox" available to reef restoration practitioners.

**Chapter 4** addresses major maintenance issues associated with the rearing of sexually propagated nursery-farmed corals: can 1.5-month-old *ex situ* reared coral settlers be reared successfully in an *in situ* nursery? Will limiting physical access in the form of caging provide better survival rates than colonies that are left unprotected and exposed (Nozawa 2008, Baria *et al.* 2010, Nakamura *et al.* 2011)? How does the orientation of the colony in the water column affect survival and growth inside a mid-water nursery? Does colony aggregation affect survival and growth (Buss 1982, Rinkevich 2005b, Amar *et al.* 2008)?

**Chapter 5** describes the first tool specifically designed for collecting and rearing larvae of brooding coral species called the Coral Settlement Box (CSB). The CSB was developed to trap, settle and rear the larvae of the brooding species *S. pistillata* entirely *in situ*. Planulae were trapped and allowed to settle in the CSB on site, whereas the long-term rearing of settled colonies occurred in a midwater nursery. This method reduces the stress that is normally experienced by larvae and settlers when they are being handled in *ex situ* facilities.

**Chapter 6** integrates the main findings from the previous chapters. In addition, this chapter points at directions for future research to further develop and improve methods for creating coral stock based on the sexual propagation of coral species. Finally, I also outline general solutions to further reduce mortality during the known bottlenecks in the mass production of coral.

#### Acknowledgements:

I thank M. Vermeij, J. Huisman and B. Rinkevich for their contributions and advice. I also thank R. Stuve for editorial support.

## Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species

Bart Linden<sup>1,2</sup>

Jef Huisman<sup>2</sup>

Baruch Rinkevich<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Israel Oceanographic and Limnological Research, National Institute of Oceanography, TelShikmona, P.O. Box 8030, Haifa 31080, Israel.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Freshwater and Marine Ecology, Institute for Biodiversity and Ecosystem Dynamics (IBED), University of Amsterdam, P.O. Box 94248, 1090 GE, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

This chapter is published as: Linden B, Huisman J, Rinkevich B (2018) Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species. Sci. Rep. 8, 5668. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-23274-w

Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species

#### Abstract

Larval release by brooding corals is often assumed to display lunar periodicity. Here, we show that larval release of individual *Stylophora pistillata* colonies does not comply with the assumed entrainment by the lunar cycle, and can better be classified as a circatrigintan pattern. The colonies exhibited three distinct reproductive patterns, characterized by short intervals, long intervals and no periodicity between reproductive peaks, respectively. Cross correlation between the lunar cycle and larval release of the periodic colonies revealed an approximately 30-day periodicity with a variable lag of 5 to 10 days after full moon. The observed variability indicates that the lunar cycle does not provide a strict zeitgeber. Other factors such as water temperature and solar radiation did not correlate significantly with the larval release. The circatrigintan patterns displayed by *S. pistillata* supports the plasticity of corals and sheds new light on discussions on the fecundity of brooding coral species.

Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species

#### Introduction

Biological features and properties of coral gametes, embryos, planula larvae and coral recruitment are often considered important in addressing a myriad of ecological trajectories towards the resilience of coral reefs (Guest et al. 2010). Sexual reproduction in reef corals contributes to the genetic variance, population robustness and overall healthy growth of coral reefs (Harrison & Wallace 1990, Hughes et al. 1992, Horoszowski-Fridman et al. 2011). Sexual maturation, onset of reproduction, timing of spawning, biological clocks and other intrinsic traits are vital reproductive properties(Harrison 2011, Levitan et al. 2014, Hagedorn et al. 2016). In addition, sexual reproduction in reef corals is constrained by extrinsic factors such as location (Jokiel et al. 1985), food availability (Gori et al. 2013), competitive interactions (Rinkevich & Loya 1985, Tanner 1997), anthropogenic activities (Rinkevich & Loya 1979b), water temperature, solar radiation, tidal pressure (Harrison & Wallace 1990, Harrison 2011, Bauman et al. 2011, Torres-Pérez & Armstrong 2012, Paxton et al. 2016), and more. How the intrinsic and extrinsic factors determine the resultant reproductive patterns in coral colonies remains a subject of debate (Keith et al. 2016), but being able to accurately predict reproduction patterns of corals can be an invaluable tool for reef management and reef restoration (Jokiel et al. 1985, Harrison & Wallace 1990, Guest et al. 2005, 2010, Amar & Rinkevich 2007, Baums 2008, Sale 2008, Linden & Rinkevich 2011)

Circalunar periodicity is here defined as periodic behaviour with a ca. 29.5-day frequency (Linden & Rinkevich 2011) in which the lunar cycle acts as a zeitgeber. Circa 30-day cycles that are not influenced by the lunar phase and irradiance intensity are best characterised as circatrigintan (ca. 30-day periodicity (Halberg 1969)). Though there is no doubt about the circannual and circadian rhythm of sexual reproduction in most coral species, a convincing demonstration of lunar periodicity (Raible et al. 2017) in broadcasting, shedding or spawning of some corals remains elusive (Harrison & Wallace 1990, Fan Tung-Yung et al. 2006, Harrison 2011, Rinkevich et al. 2016). Populations of some brooding corals, such as *Pocillopora damicornis* (Jokiel et al. 1985), have demonstrated to have a circalunar reproductive pattern (~29.5 days) that is not necessarily correlated to lunar irradiance intensity. This result makes lunar irradiance an unlikely zeitgeber. In some brooding coral species (e.g., Stylophora pistillata (Shlesinger et al. 1998, Fan Tung-Yung et al. 2006, Gilmour et al. 2016)), planulae timing and releases are predicted to happen on a daily basis during certain months, revealing peaks and troughs in their reproductive intensity. These patterns are believed to be associated with environmental factors and constraints that are different from those dictating the germ line release documented in broadcasting species (Harrison & Wallace 1990, Tanner 1996, Harrison 2011). The determination of an exact spawning event for some broadcasting coral species, such as Acropora palmata in the Caribbean, is done with some degree of accuracy (Szmant 1986, Chamberland et al. 2016). This is also true for the synchronized mass spawning phenomenon of a consortium of >140 coral species in the Great Barrier Reef, Australia (Harrison et al. 1984, Babcock et al. 1986).

The common Indo-Pacific branching coral species *S. pistillata* from the Gulf of Eilat, Red Sea, is a hermaphroditic brooding species with a long reproductive season (December/January to July/September (Rinkevich & Loya 1979b, 1987, Amar *et al.* 2007)). While long-term shifts in sexual reproduction patterns, such as reproductive seasonality and reproductive efforts, were documented for *S. pistillata* populations from Eilat (Amar *et al.* 2007) in the last three decades, the possible association of lunar periodicity with larval release in this species has been the subject of some debate. Several authors (Rinkevich & Loya 1979b, 1987, Tanner 1996) could not find

Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species

conclusive evidence for lunar periodicity in planulation, timing and shed of larval numbers from gravid *S. pistillata* colonies, whereas other studies (Harrison *et al.* 1984, Babcock *et al.* 1986, Rinkevich & Loya 1987) claimed to reveal such lunar periodicity in larval release. This study investigates this deliberation of circalunar periodicity in *S. pistillata* reproduction as displayed by shallow water individual colonies from Eilat.

#### Methods

*S. pistillata* planulae were collected from a coral reef in the Gulf of Eilat, located in front of the Interuniversity Institute for Marine Sciences (IUI) in Eilat, at a depth of 3-5 metres from 1st of April to 24th of June 2011. Planulae traps were placed at nightfall covering the coral colonies and collected the following morning with their contents, as described (Tanner 1997). Eight large *S. pistillata* colonies (Fig. 1) were chosen haphazardly, situated no more than 20 metres apart.



**Figure 1** The eight gravid *Stylophora pistillata* colonies chosen for planulae collection. The colonies differed in size and colour, representing the morphological diversity of *S. pistillata* colonies at Eilat. A plastic ruler was used to estimate the diameter of each colony, with (**a-h**) representing colonies #1 to #8. The black scale bar in (**a**) indicates a length of 3 cm.

The collected nets were retrieved from the coral colonies and immediately transferred on land to a cool box on wheels with seawater. The traps were re-suspended to minimize the time exposed to air and desiccation, and transported to a wet lab situated nearby (less than 1 minute away). Each trap was rinsed separately with seawater, and the collected planulae were flushed from each trap to a separate glass container. The planulae were counted using a stereoscope and a pipette.

Auto-correlation (Lee *et al.* 1950) was applied to establish the presence of periodic patterns in larval production.

IUI data loggers collect data on site every 10 minutes and are readily available via a website (Meteorologic Services 2016). The data include water level (cm), water temperature (°C), UV irradiance (mmol m<sup>-2</sup> sec<sup>-1</sup>) and solar irradiance (W m<sup>-2</sup>). Tidal range was calculated as the difference between high tide and low tide, maximum daily solar and UV irradiance were obtained from the irradiance data, and lunar period was calculated as:

Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species

$$y = \cos(2\pi \times \frac{Days \ since \ last \ full \ moon}{\Delta full \ moon \ to \ full \ moon \ in \ days})$$

Cross-correlation was applied to investigate relationships between fluctuations in larval production and fluctuations in these environmental variables. Furthermore, we calculated daily solar insolation (kWh m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>), which was compared to peak reproduction timing. Images of the coral colonies were analysed using ImageJ software, and an ecological volume index was established for each colony, by approximating colonial structures to the shape of a half sphere (Rinkevich 2000). Graphs were created in Sigmaplot 12.5 and statistical analysis were performed with SPSS 21.

#### Results

Larvae were collected from eight colonies and counted per colony per day (during 48-59 nights per colony, over a total period of 84 days). In total, 16,586 planulae were collected during 427 sampling sessions (Table 1). The numbers of planulae released per colony per day varied greatly among the eight coral colonies (Fig. 1). Planula numbers varied between maximum peaks of 903 (colony #6) to 12 (colony #7) planulae caught on a single night from a specific colony (Fig. 2). The most gravid colony (#6) released on average 156.1 planulae per day (ranging from 5 to 903 on a collection night), whereas the least productive colony (#7) released on average 3.8 planulae per day (ranging from 0 to 12 on a collection night; Table 1). The average number of planulae collected per colony per day increased with colony volume (Pearson Correlation: r = 0.81; n = 8, p(1-tailed) = 0.007).

#### Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species



**Figure 2** Daily collections of planulae for each of the eight coral colonies (**a-h**) of *S. pistillata* during April-July. Peaks are indicated with light grey highlights and are defined by number of planulae collected being greater than or equal to 50% of the maximum number of planulae collected on a single day during the study of that particular colony (see Table 1).

Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species



**Figure 3** Auto-correlation analyses of planulae released from the eight *S. pistillata* colonies (**a-h**). Time lag was set at a maximum of 45 days. Each point in the graph represents the correlation coefficient of the data at time t+n compared to the data at time t, where n is the time lag in days. Coral colonies #1, 2, 5, 7 and 8 show a clear wave pattern, indicative of recurrence in released planulae behaviours. Trend lines were composed of damped sine waves and used to approximate period.

Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species

**Table 1** Reproductive effort of eight *S. pistillata* colonies (#1-8; see Fig. 1) during the reproductive season (April-June).

Coral #	Collectin g nights	Average planulae/day (±sd)	Colony volume (cm³)	Planulae total	Maximum planulae/day
1	59	53.7 (±43.3)	6744.4	3170	167
2	59	23.2 (±19.3)	6864.2	1361	84
3	58	13.6 (±13.6)	7790.4	789	87
4	57	33.3 (±45.8)	12649.1	1898	265
5	48	15.8 (±18.1)	4772.4	759	73
6	48	156.1 (±226.2)	17284.4	7493	903
7	50	3.8 (±2.9)	5595.2	189	12
8	48	19.3 (±18.3)	2300.7	927	76

Auto-correlation analysis revealed three distinct patterns of peak larval release (Fig. 3). The first pattern was exhibited by colonies (#1) and (#2), which had a short peak-to-peak period of approximately 27 and 25 days, respectively. The second pattern was exhibited by colonies (#5), (#7) and (#8), which had a long peak-to-peak period of 34, 33 and 35 days respectively. The third pattern was exhibited by colonies (#3), (#4) and (#6), which did not display any repetition of planulae releasing peaks during the April-June reproductive period (Fig. 3).

Coral fecundity was high during the studied reproductive season. In April, 98.2% of the 109 collected samples contained planulae larvae, a trend that was repeated in the following months (97.1% of the 175 samples and 96.5% of the 143 samples for May and June, respectively). Coral colonies #1 and #2 released greater numbers of planulae as the season progressed, whereas the other six *S. pistillata* colonies released lower numbers of planulae as the season progressed (Table 2).

 Table 2
 Average number of planulae released per colony per day during the reproductive season (April-June)

Correl #	Average planulae per day			
Corai #	April	May	June	
1	49.5	49.9	62.9	
2	18.5	25.8	24.9	
3	21.0	9.7	11.0	
4	70.2	21.6	12.7	
5	24.1	20.0	4.7	
6	351.3	184.1	16.5	
7	7.2	3.20	2.4	
8	30.4	23.1	6.8	

Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species



**Figure 4** Cross-correlation of larval release versus daily maximum solar irradiance (black triangles) and daily maximum UV irradiance (red circles), for each of the eight coral colonies (**a-h**). Time lag was set at a maximum of ±40 days. Each point in the graph represents the correlation coefficient between the number of planulae at time t and the solar (or UV) radiation at time t±n, where n is the time lag in days. No distinct pattern was found and no period could be established.

Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species



**Figure 5** Cross-correlation of larval release versus lunar period (red squares) and tidal range (black circles), for each of the eight coral colonies (**a-h**). Time lag was set at a maximum of ±40 days. Each point in the graph represents the correlation coefficient between the number of planulae at time t and the lunar period (or tidal range) at time t±n, where n is the time lag in days. Trend lines were composed of sine waves and used to approximate the periodicity of coral colonies that had repeating larval spawning peaks. Coral colonies #3, 4 and 6 did not show periodicity (see Fig. 3), and were therefore left out of the cross-correlation analyses.

Cross-correlation analysis revealed no tangible link between *S. pistillata* larval releases and daily maximum solar irradiance or UV irradiance (Fig. 4). Cross-correlation analysis of the 5 periodic colonies showed coherent oscillations of *S. pistillata* larval releases with the lunar period and tidal range, characterized by a variable periodicity of 27 to 33 days and a variable time lag of 5 to 10 days after full moon depending on the colony (Fig. 5).

#### Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species

In total, peaks in larval release were not related to water temperature or solar irradiance. They were loosely associated with the lunar cycle, but occurred during both neap and spring tide, and both before and after full moon (Fig. 6).



**Figure 6** Compilation of reproduction peaks and concomitant changes of tidal range (green line, solid), average water temperature (black line, solid), daily solar insolation (red line, solid) and full moon phases (black line, dashed). The light grey areas comprise the reproductive peaks of all eight *S. pistillata* colonies (see Fig. 2). Full moon occurred on the 18<sup>th</sup> of April, 17<sup>th</sup> of May, and 15<sup>th</sup> of June.

#### Discussion

Of the eight coral colonies sampled, five had consecutive peak larval releases during the sampling period; two coral colonies had a period of 25 and 27 days, while the other three coral colonies had periods of 33-35 days. This variation in the timing of planulae release does not support population-wide synchronization to a zeitgeber. Despite earlier suggestions that water temperature and UV or solar radiation might be potentially important environmental drivers of larval release periodicity (Harrison & Wallace 1990, Tanner 1996, Mercier *et al.* 2011, Brooke & Järnegren 2013, Keith *et al.* 2016), our results did not reveal such a relationship with these variables.

Cross-correlation analysis showed a relation between the reproductive patterns of the periodic coral colonies and the lunar cycle (~29.5 days) as well as between reproductive patterns of the periodic coral colonies and the spring-neap tidal cycle (as captured by the variation in tidal range). The periodicities of these cross-correlations varied from 27 to 33 days, with a time lag of 5 to 10 days depending on the colony, and none of the coral colonies actually showed a ~29.5-day periodicity in larval release. Consequently, peaks in larval release gradually shifted phase with respect to the lunar cycle, and occurred during both spring tide and neap tide, and both before and after full moon (Fig. 6).

It could be argued that *S. pistillata* is loosely circalunar, having approximately 29.5-day reproductive cycles when averaged over all periodic colonies, but the large lunar phase variation

Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species

(from full to new moon and spring to neap tide) of peak larval release (Fig. 6) implies that the entrainment with an external zeitgeber required for the presence of circalunar periodicity (Raible *et al.* 2017) is lacking. At the moment this ca. 30-day cycle would therefore be more aptly described with the term circatrigintan (Halberg 1969) and within that definition the reproductive cycle still shows large variation among the colonies (25-35-day periodicity).

The presence of some sort of free running endogenous clock, controlling the reproductive output of shallow water *S. pistillata* in the northern Red Sea, might be a vestige from earlier times when the lunar cycle did act as zeitgeber. The intense light pollution at night in Eilat (Tamir *et al.* 2017), potential impacts of global changes causing shifts in reproductive seasonality (Tanner 1997) or perhaps a low evolutionary need for entrainment with the lunar cycle in the Red Sea could be possible reasons why the reproductive cycle of this brooding species has been decoupled from the lunar cycle. This would also explain why some of the colonies do not have a pronounced periodicity in their reproductive output. The lack of a zeitgeber and the variation in circatrigintan patterns displayed by *S. pistillata* colonies sheds new light on the discussion on coral plasticity and fecundity, and the possible implications for other brooding coral species that have previously been thought to display lunar periodicity.

#### Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the CORALZOO, an EC Collective Research project (no. 012547) and the AID-MERC programme (no M33-001). The research fulfils part of the requirements for the doctoral degree of B. Linden at the University of Amsterdam (UvA), the Netherlands. We thank K.O. Amar, G.J.J. Linden, A. Linden van Ruiten, M. Klaiber, Y. Blumenfeld, I. Cohen, and G. Paz for their invaluable advice, support and assistance.

### Creating stocks of young colonies from brooding-coral larvae, amenable to active reef restoration

Bart Linden<sup>1,2</sup>

Baruch Rinkevich<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Israel Oceanographic and Limnological Research, National Institute of Oceanography, TelShikmona, P.O. Box 8030, Haifa 31080, Israel.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Freshwater and Marine Ecology, Institute for Biodiversity and Ecosystem Dynamics (IBED), University of Amsterdam, P.O. Box 94248, 1090 GE, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

#### This chapter is published as:

Linden B, Rinkevich B (2011)

Creating stocks of young colonies from brooding coral larvae, amenable to active reef restoration. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 398:40–46. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2010.12.002.

#### Chapter 3 Creating stocks of young colonies from brooding-coral larvae, amenable to active reef restoration

#### Abstract

Coral reefs are declining worldwide, even though traditional reef practices continuously underlie reef protection. This calls for exploration and integration of novel restoration techniques and tools, such as the "gardening" concept. The gardening approach, which has been successfully applied in various reef sites worldwide, is based on farming coral stocks in mid-water nurseries. To date, the farming of asexually produced coral material has chiefly been studied. Here, we test the performance of a novel spat-stocking tool for planulae of Stylophora pistillata, a brooding coral species. Two prototypes of a new settlement apparatus and one original apparatus made of Petri dishes lined with preconditioned transparency (Mailer's paper) disks had been stocked with >3730 planulae. After 96 h, only 95.3% of >2080 settlers were found on the Mailer's paper provided. One-month-old survivors (80.8% of initial settlements) that were kept ex situ in a flow through seawater table were detached from the papers, "transglued" onto plastic pins, and transferred to mid-water coral nursery, where the trays were covered with fitted plastic nets (1 cm<sup>2</sup> mesh) to prevent predation and detachment. Four months later, more than 89% survivorship was documented, with colonies starting to form 3D structures. We estimate that 676 personhours would be required to create 10,000 5-month-old genotypes of equal size to small branch fragments. This novel methodology allows farming of large quantities of colonies originating from sexually produced planulae and may enhance local populations' genetic variability within a short period. This method is inexpensive and easy to perform in remote places for incorporation in coral reef management practices.
#### Introduction

The Global Environmental Facility (GEF) has recently estimated that 19% of worldwide reef area has already been lost, 15% of the reefs are under serious threats of loss within the next 10–20 years, and 20% will be lost in 2-4 decades (Wilkinson 2008). Peer-reviewed studies published in the last two decades have dealt at length with the various agents (i.e., climate change, pollution, ocean temperature and acidification, coral bleaching and disease) responsible for the wide-scale decline of coral reefs and the consequences of biodiversity loss (Hughes *et al.* 2003, Ayre & Hughes 2004, Hoegh-Guldberg *et al.* 2007, Rinkevich 2008, Riegl *et al.* 2009, Shaish *et al.* 2010). The establishment of Marine Protected Areas (MPAs), a 'passive' management measure (Rinkevich 2006, 2008), has increased rapidly over the past three decades, aiming to reduce reef degradation and assist natural recovery of degraded reefs. While MPAs currently cover 18.7% of the total global reef area (98,650 km<sup>2</sup>, Mora *et al.*, 2006), they have been inefficiently applied and many MPAs have often failed to meet their goals (Mora *et al.* 2006, Sale 2008).

Integrating 'active' restoration tools into the currently employed MPA management strategies may be an improved approach to alleviating rates of reef decline. In most cases, it is unlikely that a system that has shifted away from the coral dominated phase will spontaneously revert back without involving active restoration acts (Rinkevich 2008). Clearly, as ecosystems are naturally dynamic and subject to changes in time (Jackson & Hobbs 2009), restoration should be applied or employed to reestablish the function and not necessarily focus on the conservation of one or two the species. Where possible, eco-engineering tools should be given the opportunity to restore ecological services and reef resilience and reconstruct the food webs that support ecosystem functions (Byers *et al.* 2006). This is the reason why we use *Stylophora pistillata* from Eilat as a model system. This is a robust, fast growing, and dominant species in the northern Red Sea coral reefs (as compared to populations from other localities; Marshall and Baird, 2000; McClanahan *et al.*, 2004). It can tolerate high temperatures and is a target species for large numbers of reef dwelling fish and invertebrates. These characteristics make *S. pistillata* an excellent bioengineering candidate for restoring ecosystem functions and denuded coral reefs in Eilat.

The latest active restoration tool employed, is based on the 'gardening concept' (Epstein *et al.* 2001, 2003), mirroring the well-established scientific discipline of terrestrial reforestation in the form of a two-step protocol (Rinkevich 2005a, 2006, Edwards & Gomez 2007). The first step entails rearing coral "seedlings" in underwater nurseries to transplantable size, and the second step involves transplanting nursery-reared colonies onto damaged reef areas. Most corals used in active reef restoration originated from asexual source material, coral branches, fragments and nubbins (Shafir & Rinkevich 2008), taken from field growing colonies or stray coral fragments (Nagelkerken *et al.* 2000, Bowden-Kerby 2001, Lindahl 2003, Yap 2004, Putchim *et al.* 2008, Shaish *et al.* 2008, Levy *et al.* 2010, Mbije *et al.* 2010, Guest *et al.* 2011; and literature therein)). Notably fewer studies have explored the use of sexually generated coral material for reef restoration, by collecting eggs and sperm from broadcaster coral species, or planulae from brooders (Nozawa, 2008; Okamoto *et al.*, 2008; Omori, 2005; Petersen *et al.*, 2005a).

Clearly, restoring a coral reef via fragmentation may not provide the same genetic diversity that is acquired by planting sexually produced corals (Rinkevich 2005a), though maintenance of high levels of genetic diversity in coral populations is crucial in terms of resilience against disturbance (Van Oppen & Gates 2006). Because coral planulae and spats have a much higher chance of survival *ex situ* than in the wild (Keough & Downes 1982, Fabricius & Metzner 2004), successful

#### Creating stocks of young colonies from brooding-coral larvae, amenable to active reef restoration

maintenance of coral spats requires the development of complex inland facilities (Petersen *et al.* 2005a, Okamoto *et al.* 2008), which are not always available near coral reefs. However, it was shown that planulae could easily be transported from collecting sites for several days with high survival rate. One study (Petersen *et al.* 2005a) recorded >90% survivors transported for 10 days in 10  $\mu$ m-filtered seawater and 15 or 50 ml tubes (with planulae concentrations ≤3.3 larvae ml<sup>-1</sup>). It is possible, therefore, to collecting larvae in remote areas, transport them, and settle them in inland facilities.

The use of coral larvae for reef restoration measures calls for the concurrent development of untraditional settling methodologies, using a substrate type that is attractive to coral larvae, recyclable, and replaceable. This constituted a major drawback in previous studies, in which spats settled permanently on first-available solid substrates (Nozawa, 2008; Okamoto *et al.*, 2005; Omori and Iwao, 2009; Petersen *et al.*, 2005a). These spats could not be spaced for individual growth and, due to intraspecific competition, had therefore reduced spat viability and growth rates.

Here, we introduce a new stocking method for coral spats, which allows the efficient production of numerous sexually produced coral colonies with the same attachment versatility as asexual fragments or nubbins, avoiding decrease of genetic variation and the potential harms inflicted on donor colonies through fragmentation. This novel technique was performed on *S. pistillata* larvae, adding new facets to the research as most previous efforts had been devoted to planulae of broadcasters (Harii *et al.* 2001, Okamoto *et al.* 2005, Omori 2005).

In the established gardening technique (Epstein *et al.* 2001), fragments of corals are grown on plastic pins, which are used for transplantation. Shafir *et al.* (2006) calculated the time required to create stocks of 10,000 colonies per species, from five species, through fragmentation using unskilled personnel. In congruence with this idea, we calculated the time needed to produce an equal stock of corals on the same type of plastic pin, using planulae as source material. The resulting stock of colonies can be used as needed in the second step of the 'coral gardening' protocol (Rinkevich 2005a, 2006).

#### **Materials and Methods**

The study was conducted in front of the Inter University Institute for Marine Science (IUI) in Eilat, Israel (northern Red Sea). Planulae were collected *in situ* from 15 gravid *S. pistillata* colonies, ranging between 11.5-29.8 cm in diameter, residing at a depth of 3-5 m. All planulae were collected at night using simple planulae traps, as described in Amar and Rinkevich (2007).

As settlement apparati, we used aseptic disposable Petri-dishes (90×15 mm) that were covered with preconditioned polyester papers, double-sided matte (Mailer's paper; manufactured by Jolybar, Israel), cut to fit the top (9 cm diameter) and bottom (8.5 cm diameter) of the Petri-dishes. Preconditioning was performed by submerging the Mailer's paper disks in a flow through seawater table for at least two months, as according to Petersen *et al.* (2005), during which natural biofilm developed. After biofilm development, the papers were glued to the top (lid) and the bottom of the Petri-dishes. When put together, the Petri-dishes created a closed vessel in which planulae could settle on the top and the bottom.

We inserted 1-69 sister planulae (same day cohort, released from a single mother colony) per dish, depending on collection yields. Most of the Petri-dishes were initially stocked with 60 planulae. Three apparatus prototypes (treatments) were established (Fig. 1). The first (A) was a Petri-dish without a lid, which was placed in a humidity chamber, a system similar to that used previously (Amar et al. 2007) to settle planulae. The second and third treatments (B and C) tested settlement in seawater-filled Petri-dishes with lids. In addition, the third prototype (C) was fitted with silicon plugs, perforated for air to escape. The two closed apparati (B and C) were placed in a flow through seawater table for stable ambient temperature and kept submerged, tightly closed by placing a weight on top of the lid. All air was removed from the submerged Petri-dishes, either via the opening between dish and lid (treatment B) or through the silicone plugs (treatment C), to allow the planulae to settle on the top lid, which would otherwise be obstructed by air. We counted larval settlements in the first four days after their release, a period consisting of two 48hour periods. The Mailer's paper disks carrying recruited spats were removed after the first period and replaced with new pre-treated paper disks. Then all free-swimming planulae were returned to the same Petri-dish for an additional 48-hour period. Leaving the planulae in stagnant water for periods of three days or longer resulted in increased mortality rates (pers. obs.).



**Figure 1** A simplified outline of treatments A, B and C. In the first step, each Petri dish is stocks with ~60 planulae. The second step shows Petri dishes for treatments B and C covered by their lids. The third step is the placement of the three treatments in respective environments; A is in a humidity chamber, B and C are submerged in a flow-through seawater table.

Where possible, the planulae of a single mother colony were distributed evenly over treatments and observed simultaneously in the three treatments. In total, 162 Petri-dishes were observed. For the first settlement, 89 Petri-dishes (A = 29, B = 30 and C = 30) were used; for the second settlement 73 Petri-dishes (A = 24, B = 24 and C = 25) were required. As mentioned, in treatments B and C, each Petri-dish was fitted with two Mailer's paper disks (top and bottom), whereas treatment A used only one (bottom). The settlement rate in our apparati was not influenced by the initial number of planulae or available settlement area (Amar *et al.* 2007). In total, 271 Mailer's paper disks with coral spats were produced. The first settlement period yielded 149 and

the second 122 settled Mailer's paper disks. We calculated larval mortalities during the 96-hours period as total planulae at day zero, minus the sum of settled and free-swimming larvae.

A 'flypaper' system (Morse *et al.* 1994) was adopted for handling Mailer's papers with settled planulae. First, adhesive (Super Glue 3, Loctite, Ireland) was applied to scratched parts of a glass slide (7.5×5 cm) on which an unconditioned square of Mailer's paper was then glued. This intermediate substrate was used because previous attempts at gluing paper disks with attached spats directly onto the glass slides failed to hold permanently (pers. obs.), probably because of the developed biofilm. The Mailer's paper disks with settled planulae were then glued onto the clean paper squares (Fig. 2a).



**Figure 2** *Ex situ* and *in situ* components of the spat stocking protocols. (a) *In situ* planulae settlement apparatus. '1' glass slide, '2' square Mailer's's paper, '3' circular Mailer's's paper and '4' *Stylophora pistillata* spats. (b) Two trays covered with 1 cm<sup>2</sup> plastic nets in the Coral Nursery, Eilat, Israel at a depth of 9 meters.

Sets of four glass slides were placed vertically in a Polypropylene staining rack (7×9 cm) and returned to the flow through seawater table. Using only four of the 20 slots available in the staining rack allowed free water flow, easy access for small herbivores that graze on algal assemblages, and reduced particle accumulation (Fig. 3). Randomly selected Mailer's disks (n=42) were used to calculate survival after a month by comparing photographs of the Mailer's paper disks at t=0 and t=1 month.



**Figure 3** The placement of glass slides in a staining rack. A maximum of four glass slides per staining rack. The glass slides are evenly spaced, leaving space between for water flow through and access for grazing by small herbivores.

After one month in the flow through seawater table, the surviving settlements were easily detached from the papers, 'transglued' (Super Glue 3, Loctite, Ireland) onto plastic pins (Red-Sea Corals LTD., Israel.; Shafir *et al.*, 2006) and then moved from the *ex situ* conditions to the our midwater coral nursery located *in situ* at the North Beach area of Eilat (29°32.4'N, 34°58.40'E). In the nursery the trays (45×32 cm) were fitted with plastic net covers of 1 cm<sup>2</sup> mesh size (Fig. 2b). The trays were made of PVC pipes forming a frame and black plastic net with 0.5 cm<sup>2</sup> mesh size covering the frame. Holes were drilled into the PVC pipe to allow air to escape, and the mesh was kept in place by cable-ties (KSS nylon cable ties 203×2.5 mm, Kai Suh Suh Enterprise CO., LTD., Taiwan). We used the term 'transgluing' in order to avoid confusion between coral transplantation onto reefs and spats' translocation to other substrates.

The transfer of the colonies from the lab to the nursery was done by boat, and, during transportation, prepared trays carrying pins with colonies were submerged in seawater-filled containers. Using SCUBA, we took the trays from the boat to the nursery and attached to the nursery using two cable-ties, at opposite points. Each tray was covered by plastic covers of 1 cm<sup>2</sup> mesh size (Fig. 2b), attached to the tray on one side with a plastic cable-tie and, on the opposite side, with a wire that could be released when needed, for easy access.

The trays with settled young corals were monitored *in situ* for four months. Routine maintenance was performed once a month by SCUBA, including the removal of covering nets and clearing away algal assemblages and major encrusting invertebrates (tunicates and other sessile filter feeders) by brushing the trays and nets, using gloves and tweezers for fine work. Sea urchins (*Diadema setosum*) and other herbivorous invertebrates that had settled on the trays were not removed. Each tray was photographed on a monthly basis to assess growth and mortality rates. Maintenance of *in situ* farmed colonies was identical with farmed nubbins (Shafir *et al.* 2006b).

We analyzed the treatments for significant differences in settlement rates, orientation, and survival. For these analyses, we used one-way ANOVA and Tukey's Honestly Significant Difference (HSD) tests available in SPSS 16.0. Photo analysis for survival *ex situ* was done using an Olympus Stylus 720 SW on self-timer suspended above the Mailer's paper on a laboratory stand using Macro option at highest resolution of 7.1 megapixels availability. By setting up a laboratory stand with camera, the high resolution and self-timer yielded sharp pictures, allowing settlements of any age be easily spotted. *In situ* photographs were done with Sony Cybershot DSC-W7 7.1 megapixel. Mortality (through lack of growth a 4-month period or detachment) was determined using freeware UTHSCSA Image Tool, Version 3.0.

#### Results

We collected 1236, 1307, and 1278 planulae for the A, B and C treatments, respectively, from the 15 coral genotypes. Seven genotypes, which released over 86% of all planulae collected, shed >180 planulae per colony. Yields of ≥180 planulae/coral were subjected to all three treatments and observed simultaneously.

In the A treatment 45.4±21.9%SD (n=510) of the planulae settled. Settlement rates of B and C treatments (63.2%±24.7%SD, n=828 and 60.0%±22.2%SD, n=747 spat, respectively) did not differ significantly from each other but were higher (p <0.05; Tukey's HSD) than A treatment outcomes (Table 1). In the first 48-hour period, most planulae settled on the Mailer's disks placed in the lids (Petri dish tops) of B and C treatments (p<0.05; one-way ANOVA). During the second 48-hour

period, most planulae settled at the bottom of the Mailer's papers (p<0.05; one-way ANOVA; Fig. 4). Of the 2082 recorded settlements, only 97 (4.7 %; discarded from follow-up experiment) settled on the side of the Petri-dishes where no Mailer's paper was present, the majority (n=67) of which were recorded in the A treatment. None of the settlements recorded were found underneath the paper surface, between the Petri-dish surface and the Mailer's paper. Randomly chosen Mailer's disks (n=42 Mailer's disks, with n=229 coral spats) were further monitored *ex situ* for one month. During the first month in the flow through seawater table, 80.8% of the spats survived (n=185 coral spats).

**Table 1** Settlement rates and mortality of *Stylophora pistillata* planulae in treatments -A-, -B- and -C-. 1st and 2nd indicate the results for the first and second 48 h settlement periods after release, respectively. \* indicates a significant difference between treatments, Tukey's (HDS) p<0.05

Treatment/ Period	Planulae (N)	Settlement rates (%) ± SD	Mortality (%) ± SD
A, 1st	1236	35±23	18±16
B, 1st	1307	50±29*	15±22
C,1st	1278	47±25*	15±20
A, 2nd	523	22±20	16±23
B, 2nd	474	31±28	13±15
C, 2nd	489	29±25	18±23
A, total	1236	45±22	27±23
B, total	1307	63±25*	19±23
C, total	1278	60±22*	23±21

In the first 48 hours, 47.2-49.6% of *S. pistillata* planulae settled in the B and C treatments, as compared to 34.5% in treatment A. The second settlement cycle increased total settlements by 10.9-13.5%, demonstrating that the competence of the planulae to settle decreases beyond the first 48-hour period (Table 1). Four days post-release, 16.3-23.1% of the initial numbers of planulae were still in free swimming phase.



# Settlement orientation per 48-hour increment

**Figure 4** *S. pistillata* larval settlement preference, along two 48-hour periods after their release. *S. pistillata* showed a significant preference (p<0.05, one-way ANOVA for both method B and C) for the top and bottom Mailer's paper during the first 48-hour period (A) and second 48-hour period (B) respectively.

The difference in settlement rates could not be explained by the initial number of planulae (1236, 1307 and 1278) used per treatment (A=29, B=30 and C=30 Petri-dishes, respectively; p=0.722; Tukey's HSD). Similarly, mortality or loss of planulae could not be attributed to any of the

treatment (p=0.810; Tukey's HSD; Table 1). It could not be discerned if planulae settlement rates were affected by the number of planulae per Petri-dish (1 to 69 planulae), because group sizes were too small and distributed unevenly to allow proper statistical analysis.

At the age of 1-2 months, 480 spats were easily peeled off the Mailer's papers, by bending the papers. Spats were individually transglued to plastic pins previously used for attaching coral nubbins and fragments (Shafir *et al.* 2006b). The colonies were then placed *in situ* within the floating coral nursery near Eilat, covered with a 1 cm<sup>2</sup> white plastic net to protect against fish predation and accidental detachment. After four months *in situ*, 89% of the colonies (n=428) were alive, starting to form 3D structures (Fig. 5).



**Figure 5** Young *Stylophora pistillata*: colonies on a plastic pin. (a) A one-month-old colony on a plastic pin *in situ* immediately after having been brought to the nursery via SCUBA. (b and c) Colonies at age of five months, farmed for four months *in situ* in the coral nursery. (d) Five-month-old colonies farmed in the coral nursery on pins inserted into a tray. All pins are uniform in size.

Settling and retrieving planulae traps took 10 min per colony, harvesting, on average, about 100 planulae/night/coral colony during the peak of the reproductive season (pers. obs.). Setting Petridish, including preparation and gluing of the Mailer's papers, took 5 min per dish. Transferring planulae from the trap to the Petri-dishes took 10 min per 60 planulae. An additional 10 min per Petri-dish was required for replacing the Mailer's papers (for the second settlement period) and for transferring the settled Mailer's papers onto glass slides. Transgluing each one-month old colony onto a plastic pin took approximately 2 min per colony.

Spat stocking for 10,000 5-month-old *S. pistillata* colonies in the Gulf of Eilat (taking into account losses incurred by planulae mortality, larval incompetence, and *ex situ* and *in situ* spat mortalities) necessitates the collection of 23,000 planulae by inserting of 230 traps and 40 person-hours during the peak of the reproductive season. Assuming an average 60% settlement rates, 130 person-hours would be required for the first and second settlement periods (97 and 33 person-hours respectively, assuming 60 planulae per Petri-dish during both settlement periods), creating a total of approximately 14,000 spats. With 80% survival rates, about 11,200 coral spats were

transglued onto plastic pins (an additional 370 person-hours). It took 40 diving-hours to place trays with coral spats on pins in the nursery (50 corals per tray, 240 trays). Following the 90% survival for the first four months *in situ*, 10,000 small coral colonies remained alive after five months. Maintenance of nursery-farmed corals required 24 diving-hours per month.

In total, 676 person-hours (4 person months) were needed to produce 10,000 small, 5-month-old colonies (size of each is equal size to a small branch fragment) in Eilat's nursery. This time investment is comparable to other methodologies used for different types of coral material, but with better results (Table 2). Preparing and growing 10,000 fragments requires between 317-547 person-hours (Shafir *et al.* 2006b); rearing and growing 10,000 sexually produced coral spats derived from broadcasting species requires between 968-1,210 person-hours (pers. com. Omori). Different coral species or environmental conditions can influence these numbers.

		This	Shafir <i>et al</i> **	Omori <sup>***</sup>			
		study <sup>*</sup>	(2006)	(pers. com.)			
Preliminary step	Collection of eggs/larvae	40 h	N.A.	19 h			
	Settlement	130 h	N.A.	119 h			
	Predicting spawning	N.A.	N.A.	20 h			
First Step	Preparing corals for nursery/transgluing	370 h	100-200 h	24 h			
	Placing of corals in nursery	40 h	40 h	30 h			
	Maintenance per month	24 h	24 h	12,5 h			
	# colonies at the age of 5 months	10,000	6,580-8,200	2,000-2,500			
	Total time needed/10,000	676 h	317-547 h	968-1,210 h			

**Table 2** Overview of time requiered to develop a stock number of 10,000 new colonies at age of 5 months. \* = Brooders; \*\* = Fragments; \*\*\* = Spawners. Comparison of stock creation and time requierement.

#### Discussion

In view of the worldwide decline of coral reefs and the failure of currently used management methods (Sale 2008) to reach their set goals, we must continue to work towards improving the tools and methods for reef rehabilitation. By applying 'active' restoration methods to the already existing management measures, we may be able to restore otherwise denuded reefs or encouraging reefs towards natural recovery. This study enhances 'active' restoration methodologies by using sexually produced new coral colonies that can be exploited as reefs' ecoengineers or as boosters in corals' genetic variation and reef resilience. We offer two apparati (treatments B and C) that are more efficient than the previously used apparatus (treatment A) for settling planulae of brooding coral species. This settlement efficiency stems from the inclination of *S. pistillata* planulae to settle top substrates in the first 48 hours, a preference that is absent from treatment A. The settlement rate in treatment A was comparable to results of a previous study (27.1-36.1% within 14 days; Amar *et al.*, 2007) performed on *S. pistillata* larvae released from the same site population.

The B and C treatments are highly efficient in establishing coral spat stocking (about 40% of released *S. pistillata* larvae reached the stage of 5-month-old small colony) following a short settlement period (96 h). Most larvae settled on the provided substrate (>95%), and only a minority settled on the Petri-dishes' side. Planulae mortality was low in all treatments (21-23%). Therefore, the flexible Mailer's paper serves all needs, allowing high settlement rates with minimal pre-treatment procedures and high survival rates of settled larvae. It is a recyclable

#### Creating stocks of young colonies from brooding-coral larvae, amenable to active reef restoration

substrate from which spat can be easily detached undamaged and 'transglued' to any other permanent substrate of choice.

Another benefit of the spat stocking methodology is the reduction of chimerism (fusion between different spats of the same species) and competition to which coral spats are exposed after collective settlement. Chimerism is a common outcome in spat-aggregates and reduces the number of available individuals (Amar et al. 2008). Competition (rejection, overgrowth, etc.; Amar et al., 2008; Amar and Rinkevich, 2010) between young settled conspecifics may cause another problem. Planulae that settled and metamorphosed on 'permanent' substrates, such as the 'coral pegs' (62.5 settlements per peg; Omori and Iwao, 2009) start competing for space shortly after settlement, which results in only 1-2 surviving colonies/peg and increased loss of valuable material. This outcome is also evident in other cases of settlements on permanent substrates, e.g. Petersen's pyramid and flat-tiles (Petersen et al., 2005b), Nozawa's micro-crevice tiles (Nozawa 2008), and Okamoto et. al. coral settlement device (CSD; Okamoto et al., 2005). Moreover, larval settlements within substrate crevices, commonly recorded in all former methodologies, offer limited prospects for successful transfer to other substrates because of damages inflicted during their detachment. An inherent characteristic of our new spat stocking tool for S. pistillata is its simplicity. Past studies (Morse et al. 1994, 1996, Heyward & Negri 1999, Iwao et al. 2002) suggested using specific chemical cues for improving planulae settlement rates, which can be achieved by the simple pre-conditioning protocol of the Mailer's papers. The same applies to the recommendation for rough-textured substrates because larvae not only prefer to settle within crevices but also show increased in situ survival rates as compared to flattened substrates (Omori et al. 2004b, Okamoto et al. 2005, Nozawa 2008).

In our new system, the application of a short (one month) *ex situ* farming protocol prior to transferring the spat to nursery conditions yields not only high survivorship (89% in 4-month period) and fast growth rates (enhanced rates as compared to *ex situ* conditions; unpublished) but also reduced maintenance efforts. This high survivorship is similar to the survivor values of *S. pistillata* nubbins under nursery conditions (65.8-82.0%, 100d *in situ*; Shafir *et al.*, 2006). In addition, the short *ex situ* period is inexpensive and easy to operate. A density of approximately 800 spats/m<sup>2</sup> table surface area is obtainable by using staining racks, each containing four glass slides covered with Mailer's papers. This high-density does not reduce survival (80% within the first month after settlement), and preliminary results revealed that the one-month *ex situ* period could be curtailed. Young *S. pistillata* colonies develop wide basal plates almost immediately after settling, making the spat easily removable as early as two weeks post-settlement (pers. obs.).

Transgluing each 1-month-old colony onto a plastic pin takes approximately two minutes, similar to gluing an *Acropora* nubbin. Shafir *et al.* (2006) calculated 191 to 415 person-hours, depending on the coral species used and level of skill, to create 10,000 plastic pins carrying coral fragments and 120 person-hours for five months maintenance period. In Palau, Omori and Kimura (pers. com) calculated 768 to 1,010 person-hours for establishing 8,000-10,000 coral spats (broadcasting species), and 200 more person-hours (maintenance) for five months old spat. These spats are subject to further intraspecific competition because they cannot be spaced.

We estimate about 676 person-hours for 10,000 5-month-old sexually produced coral colonies. It should noted, that maintenance of the mid-water floating nursery and farmed coral colonies could differ greatly per location and seasonality; e.g., algal blooms require more time cleaning. Although our procedure for creating 10,000 5-month-old corals is more time-consuming than

Shafir's method with asexually produced coral colonies and requires more skill to perform, each of the resulting corals is genetically unique, thus preserving local genetic variance, and no corals are damaged in the process of creation. Furthermore, creating a stock of 10,000 asexual produced corals necessitate fragmentation of 10 to 50 corals (212-1054 ramets per coral; Shafir *et al.*, 2006), which makes our method particularly attractive for endangered or threatened species.

Therefore, the above results refute the general assumption that sexually produced material, while being an invaluable tool for active reef restoration, is difficult to use in large restoration projects because it is time-consuming and costly to grow coral colonies from the larval stage. Whereas we successfully used a model brooder, hermaphroditic species (Harrison & Wallace 1990), the applicability of the novel methodology on other brooder species has yet to be demonstrated. Additionally, populations of *S. pistillata* in the Gulf of Eilat are particularly robust compared to *S. pistillata* in other reef areas (Marshall & Baird 2000, McClanahan *et al.* 2004). We would suggest that, together with farming of fragments and nubbins, it is possible to farm large quantities of sexually produced *S. pistillata*, for restocking genetic variation of local populations within a short period.

We here present part of the first step of a methodology for active restoration with sexually produced corals. As 5-month-old small colonies as grown in this study are too small for transplantation, they should be kept in the nursery until they reach sexual maturity, about three years in the field and much less under nursery conditions (Amar & Rinkevich 2007). Rearing young coral spats in mid-water nurseries to large colony sizes, however, has yet to be studied thoroughly.

#### Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the INCO-DEV project (REEFRES, no. 510657), CORALZOO, an EC Collective Research project (no. 012547), the AID-CDR program (no C23-004) and by a grant from the Israeli Ministry of Infrastructure and by the partnership NAF-IOLR with JNF-USA. The research fulfils part of the requirements for the doctoral degree by B. Linden at the University of Amsterdam (UvA), the Netherlands. We thank R.P.M. Bak, K.O. Amar, G.J.J. Linden, A. Linden van Ruiten, A. Lazarus, O. Polak, D. Gada, G. Paz and our reviewers for their invaluable advice, support, and assistance.

# Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies

Bart Linden<sup>1,2</sup>

Baruch Rinkevich<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Israel Oceanographic and Limnological Research, National Institute of Oceanography, TelShikmona, P.O. Box 8030, Haifa 31080, Israel.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Freshwater and Marine Ecology, Institute for Biodiversity and Ecosystem Dynamics (IBED), University of Amsterdam, P.O. Box 94248, 1090 GE, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

This chapter is published as: Linden B, Rinkevich B (2017) Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 486, 314–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2016.10.014

Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies

#### Abstract

Despite all traditional conservation management efforts, coral reefs worldwide continue to face a future of degradation and destruction. Current studies call for the augmentation of coral reef management with restoration practices, particularly alternative reef management approaches, such as the 'coral gardening' tenet of active reef restoration. This includes the stock creation of sexually derived coral colonies and their mariculture in mid-water coral nurseries. In this study, single and aggregated (resulting in non-fusion and chimeric entities) spats of the branching coral Stylophora pistillata were studied. Planula larvae were settled and spat were reared ex situ for 50-75 days before they were transplanted to the *in situ* mid-water nursery in Eilat, Israel, where they were followed for up to two years, showing a very low (<2%) detachment rate. Spats were cultured in horizontal and vertical orientations, in caged (for the first 9 nursery months) and noncaged scenarios, and on two nursery beddings (nets and ropes). Caging of horizontally situated young spats on the net substrate resulted in the highest survival (>80% after 2 years). Corals farmed in a vertical orientation had the lowest survival rate of the caged experiments (36.7%) but showed that chimeric/aggregated entities performed significantly better than the single colonies. The uncaged experiments had low (32.7%) to zero surviving spats after two years in situ. The surviving colonies reared under the uncaged conditions were significantly smaller than the caged colonies after the 9 months in situ 'caging period'. Generally, the placement of the young spats in the mid-water nursery resulted in high growth rates: After two years in situ, coral colony diameter increased from 0.1 cm to 8.16 ±1.58 cm for the vertical caged scenario, and 7.08 ±1.72 cm, 7.02 ±1.48 cm for the two caged horizontal designs (HN and HR). This is nearly twice the growth rate observed in natal colonies. The mid-water coral nursery is a much cheaper solution for growing corals compared to ex situ water tables, which require high maintenance and expensive facilities to mimic in situ conditions. Non-caged coral stocks showed reduced survival and growth rates, similar to previously published results. The culturing of caged spats in a horizontal position in a mid-water nursery exponentially augment survival and growth rates, thus enhancing stock creation yields. This offers new possibilities for creating stocks of sexually derived spats from ecoengineering coral species such as S. pistillata.

Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies

#### Introduction

Coral reefs throughout the tropics continue to deteriorate (Wilkinson 2008, De'ath *et al.* 2012), even with all currently implemented conservation management practices in place (Miller & Russ 2014, Rinkevich 2014). Many of these practices fail to prevent damages to the coral system, or to rehabilitate damages that are already widespread (Hughes & Tanner 2000, Rinkevich 2008, Ritson-Williams *et al.* 2009, van Woesik *et al.* 2014). On top of this, global change impacts and the expected increase in anthropogenic activities will augment reef degradation. This increase in pressure on the global ecosystem is expected to lead to a loss of about 70% of the coral biodiversity in the next four decades (Bruno & Selig 2007). The shrinkage of global reef structural complexity is unprecedented, and many reefs experience various degrees of phase shift phenomena (Dudgeon *et al.* 2010).

Taking into consideration these unfavourable prospects and attempting to counteract reefdegradation trends, the literature has made suggestions for alternate reef management approaches (Risk 1999, Sale 2008, Graham *et al.* 2013, Micheli *et al.* 2014), including propositions for active reef restoration (Omori 2005, Putchim *et al.* 2008, Shaish *et al.* 2008, Edwards *et al.* 2010, Shafir & Rinkevich 2010, Mbije *et al.* 2013, Rinkevich 2014). The methods and practices that have been put forward, all aim either to complement or to substitute currently employed conservation efforts in order to halt or reverse the coral reefs' degradation trajectory.

In order to retain the natural genetic diversity of corals (Shearer *et al.* 2009), active reef restoration attempts have further explored the use of planula larvae for the creation of coral stocks (Okamoto *et al.* 2005, Omori 2005, Baria *et al.* 2010, Nakamura *et al.* 2011). Planulae are available in endless supply (Hughes *et al.* 2010), can be caught without damaging adult reef corals, and, if properly handled, can be utilized to create genetically polymorphic stocks that may be used to actively increase the numbers and genetic heterogeneity of reef corals in an area or as "ecologically engineered" tools for coral recruitment.

Enhanced coral recruitment is one of the main instruments for assisting the "resilience" of reefs. "Resilience" is defined as the ability of reefs to absorb recurrent disturbances and rebuild coraldominated systems (Hughes *et al.* 2010). Coral recruitment is one of the most important factors driving the ecology of coral reef assemblages and is critical for maintaining viable coral populations (Hughes *et al.* 2010, Lukoschek *et al.* 2013). Low recruitment rates may further lead to reduced coral population sizes/genetic properties, low fertilization rates in gravid corals, and higher pre- or post-settlement mortality (Dizon & Yap 2006, van Woesik *et al.* 2014). High coral recruitment rates, in contrast, may offset detrimental impacts of anthropogenic and natural disturbances, as local and global threats continue to decrease coral coverage and the current prognosis is that they will continue to do so (Lukoschek *et al.* 2013).

Through their ability to change biogeochemical services of reef habitats and to build reefs, reef corals function as a key autogenic reef engineering species and, as they modify the environment by modifying themselves, also altering the environment as allogenic reef engineering species (Wild *et al.*, 2011). Pioneering, opportunistic, protandrous hermaphrodite coral species, such as the Indo-Pacific branching species *Stylophora pistillata* (Rinkevich & Loya 1979b, Fadlallah 1983, Richmond & Hunter 1990), are particularly well-suited for active reef restoration.

#### Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies

**Table 1** Literature documentations on juvenile coral survival *in situ* and *ex situ*. The header "Juvenile state" depicts the size that was classified as "juvenile" in the study. "Period" is the duration of the experiment, and "% survival" is the survivals at the end of the study (the presented order corresponds to the list of species). "Settlement" refers to the initial settlement of the coral colonies used in the described experiments, either *in situ* or *ex situ* and if/when the corals were transferred to *in situ* or *ex situ* during the experiment.

Publications	Species	Juvenile state	Period	% survival	Settlement				
Sato, 1985	Pocillopora damicornis	3-day old	6 months	16%	In situ				
		spats	in situ						
Babcock and	Platygyra sinensis,	Just	4 months in	0.5 and 3.9%	In situ				
Mundy, 1996	Oxypora lacera	settlement	situ						
Epstein <i>et al.,</i> 2001	Stylophora pistillata	Settlement and 3 months	1 month <i>in</i> situ	0% and 5%	<i>Ex situ,</i> then moved <i>in situ</i>				
Raymundo and Maypa, 2004	Pocillopora damicornis	1,3,5,6 month old spats	1 year <i>in situ</i>	0, 2.5, 13, 49%	<i>Ex situ</i> for 1,3,5,6 months, then moved <i>in situ</i>				
Wilson and Harrison, 2005	Acanthastrea Iordhowensis,	Few day old spats	7-9 months <i>in</i> situ	1%, 2.8% and 0.2%,	<i>Ex situ,</i> then moved <i>in situ</i>				
	Goniastrae australiensis,								
	Montastrea curta								
Baria <i>et al.,</i> 2010	Acropora tenuis	1,5-2 month old spats	3 months <i>in</i> situ	33%	<i>Ex situ</i> for 1,5-2 months, then moved <i>in situ</i>				
Linden and Rinkevich, 2011	Stylophora pistillata	Just settlement	1 months <i>ex</i> situ	80.80%	Ex situ				
Nakamura <i>et al.,</i> 2011	Acropora tenuis	Just settlement	10 months <i>ex</i> situ	59%	Ex situ				
Boch and Morse,	Acropora hyacinthus.	Just	9 days <i>ex situ;</i>	Site #1- 25%,	Ex situ				
2012		settlement	1 year in situ	Site #2- 16%					
Nozawa <i>et al</i> . 2006	Alveopora japonica,	1,5 month old spats	3 months in situ	3%, 15%, 0% and 2%	Ex situ for 1,5				
	Acropora solitaryensis,				months, then moved <i>in situ</i>				
	Cyphastrea serailia,								
	Favia favus								
Toh <i>et al.,</i> 2014	Pocillopora damicornis	Just settlement	6 months <i>ex</i>	45-58%,	Ex situ for 6				
			<i>situ,</i> 6 months <i>in situ</i>	38-63%	months then moved <i>in situ</i>				

Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies

This study addresses three major issues associated with the creation of nursery farmed coral stocks from ~1-mm<sup>2</sup> coral spats: spat mariculture protocols, survival rates in the nursery, and nursery periods. The specific aims were to test conditions at the nursery phase (Shafir *et al.* 2006b, Baria *et al.* 2010), using designs that could influence the growth and survival of spats *in situ.* The overall goal was to develop more effective and efficient methods for creating sexually derived coral stocks for reef restoration (Table 1). This study tested the effect of spat aggregations (Buss 1982, Rinkevich 2005b), the effect of substrate and culture orientation (Nozawa 2008, Enochs 2012), and the effect of presence/absence of caging in the nursery. These parameters were correlated with survival and growth (Nozawa 2008, Baria *et al.* 2010, Nakamura *et al.* 2011).

#### Methods

The *in situ* study was conducted at the mid-water nursery located adjacent to the Israel Oceanographic and Limnological Research (IOLR) branch at Eilat (Shafir *et al.* 2006b, Linden & Rinkevich 2011). The mid-water nursery bedding was constructed by repurposing the 14-meter diameter buoyant ring of a floating fish cage. The buoyant ring was submerged, brought to a depth of 10 meters, and attached to the substrate by a central anchor at a depth of 24 meters. The mid-water nursery is situated at about 10-12 m depth away from the reef, 12 m above a sandy bottom. All young *Stylophora pistillata* colonies were created from planulae that had been collected *in situ* from 15 gravid colonies, each ranging between 11.5 and 29.8 cm in diameter, residing at depths of 3 to 5m in front of the Interuniversity Institute for Marine Sciences (IUI) near Eilat, Israel. Planulae were collected at night using simple traps and were settled on Transparency Film as described in Linden and Rinkevich (2011).

After a minimum of 1-2 months growth ex situ in an outdoor running facility, as described in Linden and Rinkevich (2011), corals spats were moved from the Transparency Film to plastic pins, 1-4 sibling (originating from the same maternal colony) spats/pin. Spat aggregates composed of 2-4 settlers formed either naturally within a few hours of settlement (n=42), or artificially, 30+ days after settlement (n=104;Amar et al. 2008, Linden and Rinkevich 2011). All plastic pins (n=249) were randomly divided over five plastic trays (size 50x35cm; 50 pins per tray). In total, 116 pins with a single spat/pin and 133 pins with aggregated colonies/pin (consisting of histocompatible and incompatible combinations) were transferred to the mid-water coral nursery at Eilat by boat and placed on the nursery bedding using SCUBA. Trays were covered with plastic mesh cages (4 cm<sup>2</sup> mesh size; dimensions: 50x35x10cm) that were removed 267 days (9 months) later. The trays were distributed over two different types of nursery bedding: a recycled fish net (3.25 cm<sup>2</sup> mesh size) and 4-6 mm diameter ropes placed horizontally with a 20 cm spacing, parallel to each other (Fig. 1). The trays were placed on the substrates in either vertical or horizontal orientation to the seawater plane. The trays were set up, therefore, using the terms HN for "horizontal position" on the fishnet (n=99; single=47, aggregates=52), HR for "horizontal position" on ropes (n=50; single=30, aggregates=20), and VR for "vertical position" on ropes (n=100; single=39, aggregated=61) (Fig. 1). This experiment lasted for 678 days.

## Chapter 4 Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies



**Figure 1** Nursery top view. A schematic illustration of the mid-water nursery top view ( $\emptyset = 14m$ ) and the division of substrates ("net" and "ropes"). The bottom left panel depicts the HN (horizontal, net position). The top left panel depicts the HR (horizontal, rope position) and the VR (vertical, rope position).

To test the effect of caging, two non-caged trays were installed two months after the first experiment began. One tray was positioned hanging from the ropes similar to the VR design, and one tray was positioned similar to the HN design (n=39; single=33, aggregates=4 and n=55; single=45, aggregates=10). This experiment lasted for 605 days.

The trays were cleaned on a monthly basis. All nursery-farmed colonies were monitored for 22 months *in situ* through 10 surveys sessions. The colonies were tracked individually for 14 months, after which they were spaced by moving them from original trays onto new trays. Spacing corals to new trays was necessary to allow continued unimpeded growth. As a result of this spacing, tracking could no longer be verified on an individual level and was, therefore, discontinued.

The two-dimensional growth of the spats (termed the "aerial surface area" [ASA], calculating from the maximal width and length dimensions of the growing corals) was recorded by camera photography and calculated by calibrating the photos in ImageJ software, using the diameter of an empty plastic tip (2cm) as the reference size. Diameter (Ø) was calculated by averaging the width and length measured for ASA. Close visual inspections of the photos were used to determine injuries, damages, allogeneic rejections, and colony mortalities. Obscured colonies were excluded from the calculations of growth for that specific time frame. "Lost" colonies that "appeared" again in the following monthly census were treated as living colonies with missing size parameters. All statistics were performed using SPSS 21, and graphs were created using SigmaPlot 12.

Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies

#### Results

On the day of transfer to the nursery (75, 50, and 50-day-old spats for "horizontal position" on the fishnet [HN], "vertical position" on ropes [VR] and "horizontal position" on ropes [HR], respectively), all spats revealed 2D structures characterized by flat basal plates, but after 125 days in situ they started to develop the 3D pattern formation characteristic of Stylophora pistillata (Fig. 2, 3). Spats were monitored individually for a period of 411 days, during which small colonies developed to an average ASA (±SD) of 941.9 ±442.0 mm<sup>2</sup> for single genotype spats and 1078.4 ±590.5 mm<sup>2</sup> for aggregates (Table 2) after which all single and aggregate young *S. pistillata* entities were pooled per experimental set-up. At transfer, HN single spats (0.12 ±0.05 mm<sup>2</sup>) were significantly larger than the single spats in the other designs (0.09  $\pm$ 0.04 and 0.08  $\pm$ 0.03 mm<sup>2</sup> for VR and HR respectively; P<0.05 for single spats, Fisher's Least Significant Difference [LSD]). HN aggregate spats (0.24 ±0.11 mm<sup>2</sup>) were significantly larger than HR (0.18 ±0.07 mm<sup>2</sup>) aggregate spats. After 40 nursery days these differences were no longer significant (Single spat size, 0.15  $\pm 0.07$ , 0.17  $\pm 0.10$ , and 0.14  $\pm 0.05$  mm<sup>2</sup>; Aggregate, 0.29  $\pm 0.13$ , 0.28  $\pm 0.16$ , and 0.21  $\pm 0.08$  mm<sup>2</sup> for HN, VR and HR respectively; P>0.05, Fisher's LSD). Results further revealed that the aggregate ASAs in each of the three caged experimental designs (HN, HR, and VR) were significantly larger than those of the single spats (p<0.05, Mann-Whitney U Test; Table 2) for the first 4, 2 and 2 nursery months, respectively. After that, there was no significant difference in size between single and aggregated colonies within the caged experimental designs (p>0.05, Mann-Whitney U Test; Table 2).



**Figure 2** Timeline of a nursery farmed chimeric colony (HN design). The white bar represents a 2 cm scale. Pictures are in chronological order, reading left to right and top to bottom. A) Chimera (n=2) at 1-2 months old, on the day of transfer to the nursery. B) Four months old. C) Five months. D) Nine months. E) Eleven months. F) Twenty-two months; branching has wide openings and multiple side branches.

#### Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies



**Figure 3** Timeline for a nursery-farmed single spats (VR design). The white bar represents a 2 cm scale. Pictures are in chronological order, reading left to right and top to bottom. A) A single colony at 1-2 months old, initial size, on the day of transfer to the nursery. B) The 2-month-old colony surrounded by an invading colonial tunicate, which were removed with tweezers and a toothbrush. C) Colony at 4 months. D) A 9– month-old colony. E) An 11-month-old colony. F) A 22-month-old colony; branches are thick with polyps, less open space, and less side branching than in the HN design.

The aggregates (n=146) were photographed and inspected for allogeneic fusions (chimeras) and rejections (tissue damages, partial mortality; Fig. 4). Possible chimeras were identified by eliminating those that suffered from any sign of allogeneic response (Rinkevich & Loya 1983). Of the 146 aggregates, 27 showed signs of locality secured points/lines of rejection (Fig. 4D and 4E), and 47 showed signs of advance allogeneic responses in the form of partial mortality. After 14 months, a total of 89 aggregates (60.3%) survived, 43 of which had experienced at least some histoincompatibility, having rejected the neighbouring colony, suffered from partial mortality, or both (Fig. 4), while the remaining 46 aggregates were labelled as chimeric entities (Fig. 2; Frank et al., 1997). The aggregates were formed either naturally by co-settling planulae, or experimentally by creating aggregates from larvae settled separately on the Transparency Films (Linden and Rinkevich 2011). The survivorship of chimeric entities (age 14 months) was not dependent on either methodology (13 out of 42 naturally settled and 33 out of 104 of the experimentally made; Mann-Whitney U, p=0.927). This study recorded significantly higher numbers of rejections in naturally formed aggregates than in experimentally made aggregates (Mann-Whitney U, p=0.047). "Partial mortality" and "mortality" did not differ significantly between natural and experimentally made aggregates (Mann-Whitney U, p=0.078, Mann-Whitney U p=0.822, respectively). At 14 months in situ (n=89 total), the aggregate sizes did not differ significantly between natural (n=25) and experimentally made aggregate entities (n=64; Mann-Whitney U, p=0.391). The entities that had shown no sign of histoincompatibility in the previous 14 months in situ, and were therefore labelled as chimeras (n=46), were significantly larger than the histoincompatible aggregates (n=43; Mann-Whitney U, p=0.012).

#### Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies



**Figure 4** A colonial aggregate (n=3) showing allogeneic rejection and fusion in a single aggregate (VR caged). A) Three colonies in an aggregate, of which the right colony (arrow) is paler, day 1 in the nursery. B-E) One to six months in the nursery; the process of allogeneic overgrowth of tissue and skeleton on the paler colony (arrows) and the creation of a narrow rejection line in touching areas. The tissues/skeletons of other two spat fused, forming a unified entity. F-H) Seven to eleven months in the nursery; the continued development of the aggregate without the display of further allogeneic rejection.

The detachment of spats from their pins due to their translocation into the nursery was minimal (2 out of 249, <2% detachment rate for all settings). Most of the recorded mortality for the caged design after 22 months *in situ* (72.5%; 74 of 102 recorded deaths) developed within the first 4 months of placing the colonies in the nursery, revealing 86.9% and 90% survival for the caged horizontal orientation on the net and on ropes (Fig. 5A and 5C, respectively), and only 46% survivorship for the caged vertical orientation (Fig. 5B). Survival of the colonies during the first 14-month nursery phase (Fig. 5A-C) did not differ between the single colony entities and the aggregates in the caged horizontal designs (Pearson  $\chi^2$ , p=0.591 for HN and p=0.533 for HR), whereas it was significantly higher for the aggregates (9 singles, 26 aggregates, 12 of which were chimeras) in the caged vertical design (for the 4-14-month period; Pearson  $\chi^2$ , p<0.046). After 22 months, survival had further gone down to 80.8%, 70%, and 36.7% for HN, HR, and VR, respectively (Fig. 5).

Chapter 4 Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies



**Figure 5** Resultant survivorship and growth rates for all designs over the length of time of the experiment. Survivorship (black dashed lines; %, right vertical axis) for the Horizontal Netted (HN; A and D), Vertical hanging from Ropes (VR; B and E), and Horizontal on Ropes (HR; C) designs. The left graph shows the "caged" results, and the right graph shows the "non-caged" results. Growth (points marking the mean ASA in cm<sup>2</sup> with standard deviation bars; left vertical axis) for the Horizontal Netted (HN), Horizontal on Ropes (HR) and Vertical hanging from Ropes (VR) designs. The removal of the cages in the "caged" experiments is indicated by the vertical (blue) dashed line (267 Days *in situ*) per design.

After 22 months *in situ*, the average spat sizes (ASA ±SD) for the caged designs had increased from 18.6 ±10.5, 12.0 ±7.0 and 16.3 ±10.8 mm<sup>2</sup> at instalment to 5290.4 ±2334.9, 5119.5 ±2056.9, and 6997.3 ±2510.8 mm<sup>2</sup>, for HN, HR, and VR, respectively (Figs. 2, 3, 5A-C; Table 2). The nursery bedding of a net (allowing physical connections between trays, HN,  $\emptyset$ =7.08 ±1.72 cm) did not affect growth and colony sizes when compared with the "trays on rope" setting (without physical connections between individual trays, HR,  $\emptyset$ =7.02 ±1.48 cm, p=0.857, Fisher's LSD) while colonies in the vertical orientation ( $\emptyset$ =8.16 ±1.58 cm) were significantly larger than the colonies in horizontal orientations (p=0.01 and p=0.04, Fisher's LSD, HN and HR, respectively).

Survivorship of HN and VR caged spats was 86.87% and 88.78%, respectively, after the first 40 days. In the non-caged trays, survivorship was dramatically reduced to 32.7% in the HN and 39.5% in the VR designs within 52 days (Fig. 5). This was 84.7% of the total mortality experienced after 20 months *in situ* by the non-caged colonies (61 of 72 recorded deaths). Survivorship in the HN design remained constant at 32.7% for the next 553 days until the end of the research period.

Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies

Survivorship in the VR design was reduced to 0% at day 338 (Fig. 5E), revealing altogether lower survival of non-caged colonies when compared to their caged counterparts (Fig. 5A-C).

At the end of the "caging period" (9 nursery months), the surviving colonies of the non-caged HN (18 of the 45 single spats [40%]; none of the 10 aggregates) were significantly smaller (n=18, 416.7 ±169.4 mm<sup>2</sup>) when compared with the caged <u>single spats</u> of HN (n=40, 597.9 ±255.5 mm<sup>2</sup>) and VR (n=9, 695.0 ±301.5 mm<sup>2</sup>; Table 2; ANOVA, F=9.382, P<0.000; T-test HN, p=0.014; T-test VR p=0.008). The recorded survival rates following the prolonged caging conditions were 85.86%, 86.00%, and 36.73% (HN, HR, and VR, respectively) for the first 267 days. The removal of the cages resulted in minimal added mortality (2%, 8%, and 0% for HN, HR and VR, respectively) after one month. This is unambiguously different from the non-caged designs, resulting in 32.7% and 2.6% survival after days 267 *in situ* without cages (Fig. 5).

**Table 2** Average sizes (ASA) of single and aggregated/chimeric spats in nursery-farmed corals in the three caged designs here notated as "horizontal position" on the fishnet (HN), "horizontal position" on ropes (HR) and "vertical position" hanging from rope (VR). Statistical significance (\*, p<0.05; Mann-Whitney U Test) between single colonies and aggregates

Days in	HN Single		HN Aggregate		HR Single		HR Aggregate			VR Single		VR Aggregate			
situ	n	ASA (mm²)	n	ASA (mm²)	р	n	ASA (mm²)	n	ASA (mm²)	р	n	ASA (mm²)	n	ASA (mm²)	р
0	47	12.24	52	24.29	0.000*	30	8.06	20	17.82	0.000*	38	8.80	60	21.03	0.000*
40	43	15.14	44	29.04	0.000*	27	13.92	18	21.24	0.039*	33	16.61	54	27.87	0.000*
73	43	32.50	44	45.54	0.017*	27	24.82	18	27.37	0.516	26	54.42	48	71.70	0.063
125	43	100.91	44	115.29	0.144	27	80.60	18	79.85	0.616	14	183.92	32	187.90	0.060
183	42	187.11	44	196.17	0.556	27	151.12	18	140.08	0.348	11	299.34	27	287.42	0.657
216	41	229.88	44	228.54	0.635	27	181.60	18	166.28	0.570	9	381.20	26	385.29	0.828
267	41	340.49	44	401.69	0.287	26	236.46	17	268.00	0.405	9	515.20	26	556.68	0.440
335	40	597.94	43	670.03	0.494	23	531.03	16	619.71	0.300	9	695.04	26	755.23	0.477
411	39	981.82	43	1051.07	0.788	23	809.96	16	809.50	0.989	9	1105.67	26	1288.92	0.521

#### Discussion

The "gardening the reef" tenet, which is primarily created for the farming of new colonies created via fragmentation (Rinkevich 2014, 2015), provides a wide range of eco-engineering approaches with regard to the use of sexually derived colonies in reef restoration acts. First, it was documented that mid-water nurseries provide an important platform for growing large stocks of coral colonies *in situ*, eliminating the use of expensive on-land facilities, and that nursery-farmed *Stylophora pistillata* colonies, originating from coral fragments, produce fitter planulae than wild grown colonies (Shafir *et al.*, 2006b; Amar and Rinkevich, 2007). Furthermore, Horoszowski-Fridman *et al.* (2011 and unpublished) provided ample evidence that, years after the transplantation of nursery-farmed *S. pistillata* colonies, these coral colonies still release a greater number of planulae than natal colonies, even though they are exposed to the same local disturbances. Other eco-engineering approaches have suggested using stock colonies grown in

Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies

mid-water coral nurseries as coral larvae-producing hubs in areas where the supply of planulae is low and as a supplementary measure to active rehabilitation via direct coral transplantation (Amar & Rinkevich 2007).

The findings in this study add to the aforementioned ideas for using sexually derived entities in reef restoration by revealing the practicality of the mid-water nursery as an efficient tool for coral spat farming in a way that lowers the costs associated with very low survival rates (Cooper *et al.* 2014). As shown in this study, about 84% of coral spats that are transferred after 1-2 months, of *ex situ* settlement and growth, to caged *in situ* nursery conditions will reach the age of 1 year, and 80% will survive the following 2 years in the nursery. These results deviate dramatically from Sato (1985) and Babcock and Mundy (1996), documenting very low survival rates in the first few months when the young corals are directly grown on the reef (16% and 0.5-3.9%, respectively, within 4-6 months *in situ*; Table 1). Short *ex situ* periods for settlement and growth of isolated branches/coral fragments, 1 to 5 months, followed by *in situ* deployment on the reef also resulted in low transplant survival rates (Epstein *et al.* 2001, Wilson & Harrison 2005, Baria *et al.* 2010, Boch & Morse 2012). Longer *ex situ* periods,  $\geq 6$  months, generally resulted in higher transplant survival (Raymundo & Maypa 2004, Toh *et al.* 2014).

For all purposes, the mid-water nursery, therefore, functions as an improved "*ex situ*" platform for coral farming (80.80%, *ex situ*; Linden and Rinkevich, 2011). This is reflected by the high survival percentages and fast growth rates of corals that need extra care (spacing, cleaning, and regular maintenance), while providing improved conditions for free, including but not limited to; current flush, increased food supply, and optimal natural light regimen. This makes coral farming in a mid-water nursery a much cheaper option than any land-based nursery.

This study also reveals that initial caging of developing spats for several nursery months resulted in augmented survival when compared with the non-caged status (80.8% and 36.7% for HN and VR with cages, versus 32.7% and 0% for HN and VR without caging, respectively), and that caged colonies had grown significantly larger than the non-caged colonies after 11 months *in situ*. Caging, therefore, not only provided a higher survival chance for recently settled spats but also allowed for faster growth rates, even when compared to natal colonies. Under the current nursery conditions, small *S. pistillata* spats grew to colonies of an average of 7-8 cm in diameter (7.08  $\pm$ 1.72 cm [NH], 8.16  $\pm$ 1.58 cm [VR] and 7.02  $\pm$ 1.48 cm [HR]) at the age of 23-24 months (22 months *in situ* and 1-2 months *ex situ*), nearly twice as large as natal colonies (22-month-old naturally settled *S. pistillata* colonies measured 4 cm in diameter; Loya, (1985)). This confirms previous results regarding the high performance of the nursery in Eilat (Shafir & Rinkevich 2010). Rinkevich and Loya (1979) found that *S. pistillata* with a colonial diameter of 5 to 8 cm corresponds with 69.2% of sexually reproducing colonies and in sizes of >8 cm diameter, 90% reproductive probability is attained. The farmed corals, therefore, reach sexual maturity faster than their natal counterparts.

The phenomena of planulae settling in aggregations and the follow-up fusions between spats have been documented in hard and soft coral species (Raymundo & Maypa 2004, Amar *et al.* 2008) as well as other marine invertebrates, such as sponges and tunicates (Rinkevich & Weissman 1992). The benefits of aggregated settlement, fusion, and chimerism between conspecifics may include enhanced survivorship, increased body size, an earlier onset of reproduction, and reduced predation risk at the cost of competition between cell lineages (Buss 1982, Rinkevich & Weissman 1992, Amar *et al.* 2008). Apart from the first 4 nursery months, the results of this study did not document colonial size benefits for aggregated entities (containing

Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies

both compatible and histoincompatible partners) compared to solitary entities. The aggregated colonies set for the vertical (VR) design exhibited higher survival rates, whereas colonies in the horizontal designs (HN and HR) did not reveal significant survival differences between aggregated and single spat colonies, which is probably due to the high survival rates recorded in all designs, making the initially significant size benefits of aggregation obsolete under caged conditions.

Engineering species such as *S. pistillata* may be promoted as excellent candidates for enhanced reef restoration. The inexpensive method of creating stocks of nursery farmed colonies via sexual reproduction in large numbers with high survivorship/growth rates, as shown in the present study, and their use in coral reef restoration will lead to more resilient coral populations with higher genetic variation (Shearer *et al.* 2009). Creating stock colonies from sexually produced planulae is a selective process, in which local colonies can be used to supply the stocks (Coles & Riegl 2013), thus keeping current population genetics repertoires unaffected. Taking into consideration the threats of global change to coral reefs worldwide (Wilkinson 2008, De'ath *et al.* 2012), selection of corals for rehabilitation should be based on qualities that can cope with these pressures, sustain the ecosystem, and provide invaluable ecosystem services. Selection processes should further rely on donor colonies have adapted for generations to environmental conditions (Guest *et al.* 2014). Colonies that have survived bleaching events, for example, or that grow in areas with higher water temperatures, such as shallow lagoons, could be possible candidates for creating large sexually derived coral stocks that could be specifically well suited for the rehabilitation of frequently bleached reefs in that area.

Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies

#### Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the CORALZOO, an EC Collective Research project (no. 012547) and the AID-MERC program (no M33-001). The research fulfils part of the requirements for the doctoral degree of B. Linden at the University of Amsterdam (UvA), the Netherlands. We thank K.O. Amar, G.J.J. Linden, A. Linden van Ruiten, M. Klaiber, A. Lazarus, O. Polak, G. Paz, R. Stuve and L. Baumer for their invaluable advice, support and assistance.

# The coral settlement box: A simple device to produce coral stock from brooded coral larvae entirely *in situ*

Bart Linden<sup>1,2</sup>

Mark J. A. Vermeij<sup>2,3</sup>

Baruch Rinkevich<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Israel Oceanographic and Limnological Research, National Institute of Oceanography, Tel-Shikmona, P.O. Box 8030, Haifa 31080, Israel

<sup>2</sup>Department of Freshwater and Marine Ecology, Institute for Biodiversity and Ecosystem Dynamics (IBED), University of Amsterdam, P.O. Box 94248, 1090 GE Amsterdam, the Netherlands

<sup>3</sup>CARMABI Foundation, PO Box 2090, Piscaderabaai z/n, Willemstad, Curaçao

This chapter is published as:

Linden B, Vermeij MJA, Rinkevich B (2019) The coral settlement box: A simple device to produce coral stock from brooded coral larvae entirely *in situ*. Ecol. Eng. 132, 115–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2019.04.012

#### Chapter 5 The coral settlement box: A simple device to produce coral stock from brooded coral larvae entirely *in situ*

#### Abstract

Coral reef restoration requires efficient, effective and scalable techniques and methodologies to counteract the continued decline of coral reefs. Here we tested an in situ method to collect and settle fully developed planulae shed by the brooding coral species (Stylophora pistillata). Three devices called Coral Settlement Boxes (CSB; L x W x H: 50 x 40 x 6 cm; V: 4.5 L) were built from transparent Plexiglas and designed to be easily assembled and disassembled. Each CSB contained two integrated biofilm-covered nets (0.5 x 0.5 cm mesh size), which functioned as settlement substrate. The trap container of a traditional planulae trap was replaced by the CSB, and this new construction was used to collected planulae over 4 consecutive days. The CSBs were then transported to a mid-water coral nursery at 12 m depth. One CSB was disassembled immediately, the two settlement substrates were removed and each was placed in a protective cage (mesh size 4 cm<sup>2</sup>). The other two CSBs were opened after a 4-month period, leaving the four settlement substrates attached to the Plexiglas plates and covered by protective cages. None of the settlement substrates were cleaned of fouling organisms in the nursery. After 5 months in the mid-water nursery, a total of 120 healthy juvenile coral colonies had resulted from the estimated 2045 planulae initially trapped. This inexpensive and simple approach to producing sexually propagated stocks of colonies entirely in situ may enhance the efficiency, effectiveness and scalability of restoration activities that include brooding coral species.

The coral settlement box: A simple device to produce coral stock from brooded coral larvae entirely *in situ* 

#### Introduction

The ongoing decline of reef ecosystems has led to the recent development of active restoration approaches (Edwards *et al.* 2010, Rinkevich 2014, 2015). Active restoration methods aim to produce corals to restore degraded reefs through asexual (Bowden-Kerby 2001, Okubo *et al.* 2005, Shafir *et al.* 2006a, Levy *et al.* 2010, Shafir & Rinkevich 2010) or sexual propagation methods (Rinkevich 1995, Linden & Rinkevich 2011, 2017, Okamoto *et al.* 2012, Guest *et al.* 2014, Chamberland *et al.* 2017).

Asexual propagation, also known as fragmentation, is currently the most commonly used approach for reef restoration (Barton *et al.* 2017). Fragmentation allows for the creation of large quantities of coral colonies, but this is done at the expense of wild colonies, which are wholly or partly fragmented in the process (Rinkevich 1995), and results in clonal offspring potentially limiting genetic novelty and variation in restored areas (Shearer *et al.* 2009). These asexually produced coral colonies are transplanted to the reef within 6 months to 2 years after fragmentation and can have high survival rates, depending on factors such as species' growth rates, method of attachment and initial fragment size (Bowden-Kerby 2001, Raymundo & Maypa 2004, Yap 2004, Shafir *et al.* 2006a, Dizon *et al.* 2008, Levy *et al.* 2010, Shafir & Rinkevich 2010, Chamberland *et al.* 2016).

Recent studies have shown that, unlike asexual propagation methods, sexual propagation methods can produce very large quantities of coral colonies, which are all novel genetic combinations (Guest *et al.* 2014, Chamberland *et al.* 2016, Linden & Rinkevich 2017, Cruz & Harrison 2017). Currently, different concepts and methods are being tested, such as settling corals in land-based facilities and directly transplanting young settlers to the reef (Yap 2004, Guest *et al.* 2011, Chamberland *et al.* 2015), direct settling on the reef by confining larvae in the area (Cruz & Harrison 2017) or using spawning pools to direct the settlement of coral larvae (Heyward *et al.* 2002). There have also been suggestions to use genetic manipulation methods (van Oppen *et al.* 2015, Cleves *et al.* 2018) to create more robust corals for future restoration purposes. The use of coral larvae for restoration efforts has a much lower impact on the reef ecosystem than fragmentation because adult colonies do not need to be moved or damaged (Barton *et al.* 2017), and the gametes and larvae shed in the wild normally suffer extremely high natural mortality before and directly after settlement (Fabricius & Metzner 2004, Nozawa 2008).

Currently, most larvae for restoration purposes are settled *ex situ* and require a land-based facility, reliable electrical systems and labour to maintain the coral cultures, and as a result they regularly suffer from human errors and system failures. Disease outbreaks can further increase the costs to produce new corals in such facilities (Chamberland *et al.* 2015, Barton *et al.* 2017). Time spent rearing corals in an *ex situ* facility is expensive, and these costs can be reduced by transporting recently settled planulae to an *in situ* nursery, where the coral colonies can grow in a semi-controlled environment and have high survival rates, according to the rationale of "coral gardening" (Rinkevich 1995, 2014, 2015, Epstein *et al.* 2001).

Here we tested the first advanced *in situ* larval settling device specifically designed for brooding coral species. Our novel and simple prototype, called the "Coral Settlement Box" (CSB), was developed to trap, settle and rear the larvae of the brooding species *Stylophora pistillata* entirely *in situ*. The planulae were trapped and allowed to settle in the CSB on site, while the rearing of the settled colonies continued in a midwater nursery.

#### Chapter 5 The coral settlement box: A simple device to produce coral stock from brooded coral larvae entirely *in situ*

#### Methods

A clear 1.5 cm thick Plexiglas plate was used to construct a simple box (Fig. 1a; L x W x H: 50 x 40 x 6 cm). Two plates of 1.5 cm thick Plexiglas (L x W: 50 x 40 cm) formed the two outer walls of the box. Two Plexiglas frames (also 1.5 cm thick and 3 cm wide each) were sandwiched in between these plates, creating 4488 cm<sup>3</sup> of open space inside the box for coral planulae to move around. Plates and frames were held together with stainless-steel carriage bolts and stainless-steel wing nuts, which also held and stretched the settlement substrate, i.e., two black polypropylene plastic nets (Aquaculture netting; thickness: 1.6 mm, mesh size: 0.5 x 0.5 cm; Manufacturer: P.O.R., HaHotrim, Israel, Category #: 130033110501) over the front and back plate of the box (Fig. 1a). We chose to use a net substrate because it could be cut to produce surfaces harbouring single settlers for transplanting, a property that differs from most designs for transplanting recently settled corals (Okamoto *et al.* 2008, Omori & Iwao 2009, Guest *et al.* 2014, Chamberland *et al.* 2017). The nets covering the Plexiglas plates accounted for 3394 cm<sup>2</sup> of surface area available for settlement, which is 53% of the total surface area (6386 cm<sup>2</sup>) inside the CSB.



**Figure 1** (a) An exploded view of a Coral Settlement Box (CSB). Components consist of two large Plexiglas plates (40x1.5x50), two 3-cm-wide frames with an opening for a funnel (40x1.5x50), two 1-cm<sup>2</sup> mesh settlement substrates (40x50), ten winged nuts and complimentary carriage bolts, one thin plastic covered electrical wire, one funnel and one conical 120 µm plankton net. The small opening for insertion of a thin plastic-covered electrical wire that goes through the narrow part of the funnel ensures that the plankton net and funnel stay attached to the bottom of the CSB. The two settlement substrates were clamped and stretched onto the (front or back) plate with the carriage bolts and were then situated between the plates and the frames. Tightening the screws squeezes the two settlement substrates between the plate and the 3-cm-wide frames and seals the CSB. (b) The assembled CSB in vertical position (also denoting upper and lower half) with a plankton net attached to the funnel and a simple buoy at the top to keep the CSB afloat.

Plastic net substrates were conditioned for 6 months prior to the experiments by attaching them to the mid-water nursery (depth: 12 m) in front of the IOLR (Israel Oceanographic and Limnological Research) in Eilat, Israel, to allow the formation of biofilms (Harrison & Wallace 1990, Harrington *et al.* 2004). The plastic net substrates were inspected before being inserted into the CSB, but they contained no filter feeders or coral settlers prior to CSB assembly. Plexiglas

#### The coral settlement box: A simple device to produce coral stock from brooded coral larvae entirely *in situ*

components of the CSB were not conditioned and had accrued no biofilm prior to *in situ* instalment. A funnel was attached to the CSB by inserting a thin plastic-covered metal wire through a small hole drilled into the funnel and the funnel intake of the CSB (Fig. 1a). A nylon plankton net (mesh size 120  $\mu$ m) was attached to the funnel forming a conical net, which could be put over an adult colony to function as a "classic" planulae trap (*sensu* Amar *et al.*, 2007).

Planulae were collected from gravid *Stylophora pistillata* colonies, in front of the Interuniversity Institute for Marine Sciences (IUI) in Eilat, Israel. The CSBs (n=3) were placed over adult *S. pistillata* colonies (diameter: 14 to 28 cm) *in situ* (3-5 m depth) in April, 2011, i.e. the middle of the reproductive season of *S. pistillata* (Rinkevich & Loya 1987). Actively reproducing colonies suitable for seeding the CSBs were identified based on prior random placement of planulae traps (*sensu* Amar *et al.*, 2007). The estimated number of planulae collected by each CSB was based on the daily average number of planulae collected by these regular planulae traps, from 3 days before to 1 day after the period during which the CSBs were deployed (i.e., n=4 per CSB). Our goal was to collect at least 100 planulae per trap prior to their being used in subsequent experiments. Lastly, CSBs were brought into vertical position and kept afloat by adding air to an attached buoyancy device (Fig. 1b). Due to their size, the use of the CSBs was restricted to areas and periods with slow-moving currents to reduce drag-borne stress on the gravid coral colonies.

CSBs were placed over coral colonies at dusk and removed at dawn to collect larvae released at night (Rinkevich & Loya 1979a) over four consecutive days. A knot was tied in the plankton net after each night of collection, and the CSBs were tied to a nearby anchor during the day. The four-day collection period was chosen to account for the large variability in the number of planulae released per night by individual *S. pistillata* colonies in the northern Red Sea (Zakai *et al.* 2006, Shefy *et al.* 2018, Linden *et al.* 2018).

After the four-day larval collection period, the CSBs were once again closed by tying a knot in the plankton net and were positioned horizontally *in situ* (IUI, 3 m depth) for 72 hours. They were rotated every day, in the vertical plane, to improve the even distribution of planulae inside the CSBs. CSBs were subsequently transported in seawater inside an open plastic container to the mid-water nursery at North Beach (~29°32′18″ N, 34°58′12″ E; 6.8 km from IUI, 12 m depth). Upon arrival, the first CSB (1) was opened under water, and the flexible net-substrate was removed and hung vertically from a horizontal rope in the mid-water nursery, with no rigid Plexiglas plate support. The net-substrates (n=2) of CSB1 were placed in a cage made of white plastic mesh (4 cm<sup>2</sup>) to protect the nets from larger herbivores in the nursery *sensu* Linden and Rinkevich (2011).

When the opened box (CSB1) revealed that many of the planulae had settled on the Plexiglas instead of on the available net-substrate, we decided to not open the other CSBs (2 and 3) in an effort to limit the loss of settlers by allowing them time to grow from the Plexiglass onto the net-substrate. The second and third CSBs (2 and 3), therefore, were not disassembled, but they were hung vertically from a horizontal rope attached to the nursery. Two small openings (Ø 2-3 mm) on opposite sides of the CSBs were created by inserting a wooden wedge between the Plexiglas frames to increase water exchange between the contents of the CSBs and the surrounding water column. The downward-pointing funnel opening (Fig. 1a) was also left open to allow for the exchange of water.

Immediately after instalment in the mid-water nursery, the number of settlers inside one of the CSBs was quantified from photographs made through the transparent Plexiglas with an Olympus

#### The coral settlement box: A simple device to produce coral stock from brooded coral larvae entirely *in situ*

Stylus 720 SW. After 4 months *in situ*, these two CSBs (2 and 3) were also opened, but the net substrates (n= 4) were not removed from the Plexiglas plate as in CSB1 (Fig. 1a, 2) but secured in place with small plastic-covered wires and covered with the same type of mesh (1 cm<sup>2</sup>) used to construct cages around the nets of CSB1. After 5 months in the nursery, photographs were made of all nets (n= 6) to quantify the size and abundance of all settlers using ImageJ 1.50b software and the program Home Paint (Windows 10). The technical drawing of the CSB (Fig.1) was created with SketchUp 2016 (free version).

#### Results

Deployment of the CSBs did not cause visible damage to the colonies over which they were placed. The average number of planulae released per day per colony prior to the deployment of the CSBs was 119 (SD: 180, n=9) and varied between 2 and 558. The estimated number of planulae caught inside each CSB ranged between 133 (CSB2) and 1774 (CSB1) (Table 1).

A total of 161 individual settlers were identified on one side of one of the CSBs that was photographed when first introduced to the midwater nursery. Of the 161 settlers, 137 (85.1%) had attached to the Plexiglas and 24 were attached to one side of the net-substrate. Forty-eight settlers (~29.8%) had settled in aggregations (n>2), and a total of 14 aggregations were present (mean number of individuals per aggregation: 3.4, SD: 1.1). Most of the colonies (n=137, 85.1%) had settled in the upper half (Fig. 1b) of the CSB.

**Table 1** Planulae counts for the three coral settlement boxes (CSB) with estimated initial number ofplanulae based on n=4 samples per CSB, number of juvenile colonies and their sizes, after 5 months *in situ*.

CSB	Estimated	Nursery deployment	5 months <i>in situ</i>					
	planulae	status	Number of co	Average size				
	(±SD) inside		Net	Net	settlement			
	the CSB		substrate #1	substrate #2	(mm <sup>2</sup> ±SD)			
1	1774 ±735	Open	49	7	38.3 ±14.1			
2	133 ±59	Semi-open	3	11	38.0 ±16.3			
3	138 ±46	Semi-open	24	26	62.1 ±31.1			

After 5 months in the mid-water nursery, without any maintenance or cleaning, a total of 120 live colonies remained on the 6 net-substrates (Table 1). The CSB1 net-substrates (n=2) harboured a total of 49 and 7 colonies resulting from the estimated number of 1774 planulae initially trapped, i.e., 3.2% of the larvae in CBS1 had settled and survived after 5 months. A total of 14 and 50 juvenile colonies were found attached to the net-substrates of CBS2 and CBS3, respectively, i.e., 10.2 % and 36.2% survival for CSB2 and CSB3, respectively (Fig. 2). The average size of the 5-month-old colonies was 48.8 mm<sup>2</sup>, SD: 26.1 mm<sup>2</sup>, with an average density of one colony per 85 cm<sup>2</sup> of substrate surface and only 5 settlers remained on the Plexiglas of CSBs 2 and 3, i.e., on average 1.3 settlers per Plexiglas plate.

### Chapter 5 The coral settlement box: A simple device to produce coral stock from brooded coral larvae entirely *in situ*



**Figure 2** Five-month-old *Stylophora pistillata* (marked by red circles), each consisting of several polyps. Settled corals of this age are predominantly found on the plastic mesh and not on the underlying Plexiglas (Black bar = 1 cm).

#### Discussion

The main bottleneck for coral colony survival occurs during the earliest life stages when planulae and recent settlers are extremely vulnerable to predation, competition and mechanical damage (Fabricius & Metzner 2004, Nozawa 2008). For brooding and broadcasting coral species, *ex situ* rearing conditions can improve settlement and survival rates (Linden & Rinkevich 2011, Chamberland *et al.* 2017) but also may result in high rearing costs (Barton *et al.* 2017). A combination of *ex situ* and *in situ* methodologies generally reduces costs associated with coral restoration. By conducting some of the *ex situ* work in mid-water coral nurseries, reduced mortality rates can be achieved compared to methods whereby recently settled corals are transplanted directly onto the reef (Levy *et al.* 2010, Guest *et al.* 2014, Linden & Rinkevich 2017). Coral rearing whereby larvae are caught, settled and grown entirely *in situ*, therefore, has potential to reduce costs even more and makes it possible to rear corals in areas where there are no land-based facilities available for settling planulae.

After 5 months *in situ*, survival rates using CSBs are higher than rates reported for direct placement of *ex situ* settled colonies on the reef, as reported in the literature and reviewed in Linden and Rinkevich (2017). Plexiglas devoid of biofilms initially proved a better settlement substrate than biofilm-covered net-substrate, though settling on the Plexiglas drastically reduced settler survival compared to the net-substrate. After 5 months *in situ*, very few settlers remained on the Plexiglas, and we expect that the rigid, smooth surface of the Plexiglas in combination with the constant motion of the CSB in the water column caused settled corals to become dislodged at some point in time.

Unfortunately, we were unable to quantify the initial number of settlers for each of the CSB's. Our current CSB prototypes produced a total of 120 colonies from 3 traps after 5 months and were never taken out of the water, i.e., no *ex situ* steps were included and no time was invested in cleaning. Our only active involvement was trapping the planulae in the CSBs and opening the CSBs (at 0 days or after 4 months). The most labour-intensive aspect of this method involves the

#### The coral settlement box: A simple device to produce coral stock from brooded coral larvae entirely *in situ*

construction of the CSBs and the midwater nursery. Using CSBs as larval traps and settling devices, therefore, will simplify and reduce the production cost of large stock of settlers from larvae of brooding coral species for restoration activities. They will also be useful in remote reef locations, where *ex situ* facilities are often absent. Little to no training is required to successfully implement the CSB method, although its effectiveness may vary among locations and species.

The CSB can easily be adapted to address the particulars of working with other species, for instance by using variable settlement substrate types (Harrington *et al.* 2004, Omori & Iwao 2009, Chamberland *et al.* 2017), by increasing surface areas available for settlement and by adding microhabitats preferred by the targeted coral species (Nozawa 2008). We believe, therefore, that this device or advanced prototypes have the potential to become a valuable addition to the available toolbox for reef restoration aimed at restoring large areas in remote locations in a short period of time.

#### The coral settlement box: A simple device to produce coral stock from brooded coral larvae entirely *in situ*

#### Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the USAID-MERC program (No. M33-001), by the North American Friends of IOLR (NAF/IOLR), and by the Israeli-French High Council for Scientific & Technological Research Program (Maïmonide-Israel).
Synthesis and future directions

### Introduction

The mass production of new corals through sexual propagation is an attractive option for coral reef restoration compared to more commonly used methods whereby corals are fragmented. A key advantage of the sexual propagation method is that it yields large numbers of offspring representing novel genetic combinations, potentially better capable of dealing with environmental conditions at present day. Initiatives focussing on sexual propagation of corals focus almost exclusively on broadcast spawning species. Here I continue with a discussion of the results presented in previous chapters to provide directions for future research on methods to mass produce corals with a brooding reproductive strategy via sexual propagation.

### Mass production of brooding corals for eco-engineering

I developed methods to mass produce coral using sexually created offspring of the brooding species *S. pistillata.* These newly created corals can be used to restore degraded reef communities. Reef restoration is known to have positive effects on fisheries, tourism and coastal protection, and offers a potential source of new medicines (Spurgeon 1992, Barbier *et al.* 2011, Narayan *et al.* 2016, Hein *et al.* 2019, Zhao *et al.* 2019, Abdelhafez *et al.* 2020). Research on mass producing corals through sexual reproduction has foremost focused on species with broadcast spawning reproductive strategies (Babcock *et al.* 1986, Hayashibara *et al.* 2004, Omori 2005, Omori & Iwao 2014, Edwards *et al.* 2015, Chamberland *et al.* 2017, Cruz & Harrison 2017), in particular species whose populations experienced a drastic decline in previous decades in response to anthropogenic factors. Examples include the Caribbean Acropora species *A. palmata* and *A. cervicornis* (Boström-Einarsson *et al.* 2020, Cramer *et al.* 2020).

Coral species with a brooding reproductive strategy are often considered "weedy", because they grow fast and are short-lived (Loya 1976, Szmant 1986, Knowlton 2001, Glynn & Colley 2008, Doropoulos *et al.* 2015). Although the annotation "weedy" might seem undesirable, it highlights the capacity for such species to grow in environments that are unsuitable for many other hermatypic corals, including those with a broadcast spawning reproductive strategy. These brooding species can transform such otherwise harsh environments and create suitable conditions for the subsequent establishment of many other species. In other words, they represent perfect candidates to "jumpstart" the community development on degraded reef habitats and engineer the structures that will attract other species. Using brooding corals in reef restoration does not only have the advantage of fast growth, but also implies that fully formed planulae can be directly collected from adult colonies, avoiding the many risk-prone procedures (e.g., gamete mixing, rearing developing planulae) typical for raising broadcast spawning species. At the moment, brooding coral species are generally an overlooked option for reef restoration practices.

Most of the knowledge on succession within coral communities remains anecdotal, but generally shows that brooding corals are the first hermatypic corals establishing themselves in open areas. This is supported by for example observations made during the colonization of submerged lava flows in Hawai'i (Grigg & Maragos 1974), where *Pocillopora meandrina*, a brooding coral species, was an early colonizer of lava flows, that was eventually outcompeted by broadcasting coral species such as *Porites lobata* and *Montipora verrucosa*. Loya (1976) as another example, observed that *S. pistillata* eventually became outcompeted by broadcasting species including, e.g., *Favia favus* and *Platygyra lamellina* in the deeper areas (20-50m depth) near Eilat. The creation of a pioneering coral population on a denuded reef seems therefore a natural "first step"

to promote the natural development of a coral community that will eventually be taken over by competitively stronger K-selected coral species.

Many coral species with a brooding reproductive strategy ("r-selected, pioneering species") could serve as suitable candidates to restore lost coral communities on reefs that have become denuded of living hard corals. Assuming local factors responsible for the initial death of corals and the lack of natural recuperation are attended to first, active restoration using pioneering corals species on denuded reefs will rapidly create reef complexity, alter the environment and create additional niches. This particular approach assumes that the brooding species represent a natural foundation from which a local coral community can develop over time through natural succession. If there are still opportunities for dispersal by other species from nearby coral habitats, this may potentially result in a coral community resembling the original that was lost. This approach whereby communities establish themselves through natural succession may ultimately result in a more robust coral community than the active outplanting of end-successional (K-selected) species. The success of restoration efforts using pioneering species should consequently not be measured as the long-term survival of the initial transplants, but as the degree to which r-selected species become replaced by K-selected species in terms of density and abundance.

# Entrained planulation by the lunar cycle is exceptional in brooding coral species

Using the sexually produced planulae from brooding coral species, it is possible to create a vast number of corals, while retaining the genetic diversity of the population. Although planulae can be directly collected from brooders, predicting when planulation will occur is essential in order to effectively use brooding corals for restoration purposes. Being able to accurately predict when planulation will occur requires insight into the mechanisms that control the reproductive process. Many organisms in the world possess endogenous clocks that control biological processes in response to rhythmic changes in environmental factors such as light and temperature. Endogenous clocks also allow organisms to adjust their behaviour in anticipation of upcoming environmental changes or states (Levy et al. 2007). An important behavioural display that requires impeccable timing is the simultaneous release of egg and sperm cells into the water column by broadcast spawning corals. Broadcast spawning events can be predicted very precisely for many coral species in Minutes After Sunset (MAS) and days After Full Moon (AFM). The exact mechanisms that control this highly synchronous release of gametes are still poorly understood, but changing nightly light regimes by artificially providing "moonlight" at different cycles than naturally occurring has been shown to inhibit spawning (Kaniewska et al. 2015). It is therefore likely that nightly irradiation and changes therein influences the timing of spawning in many broadcasting coral species.

Brooding corals release planulae that no longer require fertilisation and can settle within a few hours after being released. Successful reproduction of brooding corals is therefore not reliant on the synchronization of planulation. As a result, unlike broadcasting coral species, brooding coral species release planulae over many days, weeks, or even months instead of during short "peak-events". Correlations between larval release and lunar cycles have been reported for certain brooding species, though the synchronization is less dramatic compared to gamete release in broadcast spawning species (Atoda 1947, Fadlallah 1983, Richmond & Hunter 1990, Tanner 1996, Fan *et al.* 2002). Many authors have assumed a strong relationship between larval release and lunar cycles (Atoda 1947, Lewis 1974, Stimson 1978, Fadlallah 1983, Szmant-Froelich *et al.* 1986, Richmond & Hunter 1990, Soong 1991, Tanner 1996, Vermeij *et al.* 2003, Zakai *et al.* 2006),

despite the small number of studies that (experimentally) demonstrated the influence of nightly irradiance on the reproductive timing in brooding corals.

To date, only Jokiel *et al.* (1985) provided convincing evidence for lunar entrainment of the reproductive cycle in a brooding coral (seasonal planulation cycles in *Pocillopora damicornis*). They showed that manipulating lunar irradiation resulted in a shift in the planulation rhythm that matched the shift in lunar timing, for two types of *P. damicornis*. This supports the notion that changes in nightly irradiation (lunar periodicity) act as Zeitgeber for the planulation cycle in *P. damicornis*.

Although broadcast spawning and brooding are generally referred to as sexual reproduction, there are species (e.g., *P. damicornis*) that seem to be able to produce planulae asexually as well as sexually (Stimson 1978, Stoddart 1983, Ayre & Miller 2004, Sherman *et al.* 2006, Medina-Rosas 2011, Schmidt-Roach *et al.* 2012, Crowder *et al.* 2014, Rinkevich *et al.* 2016). An even rarer characteristic of *P. damicornis* is its ability to reproduce not only as a brooder, but also via broadcast spawning. (Schmidt-Roach *et al.* 2012). Unfortunately, the results provided by Jokiel *et al.* (1985) are widely used to support the notion of circa-lunar planulation in brooding species in general, regardless of sexual or asexual reproduction (Fan *et al.* 2002, Zakai *et al.* 2006).

Like P. damicornis, S. pistillata shows periodic planulae release in Eilat, Israel (Chapter 2, Shefy et al., 2018; Zakai et al., 2006), where the highest numbers of planulae are released between December/January and March-June (Rinkevich & Loya 1979b, Zakai et al. 2006, Amar et al. 2007, Shefy et al. 2018). Unlike P. damicornis, all S. pistillata planulae are produced via sexual reproduction (Douek et al. 2011) and do not display the same consistent lunar periodicity of planulation as described in Jokiel et at. (1985). Similar to our findings in Chapter 2, where individual coral colonies have different planulation periods (25 or 35 days), extrapolation of the data provided by Fig. 5 in Zakai et al. (2006) shows that planulation peaks of S. pistillata are initially longer than a lunar month but change to shorter than a lunar month over a period of 4 lunar months. This results in an average period of approximately a lunar month, but the large variation in timing, especially when compared to the precision of planulation displayed by P. damicornis (see Fig. 1 in Jokiel et al. 1985), suggests that the data provided by Zakai et al. also undermines the idea that lunar irradiation functions as a Zeitgeber for S. pistillata. As a circa-lunar periodicity implies that the system is regulated by lunar irradiance, I therefore proposed to use the term "circatrigintan periodicity" to describe the planulation pattern of S. pistillata, thus removing the implied effect of lunar irradiation. Based on these findings, I also hypothesise that the planulation of sexually produced planulae by "true" brooders (e.g., corals not capable of spawning) in general is not influenced by lunar irradiation.

We can only speculate on the main drivers of a circatrigintan planulation cycle, what Zeitgebers exist, or if the process is initiated by e.g. water temperature and remains "free-running" until the water temperature drops below a certain threshold. Minimum and maximum temperature thresholds for coral reproduction have been suggested, not only for *S. pistillata* (Jokiel & Guinther 1978, Prasetia *et al.* 2017, Shefy *et al.* 2018). If the process is regulated by ambient temperature, it could explain several observations. For example, it could explain the observed increase in the length of the circannual reproduction period of *S. pistillata* over the past several decades as a consequence of the rising temperature of the Red Sea (Shefy *et al.* 2018). The tendency to release planulae around the full moon could be the result of a thermocline reaching to lower depths during neap-tides, thus locally elevating the temperature to levels that allow for the reproductive process to move forward or encourage planulation. This would also offer an explanation why the

planulation period is longer at the start of the reproductive period (intermittent temperature increase as the depth reached by the thermocline increases and decreases in accordance to the tides), but becomes shorter as the ambient temperature increases to a point where other factors such as ova maturation, fertilisation and planula development become limiting factors. To gain a better understanding of the underlying mechanisms, one would need to control the environment (and changes therein) experimentally, as done by Craggs *et al.* (2020).

# Settlement behaviour

The early stages of the coral's life are perhaps the most consequential and dynamic of all its life stages (Vermeij & Sandin 2008). Fabricius and Metzner (2004) estimated that 99% of all planulae *in situ* fall prey to the reef's many inhabitants. After successful settlement of the remaining few, additional factors such as sedimentation and exposure to grazing further contribute to high mortality rates (Harriott & Fisk 1988, Nozawa 2012, Trapon *et al.* 2013). Not surprisingly, the entire process from broadcasting or planulation up to and including the first few month's post-settlement is a major bottleneck to coral community development as mortality rates often approach 100%.

The survivorship of planulae and spats ex situ is generally higher compared to that of conspecifics that remain in situ. For S. pistillata, we found that the majority of planulae (45.4-63.2%) settled when placed inside a sealed Petri dish (i.e., dish + lid), which was subsequently fully submerged in a water-table. The dish was fitted with Mailer's paper on its bottom and underneath the lid. The Mailer's paper was covered with naturally developed biofilm and used as a settlement substrate (Chapter 3). We found that during the first 48 hours, most planulae settled on the downwardfacing side of the substrate (i.e., in an upside-down orientation) underneath the lid of the Petri dish, rather than on the upward-facing side at the bottom of the Petri dish. While the preference to settle in an upside-down fashion resulted in high settlement rates (Chapter 3), the remaining planulae shifted their preference towards settling on the bottom of the Petri dish after the first 48 hours. This change in settlement orientation could be due to the planulae's loss of buoyancy over time, as described by Szmant and Meadows (2006), indicating that ongoing physiological processes (e.g., use of lipid reserves) during the earliest larval stages likely affect settlement patterns in situ to some degree. Current ex situ sexual propagation methods often provide settlement substrates near the bottom of the containment and thus rely on planulae to "sink" or swim to the bottom to settle. Granted that most brooded planulae can settle within a few hours after release and that buoyancy might play a role in the settlement preference, I suggest changing protocols to include settlement surface located near the water surface as well as at the bottom, if the goal is to efficiently settle planulae.

Our goal was to maximize the efficiency and cost effectiveness of mass-produced brooded coral offspring. Some losses are always expected, because a fraction of "unsettled" planulae is naturally too unfit to survive (e.g., due to malformations). Handling planulae in a wet lab (using e.g., pipettes) likely further reduces their viability. To maximize the fraction of planulae that successfully settles, efforts should focus on 1) reducing the overall time that planulae are handled and 2) providing settlement substrates in a 3-dimensional environment as pointed out above.

Many of the benefits of settling larvae *ex situ*, such as reduced predation and controlled growth conditions, can also be achieved *in situ* despite losing some control in the form of limited access and exposure to natural variability (of, e.g., temperature and light). To collect and rear larvae of *S. pistillata in situ*, we created a setup where the buoyant planulae that are released were trapped in a container, thus creating a semi-enclosed environment while remaining *in situ*. The container,

named the Coral Settlement Box (CSB), also contained a settlement substratum (Chapter 5) and was placed above the colony. The temperature inside the container was assumed to be relatively stable as it was permanently submerged and some water exchange still took place between the contents of the container and the outside. Many of the planulae settled quickly inside the container and most of the settlement happened near the top of the container confirming earlier findings of a preference to settle on downward-facing substrates. Accordingly, the designed container could greatly benefit the mass production of new *S. pistillata* colonies as it greatly reduces the time needed to handle the planulae. However, a non-invasive method to count planulae that go into the container would be needed to confirm actual settlement rates.

# Caging

Long-term enclosures and caging have been extensively used in coral reef studies to investigate effects of herbivore exclusion on reefs. The results show that exclusion of herbivores generally enhances algal proliferation, which in turn negatively impacts both adult and settling corals (Lewis 1986, Lirman 2001, Hughes *et al.* 2007). Prolonged caging without any form of herbivory, particularly of small invertebrate herbivores (Omori & Iwao 2014, Craggs *et al.* 2019), can result in high mortality of coral colonies due to algal competition (Knoester *et al.* 2019). However, short-term caging studies have shown some success by 1) enclosing motile larvae *in situ* and thereby limiting larval mobility, resulting in higher local settlement rates within specific areas on reefs (Heyward *et al.* 2002, Edwards *et al.* 2015, Cruz & Harrison 2017) and by 2) protecting recently settled coral spat from accidental grazing by larger indiscriminate herbivores (Baria *et al.* 2010, Nakamura *et al.* 2011, Penin *et al.* 2011).

Our findings for *S. pistillata* showed that at least 9 months of caging, with a 1 cm<sup>2</sup> mesh, improved initial survival of coral settlers, in the nursery, due to reduced accidental grazing and dislodgement by larger fauna (Chapter 4). In these experiments, we did not remove naturally settled herbivores from the cages nor did we exclude the contribution of small herbivores that could have entered the cages. The experiments were conducted on a mid-water nursery that was not located next to a coral reef and therefore only reachable for many reef inhabitants via the pelagic. All the herbivores that settled on the tray containing corals, such as snails and sea urchin, arrived from the water column. It is likely that caging will have protected smaller herbivores that arrived from e.g., the plankton that also may have contributed to reduced algal build up inside the cages and increased survival rates of young coral spat.

Since prolonged caging of a coral reef can greatly reduce coral performance (Hughes *et al.*, 2007), the time that recently settled corals spent encaged in nurseries should be carefully considered. However, our results clearly show that protection of recently settled spat by caging reduces otherwise high mortality rates *in situ*. In addition, the optimal time to remove a cage might also provide an indication of what size and/or age of settled corals are best suited for outplanting and survival success.

# **The Coral Settlement Box**

To make use of the high settlement rates of *S. pistillata* we designed and tested a new tool, the Coral Settlement Box (CSB), to collect and settle planulae and rear them entirely *in situ*. This method is specific to brooding coral species with buoyant larvae and allows for the mass production of corals in their own environment. Accordingly, it does not require expensive *ex situ* land-based facilities and supporting personnel. We found that through the use of a CSB (Chapter 5) many planulae were caught directly in the field that subsequently settled in large numbers.

Although the survival in CSBs after a few months was lower compared to the success of previous methods (Chapter 3 and 4), with a few adjustments this CSB-concept should be capable of producing better results compared to *ex situ* methods. Initial methods for collecting and rearing *S. pistillata* larvae required *ex situ* steps, transplantation from Mailer's paper to the final settlement substrates, and transportation to a midwater nursery (Chapter 3 and 4). Using the CSBs larvae settled directly on final substrates, in this case consisting of mesh that could be cut to size and attached to the benthos where needed. This approach no longer required an *ex situ* step and could transport the CSBs to a midwater nursery directly after settlement.

The previous findings, in Chapters 3 and 4, provide some insights on how the initial design and efficiency of the CSB can be improved. There was a nonuniform settlement pattern throughout the contraption as most settlers were found in the upper half of the box reflecting their preference to settle higher in the water column as described in Chapter 3. The loss of colonies in the mid-water nursery was likely due to the vertical orientation of the substrate in the water column (See Chapter 4). The majority of settled-planulae chose to settle on the CSB's unconditioned Plexiglass sides instead of the preconditioned substrate provided. S. pistillata is known to be an eager settler, but previous observations in Chapter 3 reflected that substrate with biofilm was preferred over the exposed plastic sides of the Petri dish. The substrate used in the CSB was conditioned in a different location and of a different material than the substrate that was used in the Petri dish experiment, which could be the cause for the discrepancy found. Each of these points can be addressed in future versions of the CSB, and there are many more aspects that can be changed and improved upon (e.g., ease-of-use of the CSB or recyclability of settlement substrate). For example, the Plexiglass could be replaced by another material that discourages settlement (unstable settlement surface such as fine mazed flexible mesh bag), or coated with settlement discouraging chemical compounds. The settlement surface area in the top of the container can be increased by using small positively-buoyant settlement substrate units. Another option is to fill the entire open space with many loose settlement substrate units. This creates a maze of spaces for the planulae to roam and settle in, instead of the single open space where planulae can only settle on the sides of the container.

# Research directions for mass production of brooding coral species

While current methods for rearing sexually propagated larvae for specific coral species are being developed, the actual application of such techniques in reef restoration has only recently been implemented and remains small in scale. Most restoration programs mass-produce corals via fragmentation and tend to focus on species that can be easily reared. Such selection is often a poor reflection of the natural diversity found on local reefs. Programs using sexual propagation methods focus on broadcast spawning corals, while brooding coral species are arguably just as important for reef restoration and much less complex to propagate sexually. Besides the advantages that brooding coral species have to offer, developing methods for sexual propagation of an increasing number of coral species will greatly benefit reef restoration. A greater range of available species could cover a wider range of niches and increase the effectiveness of the tool as well as its applicability. Finetuning existing methodologies to cater to the specific life history needs of each species will additionally contribute to the effectiveness of restoration efforts, and further reduce costs, which is one of the main obstacles limiting current restoration efforts via sexual propagation.

Some brooding corals have pioneering qualities that are an overlooked asset in the restoration of degraded reefs. Pioneering corals are often sturdier and could provide a foundation for further

coral community development in places where all, or nearly all, coral has disappeared. An important consideration, as coral reefs continue to degrade, is whether restoration of coral species that have failed to prevail is even sustainable. Although untested, I propose that the outplanting of pioneering corals is a promising, but often overlooked option, especially during the initial restoration efforts on strongly degraded reefs where most corals have died.

### Substrate innovation

The settlement substrate is the coral's foundation from settlement to final outplanting. Having the means to directly influence this environment, via the composition and shape of the substrate and its placement and orientation, allows for a wide scale of interventions aimed at increasing settlers' survival rates. Acute dangers directly after settlement such as indiscriminate grazing, sedimentation, desiccation and competition can all be controlled *ex situ*, but potentially also through the specific design of settlement substates.

Settlement substrate design has been mostly limited to simple formats such as pegs, tiles, and recently tetrapods (Fig. 1). Several aspects need to be considered when choosing a settlement substrate such as settlement preference, portability and ease of underwater attachment (e.g., on a reef flat).



**Figure 1** A few examples of innovative settlement substrate used for settling coral larvae. a) A tile with micro-crevasses to provide protection from grazers (Nozawa, 2008; but see also Doropoulos *et al.*, 2016). b) Tiles that provide horizontal and vertical niche space (Petersen *et al.* 2005b). c) The Coral Peg used to settle *Acropora tenuis* (Omori & Iwao 2009). d-g) Two tetrapod designs used for outplanting *F. fragum* (Chamberland *et al.* 2017).

Controlling the settlement substrate size gives a means to control the density of settlement per substrate unit, e.g., smaller substate units result in less settlements per unit, which is especially of interest for species that aggregate their settlements. For such aggregating species, closely packed substrate units at the size of pins could provide a means to separate the aggregates into

smaller/individual settlements. Planulae preferences for different types of physical structure and orientation for settlement, regardless of chemical cues, have only been tested in limited cases for a few species (Petersen *et al.* 2005b). Improvements on placement, structural complexity and substrate size will contribute to higher settlement rates and more efficient mass production of new corals.

Local discouragement of the settlement of planulae can be very useful for species that settle gregariously. Covering areas, like the anchor of the settlement substrate or parts that will be inserted into the reef with metamorphosis deterrents or "blockers", would reduce the number of settlers that settle in such areas and that would thus be lost upon outplanting. Partial covering of specific areas on the settlement substrate could also be used to limit the number of settlers per unit area, in order to decrease the number of colonies lost due to intraspecific competition on the same settlement substrate (Rinkevich & Loya 1983, 1985).

One of the key issues relevant for substrate choice is the attachment of the substrate to the reef during outplanting. Chamberland et al. (2017) showed that tetrapods (Fig. 1) can be randomly distributed over the reef area, whereby most of them get "stuck" somewhere on the reef during the next 6 months. This is a fast way to distribute settlement tiles as one does not need to attach each substrate unit to the reef by hand. However, it does require a certain amount of rugosity in the reef topography to be successful. Other common methods for attaching coral substrates are screws, nails, drilling & gluing, tying, and cementing. Unfortunately, all of them are labour intensive, creating a need to find more efficient ways to attach coral substrates under water. The most efficient method would be some sort of rapid in situ self-attachment of the substrate to the outplanting area, preventing high energy currents and storms from dislodging and destroying the transplant and its surroundings. We are unaware of such methods and therefore propose a few alternatives that may decrease time spent on restoring a denuded coral reef. Firstly, although untested, light cured silicone-based glue that hardens when exposed to ultraviolet light is potentially a faster attachment method than any of the previously mentioned. Cementing would take between 3-30 seconds depending on the bond strength. Light cured silicone-based glue could really speed up outplanting to rival that of Chamberland et al. (2017) and would be less dependent on rugosity of the reef. It would be faster and less invasive than some of the other methods mentioned above. Another option could be to create a piece of transplantable reef (sensu Golomb et al., 2020) in a nursery that can be outplanted as is. It might even be possible to create such ready-transplantable units from settlement in a containment like the CSB. For example, an artificial reef unit (a frame) with 100 newly reared colonies could be cemented to the reef and would drastically reduce time compared to attaching and removing individual settlement substrates with a similar number of corals. Clearly, more research will be needed to advance and compare these methods.

# Mass production of corals in situ

Relocating all land-based practises of coral mass production to coastal waters nearby potential transplant candidates (denuded reefs) removes the necessity of expensive land-based facilities and reduces transport logistics. At the same time, it opens up a new frontier for establishing coral production with high connectivity and potential mobility without ever leaving *in situ* conditions. The construction, labour, and maintenance of infrastructure needed to house coral stock *in situ* is a fraction of the costs of land-based facilities. The stock required to restore degraded reefs is much greater than the current production capacity, which makes in *situ* rearing even more attractive. Natural sea water temperatures and currents provide, under normal circumstances,

cost-free environmental stabilisation and water movement needed for e.g., oxygen supply and waste removal. *In situ* approaches, however, do increase the risk of e.g., disease outbreaks and competitive overgrowth by other organisms. Finding a balance between such "hands on" and "hands off" aspects need to be considered to achieve the most efficient sexual propagation method for each species.

Besides the economic and logistic advantages for propagating corals entirely *in situ*, there are other important aspects that can be better addressed *in situ*. For example, local settlement under *in situ* conditions will allow better acclimatization to final outplanting conditions. Furthermore, in situ approaches may enable the use of a much wider range of species for reef restoration, and may enhance genetic diversity to create more robust coral communities on a local scale.

Further development of this technique and techniques like it, that focus on *in situ* rearing of coral colonies (Heyward *et al.* 2002, Omori *et al.* 2004b), should be paramount. Local stake holders can easily be involved to rear corals for the restoration of local reefs. Involving the local community has been shown to result in a better awareness and acceptance, which contributes greatly to the success of reef restoration efforts (Christie & White 2007, Cinner *et al.* 2013, Hein *et al.* 2019). Capturing and settling planulae *in situ* will contribute to such ambitions by reducing costs and providing a means to restore a natural resource to communities that do not have access to expensive land-based facilities. These techniques and methods are capable of providing genetically diverse generations of corals and potentially have an even higher production capacity than possible via commonly used present-day approaches that rely on fragmentation for mass production and approaches that rely on land-based coral nurseries.

# Summary

#### Innovative methods for the mass production of brooding coral via sexual propagation

Many methods are currently being developed to restore coral reefs from the damaging effects of climate change and other anthropogenic pressures. In this thesis, I contribute to coral reef restoration by the development of new methods for the rearing of corals by sexual propagation. One of the major objections to sexual propagation of coral species is its high costs. The time and finances required to catch coral planulae, raise these planulae under (semi)-artificial conditions and finally transplant juvenile coral back on the reef often hinder the applicability beyond scientific purposes. Most research on sexual propagation of corals concerns species that reproduce via broadcast spawning, where corals release large numbers of gametes during short periods at (semi)predictable times. In this thesis I intended to contribute to the knowledge of sexual propagation of corals process release fully developed larvae that can settle within a few hours after release.

I first investigated the timing and number of larvae released per individual *S. pistillata* to determine if, like broadcast spawning corals, there is synchronisation between coral reproduction and environmental variables such as temperature, solar radiation, and tidal range. Previous studies on the same species produced conflicting results as some studies claimed circalunar planulation behaviour, but others did not find it. We found that the timing of planulae release occurred before as well as after full moon, with some coral individuals showing a circa 35-day cycle and others a circa 25-day cycle. We suggest that this behaviour is more accurately described as circatrigintan and that the exact timing of planulation peaks is difficult to predict. Unlike broadcast spawning species the reproductive season of *S. pistillata* is very long and lasts for many months. The optimal timing for the collection of planula larvae is therefore less restricted for *S. pistillata* than for broadcasting species, though planula-yield on a daily basis per coral head is also lower.

The settlement of planula larvae and the type of substrate on which they settle play a major role in effective mass production of corals. The transition from planula to settler is therefore a crucial process. High success rates (low mortality rates) in capture, settlement and growth make proposed restoration methods more cost-effective. Our investigation of the settlement process revealed that the buoyant planulae of S. pistillata not only settled readily in a closed container, but that there was an initial preference for settling in the top of the container resulting in higher settlement rates on downward facing surfaces. We also showed that settling coral on a separate substratum allowed for easy removal and transfer of the colony. Using this method, it is possible to create transplantable units containing only a single, or if desired, multiple colonies. Less than 2% of the colonies dislodged from the transplantable unit during shipping from the lab (ex situ) to the mid-water coral nursery (in situ). Controlling the number of colonies present on a transplantable unit reduced intraspecific competition normally experienced by coral species that settle in aggregations. The capability to split a single aggregated settlement, consisting of multiple individuals, into separate individual colonies can be used to increase the number of transplantable units e.g. one aggregated coral colony consisting of 10 individuals on one transplantation unit, or 10 individual coral colonies on 10 separate transplantation units. This method can be useful when the number of planulae or the settlement success are limiting factors. The method has high survival rates and directly increased yield and reduced the need for ex situ manual labour.

Coral spats were reared on a mid-water nursery in the Red Sea, near Eilat, Israel, which is much less expensive than the costs associated with *ex situ* facilities. Growth and survival rates were

recorded for two different orientations, two types of nursery substrate and the presence or absence of a cage to suppress herbivory. Data was recorded for 2 years *in situ*, of which some of the coral spats spent the first 9 months in caged conditions. Horizontal, netted nursery substrate with a cage for 9 months resulted in the highest survival after 2 years *in situ* (80.8%). Caged conditions had the greatest contribution to the survival of the young colonies, followed by horizontal orientation. Colonies grown inside the mid-water nursery grew twice as fast as previously described natal colonies.

Combining the previously described methods we created the next step to capture and settle planulae in enclosed conditions and transport the containers (Coral Settlement Box), with settlements, directly to a mid-water nursery, effectively skipping all *ex situ* steps previously performed. The corals experienced relatively low survival rates using this method, but we also proposed improvements that could potentially increase the yield from its current estimated 5% to 40% or higher. This would be similar to the methods we developed using an *ex situ* step to mass-produce coral colonies (60% settlement rates, 80% survival the first one and a half months *ex situ* and 80-90% survival from 1 to 24 months *in situ*). The use of Coral Settlement Boxes for mass production of brooding corals from larvae requires little labour and is inexpensive, simple, and can be upscaled to larger quantities.

In conclusion, although the new methods advanced in this thesis can still be further improved, my results show that sexual propagation of brooding corals is a feasible strategy to mass produce coral colonies that can be used in coral reef restoration.

# Samenvatting

#### Innovatieve methoden voor de massaproductie van broedend koraal via seksuele voortplanting

Momenteel worden verschillende methodieken ontwikkeld om koraalriffen, die zijn aangetast door klimaatverandering en andere antropogene invloeden, te herstellen. Met dit proefschrift draag ik bij aan deze ontwikkeling door het beschrijven van nieuwe methodieken om koralen te kweken via seksuele voortplanting. Eén van de grootste obstakels bij de productie van koraalsoorten via seksuele voortplanting is de hoge kosten die dat met zich meebrengt. Het kost namelijk veel tijd en geld om de larven van koralen te vangen, deze op te laten groeien onder semi-artificiële omstandigheden, en uiteindelijk het jongvolwassen koraal te transplanteren naar het koraalrif. Om deze redenen wordt koraalproductie via seksuele voortplanting vooral toegepast voor wetenschappelijke doeleinden. Het onderzoek naar de productie van koraal via seksuele voortplanting heeft zich tot nu toe voornamelijk gericht op kuitschietende koraalsoorten. Kuitschietende koralen planten zich voort door massale verspreiding van hun gameten in het zeewater gedurende korte perioden op (semi-)voorspelbare tijden. In dit proefschrift hebben we een andere strategie gevolgd door de massaproductie van broedende koralen te onderzoeken. Broedende koralen onderscheiden zich van kuitschietende koraalsoorten door zich voort te planten via het "uitbroeden" van de bevruchte eitjes tot larven. Broedende koraalsoorten laten hun larven pas vrij in het zeewater als deze vrijwel volledig zijn ontwikkeld en deze larven kunnen zich daarna binnen enkele uren vestigen om een nieuwe koraalkolonie te beginnen. Als model voor broedende koralen is in dit onderzoek gekozen voor Stylophora pistillata.

Ik heb eerst onderzoek gedaan naar de timing en het aantal larven dat wordt vrijgelaten door individuele S. *pistillata* kolonies. Hierbij heb ik ook gekeken of er, net als bij de kuitschietende koralen, synchronisatie plaatsvindt tussen koraalreproductie en omgevingsvariabelen zoals bijvoorbeeld de stand van de maan, temperatuur, zonnestraling en getijverschil. Eerdere studies bij dezelfde soort leverden tegenstrijdige resultaten op, aangezien sommige studies wel een correlatie vonden tussen het vrijlaten van larven en de stand van de maan, en anderen niet. Ik ontdekte dat het vrijkomen van de larven zowel voor als na volle maan plaatsvond, waarbij sommige koraalindividuen een cyclus van rond de 35 dagen hebben en anderen een cyclus van rond de 25 dagen. Omdat er niet voldoende bewijs is dat de maan direct invloed heeft op de timing, stel ik voor om deze cyclus te omschrijven als "circatrigintan", dat wil zeggen een cyclus met een periode van ongeveer 30 dagen. Tevens blijkt uit mijn bevindingen dat de exacte timing waarop de meeste larven worden vrijgegeven nogal onvoorspelbaar kan zijn. In tegenstelling tot kuitschietende koraalsoorten is het voortplantingsseizoen van S. pistillata erg lang (maanden, in plaats van enkele dagen per jaar). De optimale tijd voor de collectie van larven is daardoor in mindere mate een beperkende factor voor het kweken van broedend koraal zoals S. pistillata dan voor de kuitschietende koraalsoorten. Echter, op dagelijkse basis, produceren broedende koralen veel minder larven per koraalhoofd in vergelijking met de massale productie van gameten door kuitschietende koralen.

Het type substraat en de manier waarop de larven zich daaraan bevestigen spelen een belangrijke rol bij de overleving van koraal. De overgang van larve naar koraal is daarom een cruciaal proces. De hier voorgestelde methoden voor het vangen, vestigen en kweken van *S. pistillata* hebben een hoog slagingspercentages (getypeerd door lage sterftecijfers). Uit de resultaten bleek dat de larven van *S. pistillata* niet alleen gemakkelijk in een gesloten container konden worden opgevangen, maar dat de larven aanvankelijk een voorkeur hadden om zich helemaal bovenin de container te vestigen. Naar alle waarschijnlijkheid werd dit veroorzaakt door het positieve drijfvermogen van de larven, wat leidde tot hogere vestigingspercentages op oppervlakken die naar beneden gericht waren. Door de larven zich te laten vestigen op een apart flexibel substraat,

#### Samenvatting

dat bevestigd was aan de container, konden de gevestigde koraalkolonies gemakkelijk worden los gemaakt nadat deze een calcium skelet hadden gevormd. Hierdoor waren deze kolonies ook gemakkelijk over te plaatsen naar een andere plek. Met deze methode is het mogelijk om transplanteerbare eenheden te creëren die slechts één of, indien gewenst, meerdere kolonies bevatten. Minder dan 2% van de koraalkolonies ging verloren tijdens transport van het laboratorium naar een kraamkamer in de zee. Door het aantal kolonies op een transplanteerbare eenheid te beperken, verminderde de intraspecifieke concurrentie die gewoonlijk plaatsvindt bij koraalsoorten die zich in aggregaties vestigen op substraat. Door aggregaties van gevestigde koraal op te splitsen in meerdere losse individuen kan de productie van transplanteerbare eenheden verder worden vergroot. Dit soort technieken kunnen van belang zijn voor het creëren van een groter aantal transplanteerbare eenheden als de aanvoer van larven of de succesvolle vestiging van aggregerende koraalsoorten een beperkende factor is. Deze methode heeft een hoog overlevingspercentage, verhoogt direct de opbrengst en vermindert de hoeveelheid arbeid die anders nodig zou zijn voor langere kweektijden.

De jonge koralen werden gekweekt in een koraalkraamkamer in de Rode Zee, vlakbij de stad Eilat in Israël. De koraalkraamkamer is essentieel voor koraal productie omdat het langdurig kweken in zee vele malen goedkoper is dan het langdurig kweken in een laboratorium. Ik onderzocht de groei- en overlevingskans van jonge koralen (1,5 maand oud) in de koraalkraamkamer. Hierbij is gekeken naar het effect van oriëntatie, vestigingssubstraat en, gedurende de eerste 9 maanden, de aan- of afwezigheid van een beschermende kooi. De koralen werden 2 jaar lang in de koraalkraamkamer gevolgd. De horizontale oriëntatie van koralen in een beschermende kooi gaf het beste resultaat na 2 jaar (80,8% overleving). De aanwezigheid van een kooi had de grootste invloed op het overleven van de jonge kolonies in de koraalkweekkamer. Het opgroeien in een horizontale oriëntatie was de tweede meest invloedrijke factor. Kolonies in de koraalkweekkamer groeiden twee keer zo snel in vergelijking met eerder gepubliceerde gegevens over de groei van *S. pistillata* kolonies in het wild.

De combinatie van bovenstaande bevindingen leidde tot een nieuwe methode om koraallarven, direct na het vrijkomen in het water, in een gesloten en beschermde omgeving (container) op te vangen en te laten vestigen zonder deze uit zee te halen. Deze containers (Coral Settlement Boxes, CSB) met neergestreken koraal werden na het vangen van de larven rechtstreeks naar de koraalkweekkamer gebracht. Door de larven direct in een container op te vangen en de mogelijkheid te geven om zich in de container te vestigen konden alle gebruikelijke kweekstappen in het laboratorium effectief worden overgeslagen. Deze nieuwe methode produceerde een relatief lage opbrengst van koraal. We stellen dan ook verbeteringen voor die de opbrengst zouden kunnen verhogen van de huidige geschatte 5% tot 40% of meer. Met die verbeteringen zouden volgens onze inschatting de overlevingskansen van de nieuwe methode (CSB) vergelijkbaar zijn met de overlevingskansen van onze eerder beschreven methodes: 1) het vestingen van de larven in een container in een laboratorium (60% overleving) en ex situ kweek tot 1,5 maand oud (80% overleving). 2) het horizontaal met een kooi voor 24 maanden laten opgroeien in een koraalkweekkamer (80-90% overleving). Het gebruik van de CSB voor de massaproductie van broedend koraal vereist weinig arbeid, is goedkoop, eenvoudig en kan gemakkelijk worden opgeschaald. Deze nieuwe methode (CSB) biedt ruime mogelijkheden om verder ontwikkeld te worden. In het totaal laten de resultaten in dit proefschrift zien dat het produceren van broedend koraal via seksuele voortplanting een geschikte mogelijkheid is die kan worden ingezet voor het herstel van koraalriffen.

# Author contributions

Chapter 2: BL and BR conceived the project and designed the experiment. BL carried out the field work. BL analysed the data with inputs of BR and JH. BL, BR and JH wrote the manuscript. All authors gave final approval for publication.

Chapter 3: BL and BR conceived the project and designed the experiment. BL carried out the field work. BL analysed the data with inputs of BR. BL and BR wrote the manuscript. Both authors gave final approval for publication.

Chapter 4: BL and BR conceived the project and designed the experiment. BL carried out the field work. BL analysed the data with inputs of BR. BL and BR wrote the manuscript. Both authors gave final approval for publication.

Chapter 5: BL and BR conceived the project and designed the experiment. BL carried out the field work. BL analysed the data with input of BR and MJAV. BL, MJAV and BR wrote the manuscript. All authors gave final approval for publication.

# Acknowledgements

# My PhD advisors

First and foremost, the most important person for me in this whole process has been Buki Rinkevich. My trusted, ever enthusiastic Co-Promotor without whom this would not have been possible. You gave me the freedom to pursue my, somewhat chaotic, ideas while always ready to provide insightful feedback and support. I hope to continue to be able to count on your support going forward into new territory in coral reef restoration practises, fuelled with new ideas and solutions.

Jef Huisman, although I was thrown into your lap, you were always very enthusiastic and kind. I want to thank you for your encouragements and your support through this process. You were a great help in distilling my ideas into concise understandable text, which made you an invaluable addition to the thesis as it is presented here. I would also like to thank you for being one of my guides in the PhD process, I could not have done it without you.

Mark Vermeij, I was also thrown into your lap without so much as an introduction. Of course, I was more than happy to have planulae celebrity as Co-promotor! I only wish I could have had the opportunity to actually work with you and learn/observe and interact with the CARMABI lab, but by this time that was too late and basically just writing the last article of this thesis. Maybe one day we will be able to cooperate or butt heads on another project. I want to thank you for all the effort you put into helping me finish this thesis.

Rolf Bak, thank you for your initial belief in me and helping me getting started on the road which I now walk. Thanks to you I was able to pursue my PhD via the UvA and the IOLR. For that you have my gratitude.

# Faculty

I would also like to thank the faculties of IBED, IOLR and IUI. So many people I want to thank! Keren-Or Amar, Guy Paz, Shai Shafir and Jacob Douek showing me some of the ropes at IOLR, Yuval Rinkevich and our discussions about fluorescent camels and pull up competitions in the lab. Noga Stambler for letting me rumble around in the Bar-Ilan lab at IUI. Pascal at IBED and Roni at IOLR for providing the necessary administrative support I needed to get things done. Oded Ben-Shaprut, the dive boss at IUI who never liked anything about me (which was an inside joke). Gadi (the other dive boss), who never spoke a word of English, but somehow, we were always able to communicate.

# My family

Ank, Gerard, Annet and most importantly Mirna, without you I would not have been able to even start, *let al*one finish this thesis. Thank you for your everlasting support, patience, encouragement and pushing when I needed it. Trying to put my thanks into words feels like it would always fall short or diminish it in some way.

# My Colleagues and Friends

Ha! I'm not even sure if any of them will read this, but should they perchance come around to it.

Asaf Lazerus, thank you for helping me get settled in Eilat and the good times on the boat. I learned a lot about underwater construction from you and for that I will always be thankful.

Esther Borell, my sister of another mister! Thank you for all your advice and many evenings of alcohol fuelled discussions and contemplations. They made me feel like I was home. I still remember fondly al those times we had venting our frustrations when our culture clashed with our surroundings, although we were both very happy to be there. I hope our paths will cross again.

Itay Cohen, the guy that can never say no. One of the kindest souls I had the pleasure to know. I'm sure we will meet again. You, Dana and all your kids will always have a home in my heart. Thank you for all your hospitality and your warmth and in loving memory of Chelsey.

Haitham Bayoumi, thank you for being you and your family for their hospitality! I will never forget you, your mother and your sisters and of course your aunt with whom I shared many a deep conversation in completely different languages.

Zeev Siles, I will never forget our nights with Haitham together in Haifa (@ the Port Inn). I hope you will succeed in achieving your dreams and I'm looking forward to seeing you as mayor and bike lanes in Haifa! (horaah for electric bikes)

Moran Moreno, the strictest (best) dive instructor (You're better than Sam). I always thoroughly enjoyed your openness and candid conversations. I'm sure your cat still hates me. :P Always busy, I hope you find enough time to take good care of yourself, you sure as hell deserve it!

My Dutch friends: Jorn Boscha, Krijn Michel and Patriek Bron, as well as Sander Meilink, Maarten Meilink, Paul Crowe, Roel Arts, Stan de Wijs and Vincent van Druten. Thank you for the laughs, drinks and good times as well as keeping the thesis-question-torturing to a minimum.

And last but not least: all my other friends and colleagues, Omer, Yaniv, Gal, Yossi, Stefanie, Marina, Mbije, Rael, Shani, Dan, Tal, etc.; All the people from the lab and Eilat. I miss you and I hope you are all in good health.

# References

- Abdelhafez OH, Ali TFS, Fahim JR, Desoukey SY, Ahmed S, Behery FA, Kamel MS, Gulder TA, Abdelmohsen UR (2020) Anti-inflammatory potential of green synthesized silver nanoparticles of the soft coral *Nephthea* Sp. supported by metabolomics analysis and docking studies. Int J Nanomedicine Volume 15:5345–5360.
- Amar KO, Chadwick NE, Rinkevich B (2008) Coral kin aggregations exhibit mixed allogeneic reactions and enhanced fitness during early ontogeny. BMC Evol Biol 8:126.
- Amar KO, Chadwick NE, Rinkevich B (2007) Coral planulae as dispersion vehicles: Biological properties of larvae released early and late in the season. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 350:71–78.
- Amar KO, Rinkevich B (2007) A floating mid-water coral nursery as larval dispersion hub: Testing an idea. Mar Biol 151:713–718.
- Amar KO, Rinkevich B (2010) Mounting of erratic histoincompatible responses in hermatypic corals: A multi-year interval comparison. J Exp Biol 213:535 LP 540.
- Anthony K, Bay LK, Costanza R, Firn J, Gunn J, Harrison P, Heyward A, Lundgren P, Mead D, Moore T, Mumby PJ, van Oppen MJH, Robertson J, Runge MC, Suggett DJ, Schaffelke B, Wachenfeld D, Walshe T (2017) New interventions are needed to save coral reefs. Nat Ecol Evol 1:1420–1422.
- Aronson RB, Bruno JF, Precht WF, Glynn PW, Harvell CD, Kaufman L, Rogers CS, Shinn EA, Valentine JF, Pandolfi JM, Bradbury RH, Sala E, Hughes TP, Bjorndal KA, Cooke RG, McArdle D, McClenachan L, Newman MJH, Paredes G, Warner RR, Jackson JBC, Baird AH, Bellwood DR, Connolly SR, Folke C, Grosberg R, Hoegh-Guldberg O, Kleypas J, Lough JM, Marshall P, Nyström M, Palumbi SR, Pandolfi JM, Rosen B, Roughgarden J (2003) Causes of coral reef degradation. Science (80-) 302:1502–1504.
- Atoda K (1947) The larva and postlarval development of some reef-building corals. II. *Stylophora pistillata* (Esper). Sci Reports Tôhoku Univ 4th Ser:48–64.
- Ayre DJ, Hughes TP (2004) Climate change, genotypic diversity and gene flow in reef-building corals. Ecol Lett 7:273–278.
- Ayre DJ, Miller KJ (2004) Where do clonal coral larvae go? Adult genotypic diversity conflicts with reproductive effort in the brooding coral *Pocillopora damicornis*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 277:95–105.
- Babcock R, Mundy C (1996) Coral recruitment: Consequences of settlement choice for early growth and survivorship in two scleractinians. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 206:179–201.
- Babcock RC, Bull GD, Harrison PL, Heyward AJ, Oliver JK, Wallace CC, Willis BL (1986) Synchronous spawnings of 105 scleractinian coral species on the Great Barrier Reef. Mar Biol 90:379–394.
- Babcock RC, Heyward AJ (1986) Larval development of certain gamete-spawning scleractinian corals. Coral Reefs 5:111–116.
- Baird AH, Guest JR, Willis BL (2009) Systematic and biogeographical patterns in the reproductive biology of scleractinian corals. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 40:551–571.
- Baird AH, Marshall PA, Wolstenholme J (2000) Latitudinal variation in the reproduction of *Acropora* in the Coral Sea. Proc 9"' Int Coral Reef Symp Bali, Indones 1:23–27.
- Baird AH, Morse ANC (2004) Induction of metamorphosis in larvae of the brooding corals

Acropora palifera and Stylophora pistillata.

- Bak RPM, Nieuwland G, Meesters EH (2005) Coral reef crisis in deep and shallow reefs: 30 years of constancy and change in reefs of Curacao and Bonaire. Coral Reefs 24:475–479.
- Barbier EB, Hacker SD, Kennedy C, Koch EW, Stier AC, Silliman BR (2011) The value of estuarine and coastal ecosystem services. Ecol Monogr 81:169–193.
- Baria MVB, Guest JR, Edwards AJ, Aliño PM, Heyward AJ, Gomez ED (2010) Caging enhances postsettlement survival of juveniles of the scleractinian coral *Acropora tenuis*. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 394:149–153.
- Barton JA, Willis BL, Hutson KS (2017) Coral propagation: A review of techniques for ornamental trade and reef restoration. Rev Aquac 9:238–256.
- Bauman AG, Baird AH, Cavalcante GH (2011) Coral reproduction in the world's warmest reefs: southern Persian Gulf (Dubai, United Arab Emirates). Coral Reefs 30:405–413.
- Baums IB (2008) A restoration genetics guide for coral reef conservation. Mol Ecol 17:2796–2811.
- Baums IB, Baker AC, Davies SW, Grottoli AG, Kenkel CD, Kitchen SA, Kuffner IB, LaJeunesse TC, Matz M V., Miller MW, Parkinson JE, Shantz AA (2019) Considerations for maximizing the adaptive potential of restored coral populations in the western Atlantic. Ecol Appl 29.
- Bindoff NL, Cheung WWL, Kairo JG, Aristegui J, Guinder VA, Hallberg R, Hilmi N, Jiao N, Karim MS, Levin L, O'Donoghue S, Purca Cuicapusa SR, Rinkevich B, Suga T, Tagliabue A, Williamson P (2019) Changing Ocean, Marine Ecosystems, and Dependent Communities. IPCC Spec Rep Ocean Cryosph a Chang Clim:447–588.
- Bishop JDD, Pemberton AJ (2006) The third way: Spermcast mating in sessile marine invertebrates. Integr Comp Biol 46:398–406.
- Boch C a., Morse ANC (2012) Testing the effectiveness of direct propagation techniques for coral restoration of *Acropora* spp. Ecol Eng 40:11–17.
- Boström-Einarsson L, Babcock RC, Bayraktarov E, Ceccarelli D, Cook N, Ferse SCA, Hancock B, Harrison P, Hein M, Shaver E, Smith A, Suggett D, Stewart-Sinclair PJ, Vardi T, McLeod IM (2020) Coral restoration – A systematic review of current methods, successes, failures and future directions. PLoS One 15:e0226631.
- Boström-Einarsson L, Bonin MC, Munday PL, Jones GP (2018) Loss of live coral compromises predator-avoidance behaviour in coral reef damselfish. Sci Rep 8.
- Bowden-Kerby A (2001) Low-tech coral reef restoration methods modeled after natural fragmentation processes. Bull Mar Sci 69:915–931.
- Bridge TCL, Hughes TP, Guinotte JM, Bongaerts P (2013) Call to protect all coral reefs. Nat Clim Chang 3:528–530.
- Brodie J, Grech A, Pressy B, Day J, Dale AP, Morrison T, Wenger A (2019) The future of the Great Barrier Reef: The water quality imperative. In: *Coasts and Esturaries*. Wolanski E, Day JW, Elliott M, Ramachandran R (eds) Elsevier, Burlington, p 477–499
- Brooke S, Järnegren J (2013) Reproductive periodicity of the scleractinian coral *Lophelia pertusa* from the Trondheim Fjord, Norway. Mar Biol 160:139–153.

Brown BE (1997) Coral bleaching: causes and consequences.

Bruno JF, Côté IM, Toth LT (2019) Climate change, coral loss, and the curious case of the parrotfish

paradigm: Why don't marine protected areas improve reef resilience? Ann Rev Mar Sci 11:307–334.

- Bruno JF, Selig ER (2007) Regional decline of coral cover in the Indo-Pacific: Timing, extent, and subregional comparisons. PLoS One 2.
- Bruno JF, Selig ER, Casey KS, Page CA, Willis BL, Harvell CD, Sweatman H, Melendy AM (2007) Thermal stress and coral cover as drivers of coral disease outbreaks. PLoS Biol 5:e124.
- Bruno JF, Sweatman H, Precht WF, Selig ER, Schutte VGW (2009) Assessing evidence of phase shifts from coral to macroalgal dominance on coral reefs. Ecology 90:1478–1484.
- Burke L, Reytar K, Spalding M, Perry A (2011) Reefs at risk revisited. World Resources Institute.
- Buss LW (1982) Somatic cell parasitism and the evolution of somatic tissue compatibility. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 79:5337–5341.
- Byers JE, Cuddington K, Jones CG, Talley TS, Hastings A, Lambrinos JG, Crooks JA, Wilson WG (2006) Using ecosystem engineers to restore ecological systems. Trends Ecol Evol 21:493– 500.
- Chamberland V, Petersen D, Latijnhouwers K, Snowden S, Mueller B, Vermeij M (2016) Four-yearold Caribbean Acropora colonies reared from field-collected gametes are sexually mature. Bull Mar Sci.
- Chamberland VF, Petersen D, Guest JR, Petersen U, Brittsan M, Vermeij MJA (2017) New seeding approach reduces costs and time to outplant sexually propagated corals for reef restoration. Sci Rep 7:18076.
- Chamberland VF, Vermeij MJA, Brittsan M, Carl M, Schick M, Snowden S, Schrier A, Petersen D (2015) Restoration of critically endangered elkhorn coral (*Acropora palmata*) populations using larvae reared from wild-caught gametes. Glob Ecol Conserv 4:526–537.
- Christie P, White AT (2007) Best practices for improved governance of coral reef marine protected areas. Coral Reefs 26:1047–1056.
- Cinner JE, Huchery C, Darling ES, Humphries AT, Graham NAJ, Hicks CC, Marshall N, McClanahan TR (2013) Evaluating social and ecological vulnerability of coral reef fisheries to climate change. PLoS One 8:e74321.
- Cinner JE, McClanahan TR, Daw TM, Graham NAJ, Maina J, Wilson SK, Hughes TP (2009) Linking social and ecological systems to sustain coral reef fisheries. Curr Biol 19:206–212.
- Cinner JE, Pratchett MS, Graham NAJ, Messmer V, Fuentes MMPB, Ainsworth T, Ban N, Bay LK, Blythe J, Dissard D, Dunn S, Evans L, Fabinyi M, Fidelman P, Figueiredo J, Frisch AJ, Fulton CJ, Hicks CC, Lukoschek V, Mallela J, Moya A, Penin L, Rummer JL, Walker S, Williamson DH (2016) A framework for understanding climate change impacts on coral reef social– ecological systems. Reg Environ Chang 16:1133–1146.
- Cleves PA, Strader ME, Bay LK, Pringle JR, Matz M V (2018) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing in a reef-building coral. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A:201722151.
- Coles SL, Riegl BM (2013) Thermal tolerances of reef corals in the Gulf: A review of the potential for increasing coral survival and adaptation to climate change through assisted translocation. Mar Pollut Bull 72:323–332.
- Cooper WT, Lirman D, VanGroningen MP, Parkinson JE, Herlan J, McManus JW (2014) Assessing techniques to enhance early post-settlement survival of corals *in situ* for reef restoration.

Bull Mar Sci 90:651–664.

- Costanza R, De Groot R, Sutton P, Van Der Ploeg S, Anderson SJ, Kubiszewski I, Farber S, Turner RK (2014) Changes in the global value of ecosystem services. Glob Environ Chang 26:152–158.
- Craggs J, Guest J, Bulling M, Sweet M (2019) *Ex situ* co culturing of the sea urchin, *Mespilia globulus* and the coral *Acropora millepora* enhances early post-settlement survivorship. Sci Rep 9:12984.
- Craggs J, Guest J, Davis M, Sweet M (2020) Completing the life cycle of a broadcast spawning coral in a closed mesocosm. Invertebr Reprod Dev 64:244–247.
- Cramer KL, Jackson JBC, Donovan MK, Greenstein BJ, Korpanty CA, Cook GM, Pandolfi JM (2020) Widespread loss of Caribbean acroporid corals was underway before coral bleaching and disease outbreaks. Sci Adv 6:eaax9395.
- Crowder CM, Liang W-L, Weis VM, Fan T-Y (2014) Elevated temperature alters the lunar timing of planulation in the brooding coral *Pocillopora damicornis*. PLoS One 9:e107906.
- Cruz DW dela, Harrison PL (2017) Enhanced larval supply and recruitment can replenish reef corals on degraded reefs. Sci Rep 7.
- De'ath G, Fabricius KE, Sweatman H, Puotinen M (2012) The 27-year decline of coral cover on the Great Barrier Reef and its causes. Proc Natl Acad Sci 109:17995–9.
- Dizon RM, Edwards AJ, Gomez ED (2008) Comparison of three types of adhesives in attaching coral transplants to clam shell substrates. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshw Ecosyst 18:1140–1148.
- Dizon RT, Yap HT (2006) Understanding coral reefs as complex systems: Degradation and prospects for recovery. Science (80-) 70:219–226.
- Donner SD, Skirving WJ, Little CM, Oppenheimer M, Hoegh-Gulberg O (2005) Global assessment of coral bleaching and required rates of adaptation under climate change. Glob Chang Biol 11:2251–2265.
- Doropoulos C, Roff G, Bozec Y-M, Zupan M, Werminghausen J, Mumby PJ, Mumby1 PJ (2016) Characterizing the ecological trade-offs throughout the early ontogeny of coral recruitment. Ecol Monogr 86:20–44.
- Doropoulos C, Ward S, Roff G, González-Rivero M, Mumby PJ (2015) Linking demographic processes of juvenile corals to benthic recovery trajectories in two common reef habitats. PLoS One 10.
- Douek J, Amar KO, Rinkevich B (2011) Maternal-larval population genetic traits in *Stylophora pistillata*, a hermaphroditic brooding coral species. Genetica 139:1531–1542.
- Dudgeon SR, Aronson RB, Bruno JF, Precht WF (2010) Phase shifts and stable states on coral reefs. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 413:201–216.
- Edgar GJ, Stuart-Smith RD, Willis TJ, Kininmonth S, Baker SC, Banks S, Barrett NS, Becerro MA, Bernard ATF, Berkhout J, Buxton CD, Campbell SJ, Cooper AT, Davey M, Edgar SC, Försterra G, Galván DE, Irigoyen AJ, Kushner DJ, Moura R, Parnell PE, Shears NT, Soler G, Strain EMA, Thomson RJ (2014) Global conservation outcomes depend on marine protected areas with five key features. Nature 506:216–220.
- Edwards A, Guest J, Heyward A, Villanueva R, Baria M, Bollozos I, Golbuu Y, Isf B (2015) Direct seeding of mass-cultured coral larvae is not an effective option for reef rehabilitation. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 525:105–116.

- Edwards AJ, Gomez ED (2007) Reef restoration concepts and guidelines: Making sensible management choices in the face of uncertainty. The Coral Reef Targeted Research & Capacity Building for Management Program, St. Lucia, Australia.
- Edwards AJ, Guest J, Shafir S, Fisk D, Gomez E, Rinkevich B, Heyward A, Omori M, Iwao K, Dizon R, Morse A, Boch C, Job S, Bongiorni L, Levy G, Shaish L, Wells S (2010) Reef rehabilitation manual. Alasdair J. Edwards School of Biology Newcastle University Newcastle upon Tyne NE1 7RU United Kingdom (ed) The Coral Reef Targeted Research & Capacity Building for Management Program, St Lucia, Australia.
- Enochs IC (2012) Motile cryptofauna associated with live and dead coral substrates: Implications for coral mortality and framework erosion. Mar Biol 159:709–722.
- Epstein N, Bak RPM, Rinkevich B (2003) Applying forest restoration principles to coral reef rehabilitation. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshw Ecosyst 13:387–395.
- Epstein N, Bak RPM, Rinkevich B (2001) Strategies for gardening denuded coral reef areas: The applicability of using different types of coral material for reef restoration. Restor Ecol 9:432–442.
- Fabricius K, Metzner J (2004) Scleractinian walls of mouths: Predation on coral larvae by corals. Coral Reefs 23:245–248.
- Fadlallah YH (1983) Sexual reproduction, development and larval biology in scleractinian corals. Coral Reefs 2:129–150.
- Fan Tung-Yung, Lin Ke-Han, Kuo Fu-Wen, Soong Keryea, Liu Li-Lian, Fang Lee-Shing (2006) Diel patterns of larval release by five brooding scleractinian corals. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 321:133–142.
- Fan TY, Li JJ, Ie SX, Fang LS (2002) Lunar periodicity of larval release by pocilloporid corals in Southern Taiwan. Zool Stud 41:288–293.
- Fisher R, O'Leary RA, Low-Choy S, Mengersen K, Knowlton N, Brainard RE, Caley MJ (2015) Species richness on coral reefs and the pursuit of convergent global estimates. Curr Biol 25:500–505.
- Frank U, Oren U, Loya Y, Rinkevich B (1997) Alloimmune maturation in the coral *Stylophora pistillata* is achieved through three distinctive stages, 4 months post-metamorphosis. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 264:99–104.
- Furby KA, Bouwmeester J, Berumen ML (2013) Susceptibility of central Red Sea corals during a major bleaching event. Coral Reefs 32:505–513.
- Gardner TA, Côté IM, Gill JA, Grant A, Watkinson AR (2003) Long-term region-wide declines in Caribbean corals. Science (80-) 301:958–960.
- Gilmour J, Speed CW, Babcock R (2016) Coral reproduction in Western Australia. PeerJ 4:e2010.
- Glynn PW (1983) Extensive 'bleaching' and death of reef corals on the Pacific Coast of Panamá. Environ Conserv 10:149–154.
- Glynn PW, Colley SB (2008) Survival of brooding and broadcasting reef corals following large scale disturbances: Is there any hope for broadcasting species during global warming? Proc 11th Int Coral Reef Symp:7–11.
- Golbuu Y, Richmond RH (2007) Substratum preferences in planula larvae of two species of scleractinian corals, *Goniastrea retiformis* and *Stylaraea punctata*. Mar Biol 152:639–644.

- Golomb D, Shashar N, Rinkevich B (2020) Coral carpets- a novel ecological engineering tool aimed at constructing coral communities on soft sand bottoms. Ecol Eng 145:105743.
- Goreau N, Goreau T, Hayes R (1981) Settling, survivorship and spatial aggregation in planulae and juveniles of the coral *Porites porites* (Pallas). Bull Mar Sci 31:424–435.
- Gori A, Linares C, Viladrich N, Clavero A, Orejas C, Fiorillo I, Ambroso S, Gili J-M, Rossi S (2013) Effects of food availability on the sexual reproduction and biochemical composition of the Mediterranean gorgonian *Paramuricea clavata*. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 444:38–45.
- Gosselin LA, Qian PY (1997) Juvenile mortality in benthic marine invertebrates. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 146:265–282.
- Graham EM, Baird AH, Willis BL, Connolly SR (2013) Effects of delayed settlement on postsettlement growth and survival of scleractinian coral larvae. Oecologia 173:431–438.
- Grigg RW, Maragos JE (1974) Recolonization of hermatypic corals on submerged lava flows in Hawaii. Ecology 55:387–395.
- Grizzle RE, Ward KM, AlShihi RMS, Burt JA (2016) Current status of coral reefs in the United Arab Emirates: Distribution, extent, and community structure with implications for management. Mar Pollut Bull 105:515–523.
- Guest J, Heyward A, Omori M, Iwao K, Morse A, Boch C (2010) Rearing coral larvae for reef rehabilitation. In: *Reef Rehabilitation manual*. Edwards A (ed) The Coral Reef Targeted Research & Capacity Building for Management Program, St Lucia, Australia, p 73–98
- Guest JR, Baird a. H, Goh BPL, Chou LM (2005) Seasonal reproduction in equatorial reef corals. Invertebr Reprod Dev 48:207–218.
- Guest JR, Baria M V., Gomez ED, Heyward AJ, Edwards AJ (2014) Closing the circle: Is it feasible to rehabilitate reefs with sexually propagated corals? Coral Reefs 33:45–55.
- Guest JR, Dizon RM, Edwards AJ, Franco C, Gomez ED (2011) How quickly do fragments of coral 'self-attach' after transplantation? Restor Ecol 19:234–242.
- Hagedorn M, Carter VL, Hollingsworth L, Leong JC, Kanno R, Borneman EH, Petersen D, Laterveer M, Brittsan M, Schick M (2009) *Ex situ* culture of Caribbean and Pacific coral larvae comparing various flow-through chambers. Smithson Contrib Mar Sci:259–267.
- Hagedorn M, Carter VL, Lager C, Camperio Ciani JF, Dygert AN, Schleiger RD, Henley EM (2016) Potential bleaching effects on coral reproduction. Reprod Fertil Dev 28:1061–1071.
- Halberg F (1969) Chronobiology. Annu Rev Physiol 311:675–726.
- Harii S, Omori M, Yamakawa H, Koike Y (2001) Sexual reproduction and larval settlement of the zooxanthellate coral *Alveopora japonica* Eguchi at high latitudes. Coral Reefs 20:19–23.
- Harrington L, Fabricius K, De'ath G, Negri A (2004) Recognition and selection of settlement substrata determine post-settlement survival in coral. Ecology 85:3428–3437.
- Harriott VJ, Fisk DA (1988) Recruitment patterns of scleractinian corals: A study of three reefs. Mar Freshw Res 39:409–416.
- Harrison PL (2011) Sexual reproduction of scleractinian corals. In: *Coral Reefs: An Ecosystem in Transition*. Dubinsky Z, Stambler N (eds) Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, p 59–85
- Harrison PL, Babcock RC, Bull GD, Oliver JK, Wallace CC, Willis BL (1984) Mass spawning in tropical reef corals. Science 223:1186–9.

- Harrison PL, Wallace CC (1990) Reproduction, dispersal and recruitment of scleractinian corals. In: *Coral Reefs. Ecosystems of the World.*, 25th ed. Dubinsky Z (ed) Elsevier, Amsterdam, p 132– 207
- Hartmann AC, Marhaver KL, Vermeij MJA (2018) Corals in Healthy Populations Produce More Larvae Per Unit Cover. Conserv Lett 11:e12410.
- Hayashibara T, Iwao K, Omori M (2004) Induction and control of spawning in Okinawan staghorn corals. Coral Reefs 23:406–409.
- Hein MY, Birtles A, Willis BL, Gardiner N, Beeden R, Marshall NA (2019) Coral restoration: Socioecological perspectives of benefits and limitations. Biol Conserv 229:14–25.
- Heyward AJ, Negri AP (1999) Natural inducers for coral larval metamorphosis. Coral Reefs 18:273–279.
- Heyward AJ, Negri AP (2010) Plasticity of larval pre-competency in response to temperature: Observations on multiple broadcast spawning coral species. Coral Reefs 29:631–636.
- Heyward AJ, Smith LD, Rees M, Field SN (2002) Enhancement of coral recruitment by *in situ* mass culture of coral larvae. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 230:113–118.
- Hoegh-Guldberg O, Kennedy E V, Beyer HL, Mcclennen C, Possingham HP (2018) Securing a longterm future for coral reefs. Trends Ecol Evol 33:936–944.
- Hoegh-Guldberg O, Mumby PJ, Hooten a J, Steneck RS, Greenfield P, Gomez E, Harvell CD, Sale PF, Edwards a J, Caldeira K, Knowlton N, Eakin CM, Iglesias-Prieto R, Muthiga N, Bradbury RH, Dubi A, Hatziolos ME (2007) Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. Science 318:1737–1742.
- Hoegh-Guldberg O, Smith JG (1989) The effect of sudden changes in temperature, light and salinity on the population density and export of zooxathellae from the reef corals *Stylophora pistillata* Esper and *Seriatopora hystrix* Dana. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 129:279–303.
- Horoszowski-Fridman YB, Izhaki I, Rinkevich B (2011) Engineering of coral reef larval supply through transplantation of nursery-farmed gravid colonies. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 399:162–166.
- Hughes TP, Ayre D, Connell JH (1992) The evolutionary ecology of corals. Trends Ecol Evol 7:292– 5.
- Hughes TP, Baird AH, Bellwood DR, Card M, Connolly SR, Folke C, Grosberg R, Hoegh-Guldberg O, Jackson JBC, Kleypas J, Lough JM, Marshall P, Nyström M, Palumbi SR, Pandolfi JM, Rosen B, Roughgarden J (2003) Climate change, human impacts, and the resilience of coral reefs. Science (80-) 301:929–933.
- Hughes TP, Graham N a J, Jackson JBC, Mumby PJ, Steneck RS (2010) Rising to the challenge of sustaining coral reef resilience. Trends Ecol Evol 25:633–642.
- Hughes TP, Kerry JT, Baird AH, Connolly SR, Chase J, Dietzel A, Hill T, Hoey AS, Hoogenboom MO, Jacobson M, Kerswell A, Madin JS, Mieog A, Paley AS, Pratchett MS, Torda G, Woods M, Chase TJ, Dietzel A, Hill T, Hoey AS, Hoogenboom MO, Jacobson M, Kerswell A, Madin JS, Mieog A, Paley AS, Pratchett MS, Torda G, Woods RM, Chase J, Dietzel A, Hill T, Hoey AS, Hoogenboom MO, Jacobson M, Kerswell A, Madin JS, Mieog A, Paley AS, Pratchett MS, Torda G, Woods RM, Chase J, Dietzel A, Hill T, Hoey AS, Hoogenboom MO, Jacobson M, Kerswell A, Madin JS, Mieog A, Paley AS, Pratchett MS, Torda G, Woods M (2019) Global warming impairs stock–recruitment dynamics of corals. Nature:43–44.
- Hughes TP, Rodrigues MJ, Bellwood DR, Ceccarelli D, Hoegh-Guldberg O, McCook L, Moltschaniwskyj N, Pratchett MS, Steneck RS, Willis B (2007) Phase shifts, herbivory, and the

resilience of coral reefs to climate change. Curr Biol 17:360–365.

- Hughes TP, Tanner JE (2000) Recruitment failure, life histories, and long-term decline of Caribbean corals. Ecology 81:2250–2263.
- Hunt HL, Scheibling RE (1997) Recruitment of benthic marine invertebrates. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 155:269–301.
- Iwao K, Fujisawa T, Hatta M (2002) A cnidarian neuropeptide of the GLWamide family induces metamorphosis of reef-building corals in the genus *Acropora*. Coral Reefs 21:127–129.
- Jaap WC (2000) Coral reef restoration. Ecol Eng 15:345–364.
- Jackson J, Donovan M, Cramer K, Lam V (2014) Status and trends of Caribbean coral reefs: 1970-2012. Jackson J, Donovan M, Cramer K, Lam V (eds) Global Coral Reef Monitoring Network, IUCN, Gland, Switzerland.
- Jackson JBC (1986) Modes of dispersal of clonal benthic invertebrates: consequences for species' distributions and genetic structure of local populations. Bull Mar Sciense 39:588–606.
- Jackson ST, Hobbs RJ (2009) Ecological restoration in the light of ecological history. Science 325:567–569.
- Jokiel PL, Guinther EB (1978) Effects of temperature on reproduction in the hermatypic coral *Pocillopora damicornis*. Bull Mar Sci 28:786–789.
- Jokiel PL, Ito RY, Liu PM (1985) Night irradiance and synchronization of lunar release of planula larvae in the reef coral *Pocillopora damicornis*. Mar Biol 88:167–174.
- Jones RJ, Hoegh-Guldberg O, Larkum AWD, Schreiber U (1998) Temperature-induced bleaching of corals begins with impairment of the CO2 fixation mechanism in zooxanthellae. Plant, Cell Environ 21:1219–1230.
- Kaniewska P, Alon S, Karako-Lampert S, Hoegh-Guldberg O, Levy O (2015) Signaling cascades and the importance of moonlight in coral broadcast mass spawning. Elife 4.
- Keith SA, Maynard JA, Edwards AJ, Guest JR, Bauman AG, van Hooidonk R, Heron SF, Berumen ML, Bouwmeester J, Piromvaragorn S, Rahbek C, Baird AH (2016) Coral mass spawning predicted by rapid seasonal rise in ocean temperature. Proc Biol Sci 283:3149–3160.
- Keough MJ, Downes BJ (1982) Recruitment of marine invertebrates: the role of active larval choices and early mortality. Oecologia 54:348–352.
- Keshavmurthy S, Yang S-Y, Alamaru A, Chuang Y-Y, Pichon M, Obura D, Fontana S, De Palmas S, Stefani F, Benzoni F, MacDonald A, Noreen AME, Chen C, Wallace CC, Pillay RM, Denis V, Amri AY, Reimer JD, Mezaki T, Sheppard C, Loya Y, Abelson A, Mohammed MS, Baker AC, Mostafavi PG, Suharsono B a, Chen CA (2013) DNA barcoding reveals the coral 'laboratoryrat', *Stylophora pistillata* encompasses multiple identities. Sci Rep 3:1520.
- Knoester EG, Murk AJ, Osinga R (2019) Benefits of herbivorous fish outweigh costs of corallivory in coral nurseries placed close to a Kenyan patch reef. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 611:143–155.
- Knowlton N (2012) Iconic coral reef degraded despite substantial protection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:17734–17735.
- Knowlton N (2001) The future of coral reefs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:5419–5425.
- Knowlton N, Brainard RE, Fisher R, Moews M, Plaisance L, Caley MJ (2010) Coral reef biodiversity. In: *Life in the World's Oceans: Diversity, Distribution, and Abundance*. p 65–78

- Krueger T, Horwitz N, Bodin J, Giovani M-E, Escrig S, Meibom A, Fine M (2017) Common reefbuilding coral in the Northern Red Sea resistant to elevated temperature and acidification. R Soc Open Sci 4:170038.
- Lee YW, Cheatham TP, Wiesner JB (1950) Application of correlation analysis to the detection of periodic signals in noise. Proc IRE 38:1165–1171.
- Levitan D, Boudreau W, Jara J, Knowlton N (2014) Long-term reduced spawning in *Orbicella* coral species due to temperature stress. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 515:1–10.
- Levy G, Shaish L, Haim A, Rinkevich B (2010) Mid-water rope nursery-Testing design and performance of a novel reef restoration instrument. Ecol Eng 36:560–569.
- Levy O, Appelbaum L, Leggat W, Gothlif Y, Hayward DC, Miller DJ, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2007) Lightresponsive cryptochromes from a simple multicellular animal, the coral *Acropora millepora*. Science (80-) 318:467–470.
- Lewis JB (1974) The settlement behaviour of planulae larvae of the hermatypic coral *Favia fragum* (Esper). J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 15:165–172.
- Lewis SM (1986) The role of herbivorous fishes in the organization of a caribbean reef community. Ecol Monogr 56:183–200.
- Lindahl U (2003) Coral reef rehabilitation through transplantation of staghorn corals: Effects of artificial stabilization and mechanical damages. Coral Reefs 22:217–223.
- Linden B, Huisman J, Rinkevich B (2018) Circatrigintan instead of lunar periodicity of larval release in a brooding coral species. Sci Rep 8:5668.
- Linden B, Rinkevich B (2011) Creating stocks of young colonies from brooding coral larvae, amenable to active reef restoration. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 398:40–46.
- Linden B, Rinkevich B (2017) Elaborating an eco-engineering approach for stock enhanced sexually derived coral colonies. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 486:314–321.
- Lirman D (2001) Competition between macroalgae and corals: Effects of herbivore exclusion and increased algal biomass on coral survivorship and growth. Coral Reefs 19:392–399.
- Loya Y (1972) Community structure and species diversity of hermatypic corals at Eilat, Red Sea. Mar Biol 13:100–123.
- Loya Y (1985) Seasonal changes in growth rate of a red sea coral population. Proc 5th Int Coral Reef Symp 6:187–191.
- Loya Y (1976) The Red Sea coral *Stylophora pistillata* is an *r* strategist. Nature 259:478–480.
- Lukoschek V, Cross P, Torda G, Zimmerman R, Willis BL (2013) The importance of coral larval recruitment for the recovery of reefs impacted by cyclone Yasi in the Central Great Barrier Reef. PLoS One 8.
- Marhaver KL, Vermeij MJA, Medina MM (2015) Reproductive natural history and successful juvenile propagation of the threatened Caribbean Pillar Coral *Dendrogyra cylindrus*. BMC Ecol 15:9.
- Marhaver KL, Vermeij MJA, Rohwer F, Sandin SA (2013) Janzen-Connell effects in a broadcastspawning Caribbean coral: Distance-dependent survival of larvae and settlers. Ecology 94:146–160.
- Marshall PA, Baird AH (2000) Bleaching of corals on the Great Barrier Reef: Differential

susceptibilities among taxa. Coral Reefs 19:155–163.

- Martínez ML, Intralawan A, Vázquez G, Pérez-Maqueo O, Sutton P, Landgrave R (2007) The coasts of our world: Ecological, economic and social importance. Ecol Econ 63:254–272.
- Mbije NE, Spanier E, Rinkevich B (2013) A first endeavour in restoring denuded, post-bleached reefs in Tanzania. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 128:41–51.
- Mbije NEJ, Spanier E, Rinkevich B (2010) Testing the first phase of the 'gardening concept' as an applicable tool in restoring denuded reefs in Tanzania. Ecol Eng 36:713–721.
- McClanahan TR, Baird AH, Marshall PA, Toscano MA (2004) Comparing bleaching and mortality responses of hard corals between southern Kenya and the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Mar Pollut Bull 48:327–335.
- Medina-Rosas (2011) Evidence of sexual reproduction in the hermatypic corals Pocillopora damicornis, Porites panamensis, and Pavona gigantea in Banderas Bay, Mexican Pacific. Ciencias Mar 37:97–112.
- Mercier A, Sun Z, Hamel J-F (2011) Reproductive periodicity, spawning and development of the deep-sea scleractinian coral *Flabellum angulare*. Mar Biol 158:371–380.
- Meteorologic Services (2016) Israel National Monitoring Program of the Gulf of Eilat. http://www.meteo-tech.co.il/eilat-yam/eilat\_en.asp (accessed 31 May 2016)
- Micheli F, Mumby PJ, Brumbaugh DR, Broad K, Dahlgren CP, Harborne AR, Holmes KE, Kappel C V., Litvin SY, Sanchirico JN (2014) High vulnerability of ecosystem function and services to diversity loss in Caribbean coral reefs. Biol Conserv 171:186–194.
- Miller KI, Russ GR (2014) Studies of no-take marine reserves: Methods for differentiating reserve and habitat effects. Ocean Coast Manag 96:51–60.
- Monroe AA, Ziegler M, Roik A, Röthig T, Hardenstine RS, Emms MA, Jensen T, Voolstra CR, Berumen ML (2018) *In situ* observations of coral bleaching in the central Saudi Arabian Red Sea during the 2015/2016 global coral bleaching event. PLoS One 13:e0195814.
- Mora C, Andréfouët S, Costello MJ, Kranenburg C, Rollo A, Veron J, Gaston KJ, Myers RA (2006) Coral reefs and the global network of marine protected areas. Science (80-) 312:1750–1751.
- Morse ANC, Iwao K, Baba M, Shimoike K, Hayashibara T, Omori M (1996) An ancient chemosensory mechanism brings new life to coral reefs. Biol Bull 191:149–154.
- Morse DE, Morse ANC, Raimondi PT, Hooker N (1994) Morphogen-based chemical flypaper for Agaricia humilis coral larvae.
- Moustafa MZ, Moustafa MS, Moustafa ZD, Moustafa SE (2014) Survival of high latitude fringing corals in extreme temperatures: Red Sea oceanography. J Sea Res 88:144–151.
- Nagelkerken I, Bouma S, Van den Akker S, Bak RPM (2000) Growth and survival of unattached *Madracis mirabilis* fragments transplanted to different reef sites, and the implication for reef rehabilitation. Bull Mar Sci 66:497–505.
- Nakamura R, Ando W, Yamamoto H, Kitano M, Sato a., Nakamur M, Kayanne H, Omori M (2011) Corals mass-cultured from eggs and transplanted as juveniles to their native, remote coral reef. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 436:161–168.
- Narayan S, Beck MW, Reguero BG, Losada IJ, van Wesenbeeck B, Pontee N, Sanchirico JN, Ingram JC, Lange G-M, Burks-Copes KA (2016) The effectiveness, costs and coastal protection

benefits of natural and nature-based defences. PLoS One 11:e0154735.

- Nedimyer K, Gaines K, Roach S (2011) Coral tree nursery: An innovative approach to growing corals in an ocean-based field nursery. AACL Bioflux 4:442–446.
- Negri A, Webster N, Hill R, Heyward A (2001) Metamorphosis of broadcast spawning corals in response to bacteria isolated from crustose algae. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 223:121–131.
- Nishikawa A, Katoh M, Sakai K (2003) Larval settlement rates and gene flow of broadcast (*Stylophora pistillata*) corals. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 256:87–97.
- Nozawa Y (2012) Effective size of refugia for coral spat survival. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 413:145–149.
- Nozawa Y (2008) Micro-crevice structure enhances coral spat survivorship. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 367:127–130.
- Nozawa Y, Tokeshi M, Nojima S (2006) Reproduction and recruitment of scleractinian corals in a high-latitude coral community, Amakusa, Southwestern Japan. Mar Biol 149:1047–1058.
- Okamoto M, Nojima S, Fujiwara S, Furushima Y (2008) Development of ceramic settlement devices for coral reef restoration using *in situ* sexual reproduction of corals. Fish Sci 74:1245–1253.
- Okamoto M, Nojima S, Furushima Y, Phoel WC (2005) A basic experiment of coral culture using sexual reproduction in the open sea. Fish Sci 71:263–270.
- Okamoto M, Roeroe K a., Yap M, Lalamentic LTX, Fujiwara S, Oyamada K (2012) Experimental transplantation of corals using sexual reproduction in Manado, Indonesia. Proc 12th Int Coral Reef Symp:9–13.
- Okubo N, Motokawa T, Omori M (2007) When fragmented coral spawn? Effect of size and timing on survivorship and fecundity of fragmentation in *Acropora formosa*. Mar Biol 151:353–363.
- Okubo N, Taniguchi H, Motokawa T (2005) Successful methods for transplanting fragments of *Acropora formosa* and *Acropora hyacinthus*. Coral Reefs 24:333–342.
- Omori M (2019) Coral restoration research and technical developments: What we have learned so far. Mar Biol Res 15:377–409.
- Omori M (2005) Success of mass culture of *Acropora* corals from egg to colony in open water. Coral Reefs 24:563.
- Omori M, Aota T, Watanuki A, Taniguchi H (2004a) Development of coral reef restoration method by mass culture, transportation and settlement of coral larvae. In: *Proceedings of the Palau Coral Reef Conference*. Yukihira H (ed) PICRC Publication 04-001, Palau, p 31–38
- Omori M, Fujiwara S, Hatta M, Hosoya S, Iwao K, Nojima S, Okamoto M, Okubo N, Taniguchi H (2004b) Manual for restoration and remediation of coral reefs. Omori M, Fujiwara S (eds).
- Omori M, Iwao K (2009) A novel substrate (the "coral peg") for deploying sexually propagated corals for reef restoration. Galaxea, J Coral Reef Stud 11:39–39.
- Omori M, Iwao K (2014) Methods of farming sexually propagated corals and outplanting for coral reef rehabilitation; with list of references for coral reef rehabilitation through active restoration measure. Okinawa, Japan.
- Van Oppen MJH, Gates RD (2006) Conservation genetics and the resilience of reef-building corals. Mol Ecol 15:3863–3883.

- van Oppen MJH, Gates RD, Blackall LL, Cantin N, Chakravarti LJ, Chan WY, Cormick C, Crean A, Damjanovic K, Epstein H, Harrison PL, Jones TA, Miller M, Pears RJ, Peplow LM, Raftos DA, Schaffelke B, Stewart K, Torda G, Wachenfeld D, Weeks AR, Putnam HM (2017) Shifting paradigms in restoration of the world's coral reefs. Glob Chang Biol 23:3437–3448.
- van Oppen MJH, Oliver JK, Putnam HM, Gates RD (2015) Building coral reef resilience through assisted evolution. Proc Natl Acad Sci 112:1–7.
- Page CA, Muller EM, Vaughan DE (2018) Microfragmenting for the successful restoration of slow growing massive corals. Ecol Eng 123:86–94.
- Paxton CW, Baria MVB, Weis VM, Harii S (2016) Effect of elevated temperature on fecundity and reproductive timing in the coral *Acropora digitifera*. Zygote 24:511–516.
- Pemberton AJ, Noble LR, Bishop JDD (2003) Frequency dependence in matings with water-borne sperm. J Evol Biol 16:289–301.
- Pen O, Randall CJ, Negri AP, Quigley KM, Foster T, Ricardo GF, Webster NS, Bay LK, Harrison PL, Russ C, Heyward AJ (2020) Sexual production of corals for reef restoration in the Anthropocene. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 635:203–232.
- Penin L, Michonneau F, Carroll A, Adjeroud M (2011) Effects of predators and grazers exclusion on early post-settlement coral mortality. Hydrobiologia 663:259–264.
- Petersen D, Hatta M, Laterveer M, Van Bergen D (2005a) *Ex situ* transportation of coral larvae for research, conservation, and aquaculture. Coral Reefs 24:510–513.
- Petersen D, Laterveer M, Van Bergen D, Hatta M, Hebbinghaus R, Janse M, Jones R, Richter U, Ziegler T, Visser G, Schuhmacher H (2006) The application of sexual coral recruits for the sustainable management of *ex situ* populations in public aquariums to promote coral reef conservation — SECORE Project. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshw Ecosyst 16:167–179.
- Petersen D, Laterveer M, Schuhmacher H (2005b) Innovative substrate tiles to spatially control larval settlement in coral culture. Mar Biol 146:937–942.
- Petersen D, Laterveer M, Schuhmacher H (2005c) Spatial and temporal variation in larval settlement of reefbuilding corals in mariculture. Aquaculture 249:317–327.
- Pollock JF, Katz SM, van de Water JAJM, Davies SW, Hein M, Torda G, Matz M V., Beltran VH, Buerger P, Puill-Stephan E, Abrego D, Bourne DG, Willis BL (2017) Coral larvae for restoration and research: A large-scale method for rearing *Acropora millepora* larvae, inducing settlement, and establishing symbiosis. PeerJ 2017:e3732.
- Prasetia R, Sinniger F, Hashizume K, Harii S (2017) Reproductive biology of the deep brooding coral *Seriatopora hystrix*: Implications for shallow reef recovery. PLoS One 12:e0177034.
- Pratchett MS, Hoey AS, Wilson SK (2014) Reef degradation and the loss of critical ecosystem goods and services provided by coral reef fishes. Curr Opin Environ Sustain 7:37–43.
- Precht WF, Aronson RB, Moody RM, Kaufman L (2010) Changing patterns of microhabitat utilization by the threespot damselfish, *Stegastes planifrons*, on Caribbean Reefs. PLoS One 5:e10835.
- Puill-Stephan E, van Oppen MJH, Pichavant-Rafini K, Willis BL (2012) High potential for formation and persistence of chimeras following aggregated larval settlement in the broadcast spawning coral, *Acropora millepora*. Proc Biol Sci 279:699–708.

Putchim L, Thongtham N, Hewett A, Chansang H (2008) Survival and growth of Acropora spp. in

mid-water nursery and after transplantation at Phi Phi Islands, Andaman Sea, Thailand. 11th Int Coral Reef Symp Ft Lauderdale, Florida:1258–1261.

- Raible F, Takekata H, Tessmar-Raible K (2017) An overview of monthly rhythms and clocks. Front Neurol 8.
- Raymundo LJ, Maypa AP (2004) Getting bigger faster: Mediation of size-specific mortality via fusion in juvenile coral transplants. Ecol Appl 14:281–295.
- Rice J, Grellier J (2019) Oceans and Coasts. In: *Global Environment Outlook GEO-6: Healthy Planet, Healthy People*. p 174–199
- Richmond R (1985) Reversible metamorphosis in coral planula larvae. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 22:181– 185.
- Richmond RH, Hunter CL (1990) Reproduction and recruitment of corals: Comparisons among the Caribbean, the Tropical Pacific, and the Red Sea. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 60:185–203.
- Riegl B, Bruckner A, Coles SL, Renaud P, Dodge RE (2009) Coral reefs: Threats and conservation in an era of global change. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1162:136–186.
- Rinkevich B (2015) Climate change and active reef restoration—Ways of constructing the "reefs of tomorrow". J Mar Sci Eng 3:111–127.
- Rinkevich B (2005a) Conservation of coral reefs through active restoration measures: Recent approaches and last decade progress. Environ Sci Technol 39:4333–4342.
- Rinkevich B (2008) Management of coral reefs: We have gone wrong when neglecting active reef restoration. Mar Pollut Bull 56:1821–1824.
- Rinkevich B (2005b) Natural chimerism in colonial urochordates. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 322:93–109.
- Rinkevich B (2014) Rebuilding coral reefs: Does active reef restoration lead to sustainable reefs? Curr Opin Environ Sustain 7:28–36.
- Rinkevich B (1995) Restoration strategies for coral reefs damaged by recreational activities: The use of sexual and asexual recruits. Restor Ecol 3:241–251.
- Rinkevich B (2000) Steps towards the evaluation of coral reef restoration by using small branch fragments. Mar Biol 136:807–812.
- Rinkevich B (2019) The active reef restoration toolbox is a vehicle for coral resilience and adaptation in a changing world. J Mar Sci Eng 7:201.
- Rinkevich B (2006) The coral gardening concept and the use of underwater nurseries: lessons learned from silvics and silviculture. In: *Coral reef restoration handbook*. Precht WF (ed) Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, p 291–301
- Rinkevich B (2021) The quandary for active and passive reef restoration in a changing world. In: *Coral Reef Restoration: Techniques for a Changing Planet*. Vaughan DE (ed) J. Ross Publishing, p 31–41
- Rinkevich B, Loya Y (1985) Intraspecific competition in a reef coral: Effects on growth and reproduction. Oecologia 66:100–105.
- Rinkevich B, Loya Y (1983) Intraspecific competitive networks in the Red Sea coral *Stylophora pistillata*. Coral Reefs 1:161–172.
- Rinkevich B, Loya Y (1979a) The reproduction of the Red Sea coral Stylophora pistillata. I. Gonads

and planulae. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 1:133–144.

- Rinkevich B, Loya Y (1979b) The reproduction of the Red Sea coral Stylophora pistillata. II. Synchronization in breeding and seasonality of planulae shedding. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 1:145– 152.
- Rinkevich B, Loya Y (1987) Variability in the pattern of sexual reproduction of the coral *Stylophora pistillata* at Eilat, Red Sea: A long-term study. Biol Bull 173:335–344.
- Rinkevich B, Shaish L, Douek J, Ben-Shlomo R (2016) Venturing in coral larval chimerism: A compact functional domain with fostered genotypic diversity. Sci Rep 6:19493.
- Rinkevich B, Weissman IL (1992) Chimeras vs genetically homogeneous individuals: Potential fitness costs and benefits. Oikos 63:119–124.
- Risk MJ (1999) Paradise lost: how marine science failed the world's coral reefs. Mar Freshw Res 50:831–837.
- Ritson-Williams R, Arnold SN, Fogarty ND, Steneck RS, Vermeij MJA, Paul VJ (2009) New perspectives on ecological mechanisms affecting coral recruitment on reefs. Smithson Contrib Mar Sci:437–457.
- Sale PF (2008) Management of coral reefs: Where we have gone wrong and what we can do about it. Mar Pollut Bull 56:805–809.
- Sampaio A (2010) Marine protected areas and sustainable tourism: A synergistic relationship? In: *Water and tourism. Resources management, planning and sustainability.* Henriques E, Sarmento J, Lousada M (eds) Centro de Estudos Geográficos, Universidade de Lisboa, Lisoa, p 37–50
- Sato M (1985) Mortality and growth of juvenile coral *Pocillopora damicornis* (Linnaeus). Coral Reefs 4:27–33.
- Sawall Y, Al-Sofyani A (2015) Biology of Red Sea corals: Metabolism, reproduction, acclimatization, and adaptation. p 487–509
- Saxby T, Dennison W, Hoegh-Guldberg O (2003) Photosynthetic responses of the coral *Montipora digitata* to cold temperature stress. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 248:85–97.
- Schmidt-Roach S, Miller KJ, Woolsey E, Gerlach G, Baird AH (2012) Broadcast spawning by *Pocillopora* species on the Great Barrier Reef. PLoS One 7:50847.
- Shafir S, Van Rijn J, Rinkevich B (2006a) A mid-water coral nursery. Porc 10th Int COral Reef Symp:1674–1679.
- Shafir S, Van Rijn J, Rinkevich B (2001) Nubbing of coral colonies: A novel approach for the development of inland broodstocks. Aquarium Sci Conserv 3:183–190.
- Shafir S, Van Rijn J, Rinkevich B (2006b) Steps in the construction of underwater coral nursery, an essential component in reef restoration acts. Mar Biol 149:679–687.
- Shafir S, Rinkevich B (2010) Intergrated long-term mid-water coral nurseries: a management instrument evolving into a floating ecodesign. Univ Mauritius Res J 16:365–386.
- Shafir S, Rinkevich B (2008) The underwater silviculture approach for reef restoration: an emergent aquaculture theme. In: *Aquarculture research trends*. Schwartz SH (ed) Nova Science Publishers, p 279–295
- Shaish L, Levy G, Gomez E, Rinkevich B (2008) Fixed and suspended coral nurseries in the
Philippines: Establishing the first step in the 'gardening concept' of reef restoration. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 358:86–97.

- Shaish L, Levy G, Katzir G, Rinkevich B (2010) Coral reef restoration (Bolinao, Philippines) in the face of frequent natural catastrophes. Restor Ecol 18:285–299.
- Shearer TL, Porto I, Zubillaga a. L (2009) Restoration of coral populations in light of genetic diversity estimates. Coral Reefs 28:727–733.
- Shefy D, Shashar N, Rinkevich B (2018) The reproduction of the Red Sea coral *Stylophora pistillata* from Eilat: 4-decade perspective. Mar Biol 165.
- Sherman CDH, Ayre DJ, Miller KJ (2006) Asexual reproduction does not produce clonal populations of the brooding coral *Pocillopora damicornis* on the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. Coral Reefs 25:7–18.
- Shlesinger Y, Goulet TLT, Loya Y (1998) Reproductive patterns of scleractinian corals in the northern Red Sea. Mar Biol 132:691–701.
- Shlesinger Y, Loya Y (1985) Coral community reproductive patterns: Red Sea versus the Great Barrier Reef. Science (80-) 228:1333–1335.
- Soong K (1991) Sexual reproductive patterns of shallow-water reef corals in Panama. Bull Mar Sci 49:832–846.
- Spalding M, Burke L, Wood SA, Ashpole J, Hutchison J, zu Ermgassen P (2017) Mapping the global value and distribution of coral reef tourism. Mar Policy 82:104–113.
- Spalding M, Ravilious C, Green E (2001) World Atlas of Coral Reefs. University of California Press.
- Spurgeon JPG (1992) The economic valuation of coral reefs. Mar Pollut Bull 24:529–536.
- Stimson JS (1978) Mode and timing of reproduction in some common hermatypic corals of Hawaii and Enewetak. Mar Biol 48:173–184.
- Stoddart JA (1983) Asexual production of planulae in the coral *Pocillopora damicornis*. Mar Biol 76:279–284.
- Szmant-Froelich A, Reutter M, Riggs L (1986) Sexual reproduction of *Favia fragum* (Esper): Lunar patterns of gametogenesis, embryogenesis and planulation in Puerto Rico. Bull Mar Sci 37:880–892.
- Szmant AM (1986) Reproductive ecology of Caribbean reef corals. Coral Reefs 5:43–53.
- Szmant AM, Meadows MG (2006) Developmental changes in coral larval buoyancy and vertical swimming behavior: Implications for dispersal and connectivity. In: *Proceedings of 10th International Coral Reef Symposium*. p 431–437
- Tabalanza TD, Jamodiong EA, Diaz LA, Tañedo MCS, Leriorato JC, Villanueva RD, Cabaitan PC (2020) Successfully cultured and reared coral embryos from wild caught spawn slick in the Philippines. Aquaculture 525:735354.
- Tamir R, Lerner A, Haspel C, Dubinsky Z, Iluz D (2017) The spectral and spatial distribution of light pollution in the waters of the northern Gulf of Aqaba (Eilat). Sci Rep 7:42329.
- Tanner JE (1997) Interspecific competition reduces fitness in scleractinian corals. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 214:19–34.
- Tanner JE (2017) Multi-decadal analysis reveals contrasting patterns of resilience and decline in

coral assemblages. Coral Reefs 36:1225–1233.

- Tanner JE (1996) Seasonality and lunar periodicity in the reproduction of Pocilloporid corals. Coral Reefs 15:59–66.
- Toh TC, Guest J, Chou LM (2012) Coral larval rearing in Singapore: Observations on spawning timing, larval development and settlement of two common scleractinian coral species. Mar Sci:81–87.
- Toh TC, Ng CSL, Peh JWK, Toh K Ben, Chou LM (2014) Augmenting the post-transplantation growth and survivorship of juvenile scleractinian corals via nutritional enhancement. PLoS One 9.
- Torres-Pérez JL, Armstrong RA (2012) Effects of UV radiation on the growth, photosynthetic and photoprotective components, and reproduction of the Caribbean shallow-water coral *Porites furcata*. Coral Reefs 31:1077–1091.
- Trapon ML, Pratchett MS, Hoey a. S, Baird a. H (2013) Influence of fish grazing and sedimentation on the early post-settlement survival of the tabular coral *Acropora cytherea*. Coral Reefs 32:1051–1059.
- Vega Thurber RL, Burkepile DE, Fuchs C, Shantz AA, McMinds R, Zaneveld JR (2014) Chronic nutrient enrichment increases prevalence and severity of coral disease and bleaching. Glob Chang Biol 20:544–554.
- Vermeij MJ a, Frade PR, Jacinto RIR, Debrot a. O, Bak RPM (2007) Effects of reproductive mode on habitat-related differences in the population structure of eight Caribbean coral species. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 351:91–102.
- Vermeij MJ a, Sandin SA (2008) Density-dependent settlement and mortality structure the earliest life phases of a coral population. Ecology 89:1994–2004.
- Vermeij MJA, Sampayo E, Bröker K, Bak RPM (2003) Variation in planulae release of closely related coral species. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 247:75–84.
- Waterhouse J, Schaffelke B, Bartley R, Eberhard R, Brodie J, Star M, Thorburn PJ, Rolfe J, Ronan M, Taylor B, Kroon F (2017) 2017 Scientific consensus statement: Land use impacts on Great Barrier Reef water quality and ecosystem condition.
- Wild C, Hoegh-Guldberg O, Naumann MS, Colombo-Pallotta MF, Ateweberhan M, Fitt WK, Iglesias-Prieto R, Palmer C, Bythell JC, Ortiz J-C, Loya Y, van Woesik R (2011) Climate change impedes scleractinian corals as primary reef ecosystem engineers. Mar Freshw Res 62:205– 215.
- Wilkinson C (2008) Status of coral reefs of the world: 2008. Wilkinson C (ed) Global Coral Reef Monitoring Network and Reef and Rainforest Research Centre.
- Wilson J, Harrison P (2005) Post-settlement mortality and growth of newly settled reef corals in a subtropical environment. Coral Reefs 24:418–421.
- Van Woesik R, Lacharmoise F, Köksal S (2006) Annual cycles of solar insolation predict spawning times of Caribbean corals. Ecol Lett 9:390–398.
- van Woesik R, Scott WJ, Aronson RB (2014) Lost opportunities: Coral recruitment does not translate to reef recovery in the Florida Keys. Mar Pollut Bull 88:110–117.
- Yap HT (2004) Differential survival of coral transplants on various substrates under elevated water temperatures. Mar Pollut Bull 49:306–312.

- Zakai D, Dubinsky Z, Avishai A, Caaras T, Chadwick NE (2006) Lunar periodicity of planula release in the reef-building coral *Stylophora pistillata*. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 311:93–102.
- Zhao M, Zhang H, Zhong Y, Jiang D, Liu G, Yan H, Zhang H, Guo P, Li C, Yang H, Chen T, Wang R (2019) The status of coral reefs and its importance for coastal protection: A case study of northeastern Hainan Island, South China Sea. Sustainability 11:4354.

